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Preface 

Purpose of publication  
 

This publication has been prepared by the Technical Services Department of Institute of Chartered Accountants of 
Pakistan (ICAP) at the direction of the Accounting Standards Board (ASB). 
 

It contains illustrative financial statements of a fictitious medium-sized company, MSE Pakistan Limited, prepared in 
accordance with the: 

 International Financial Reporting Standards for Small and Medium-sized Entities (IFRS for SMEs); and  

 the provisions of and directives issued under the Companies Act, 2017.  

The objectives of this publication are to facilitate ICAP members, assist the preparers of financial statements and 
provide guidance to all other stakeholders with regard to the preparation and presentation of statutory financial 
statements in accordance with the accounting and reporting standards as applicable in Pakistan to the medium-sized 
companies.   

 
Scope  
 

In the illustrative financial statements, the MSE Pakistan Limited is a non-listed public company incorporated in 
Pakistan under the repealed Companies Ordinance, 1984. This hypothetical company is engaged in manufacturing and 
trading activities and has been preparing statutory financial statements in accordance with the financial reporting 
framework applicable to medium-sized companies in Pakistan for last many years.  
 
This publication aims to formulate a comprehensive source and provide maximum benefit and guidance to all the 
stakeholders, accordingly following important factors considered and included in this publication require readers’ / 
users’ attention: 
 
 These illustrative financial statements are designed to capture a wide set of circumstances and transactions, and 

in enhancing the relevance of the illustrative financial statements, all minimum disclosure requirements of IFRS 
for SMEs are complied with, generally without considering materiality thresholds. 

 
 Most of the usual disclosures typically found in the financial statements of medium-sized companies whose 

activities include manufacturing and trading have been captured in these illustrative publication. 
 
 Following notes/ information has also been included: 
 

- Presentation of discount on issue of shares 
- Disclosure of change in accounting policy 
- Disclosure of correction of error  
- Disclosure of change in estimate  
- Disclosure of reclassification of corresponding figures 
- Disclosure and presentation of government grants 
- Disclosure of interest -free loan 
- Alternate disclosures for various items 
- Detailed disclosures for biological assets  
- Detailed disclosures for mineral resources (Oil and gas assets) 

 
 Further, the original texts of the presentation and disclosure requirements (as contained in the IFRS for SMEs and 

fifth schedule of the Companies Act, 2017) have been produced before the component / items of financial 
statements and the respective disclosures. 

 
As the presentation and disclosures contained in this publication cover wide range of items and transactions, 
therefore it is important to highlight that the illustrative presentation and disclosures should be considered in 
context of the company specific materiality, events, transactions and circumstances and user needs. Accordingly, 
all the illustrative presentation and disclosures may not be relevant and required.  Further, there could be a 
requirement to include a disclosure in the financial statements in consideration of specific information as the 
disclosures in these illustrative financial statements are not meant to be exhaustive. 
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Preface (continued) 
 Accounting and reporting standards as applicable in Pakistan  
 

The Companies Act, 2017 has been enacted on May 30, 2017.  The third schedule to the Companies Act, 2017 outlines 
the classification of companies and also prescribes the financial reporting frameworks for such classes of companies. 
The requirements of Companies Act, 2017 related to the preparation of annual statutory financial statements are 
applicable for the periods ended after December 31, 2017.  
 
A medium-sized company categorized in the third schedule to the Companies Act, 2017 is required to comply with the 
requirements of the IFRS for SMEs and the fifth schedule of the Companies Act, 2017.   
 

 

Under the third schedule to the Companies Act, 2017, a medium-sized company could be a: 
 

a) Non-listed Public company with:   
(i) paid-up capital less than Rs. 200 million;  
(ii) turnover less than Rs.1 billion; and  
(iii) employees less than 750. 

 

b) Private company with: 
(i) paid-up capital of greater than Rs. 10 million but less than Rs. 200 million;  
(ii) turnover greater than Rs. 100 million but less than Rs. 1 billion; or  
(iii) Employees more than 250 but less than 750. 

 

c) A Foreign company which has turnover less than Rs. 1 billion. 
 

d) Non-listed company licensed / formed under section 42 or section 45 of the Companies Act, 2017 which has annual 
gross revenue (grants/income/subsidies/donations) including other income or revenue less than Rs. 200 million. 
 

Additionally, a medium-sized company licensed / formed under section 42 or 45 of the Companies Act, 2017 is also 
required to comply with the Accounting Standard for Not for Profit Organizations issued by the Institute of Chartered 
Accountants of Pakistan (ICAP). Further, where a medium-sized company is involved in transactions covered with in 
the scope of Islamic Financial Accounting Standards (IFAS) issued by ICAP, it is also required to comply with the 
requirements of IFAS. The specific requirements of Accounting Standard for Not for Profit Organizations and IFAS have 
not been included in the scope of this publication. 

   
IFRS for SMEs 
 

The International Accounting Standards Board (IASB) developed IFRS for SMEs with the objective to meet the 
information needs of users of financial statements of the entities that do not have public accountability and publish 
general purpose financial statements for external users. The IFRS for SMEs on which the illustrative financial 
statements have been prepared was issued by IASB in May 2015 and became effective for periods beginning on or after 
1 January 2017.  The same would be applicable under the Companies Act, 2017. 

 
Comparison between IFRS for SMEs and full IFRS 
 

This publication also includes a separate section for comparison between IFRS for SMEs and full IFRS. The comparison 
highlights the key differences between IFRS for SMEs and full IFRS in order to facilitate members in understanding and 
application of these requirement. 

 
Layout of illustrative financial statements 
 

Source references for presentation and disclosure requirements have been included in the right hand margin of the 
financial statements. The source reference of IFRS for SMEs provides reference to the section and paragraph e.g. 3.2 
refers to section 3 of IFRS for SMEs and paragraph 2 refers to paragraph 2 of section 3. Similarly, the reference to 
the Companies Act, 2017 has been provided as CA 2017 225 (1), where CA 2017 means the Companies Act, 2017, 225 
is the reference to the section and (1) refers to the subsection. 
 
The complex financial instruments, business combinations and share based payments are not very common in the 
medium-sized companies in Pakistan. Further, Pakistan is not considered to be a hyperinflationary economy.  
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Preface (continued) 
 
Therefore, disclosures required by the section 12 ‘Other Financial Instruments Issues’, section 19 ‘Business 
Combinations’, section 26 ‘Share-based Payment’ and section 31 ‘Hyperinflation’ are not included.   

 
The illustrative statement of financial position presents non-current assets followed by current assets, and presents 
equity followed by non-current liabilities (i.e. most liquid items are presented last). The sequencing may also be 
reversed (i.e. most liquid items may be shown first), and that is also permitted by the IFRS for SMEs. 
 
Important notes 
 

This publication is intended as an illustrative guide rather than a definitive statement. Reference should be made to 
the relevant section of IFRS for SMEs and Companies Act, 2017 for specific disclosure requirements.  
 
It is neither a substitute for reference to the IFRS for SMEs, related interpretations and provisions of the Companies 
Act, 2017, nor does it constitute accounting or other professional advice. Accordingly, this publication should not be 
relied upon as a substitute for seeking professional advice concerning the appropriate accounting treatment for specific 
individual situations or ensuring compliance with the IFRS for SMEs and/or Companies Act, 2017.  
 

While care has been to taken to ensure the accuracy of information, this publication may contain errors or omissions 
that may be relevant to any particular reader.  ICAP, its staff and ASB accepts no responsibility for losses incurred by 
any party acting or not acting as a result of this material. 
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Key differences between IFRS for SMEs & full IFRS 

 
 

The section highlights the key differences between IFRS for SMEs and full IFRS. The IFRS for SMEs is intended for use 
by small and medium sized entities (SMEs). SMEs are defined as entities that do not have public accountability and 
publish general purpose financial statements for external users. The IFRS for SMEs is based on full IFRS with 
modifications to reflect the needs of users of SMEs financial statements and cost-benefit considerations. The IFRS for 
SMEs has been developed in recognition of the difficulty and cost to smaller companies of preparing financial 
statements in compliance with full IFRS.  
 
The accounting requirements applicable to Medium-sized companies are set out in the IFRS for SMEs Standard, issued 
by the International Accounting Standards Board (Board) in October 2015 and the Companies Act 2017. 
 
The IFRS for SMEs Standard is a small Standard (approximately 250 pages) that is tailored for small companies. While 
based on the principles in full IFRS Standards, the IFRS for SMEs Standard is stand-alone. It is organised by topic. 
The IFRS for SMEs Standard reflects five types of simplifications from full IFRS Standards: 

 Some topics in full IFRS Standards are omitted because they are not relevant to typical SMEs; 

 Some accounting policy options in full IFRS Standards are not allowed because a more simplified method is 
available to SMEs; 

 Many of the recognition and measurement principles that are in full IFRS Standards have been simplified; 

 Substantially fewer disclosures are required; and 

 The text of full IFRS Standards has been redrafted in ‘plain English’ for easier understandability and translation. 
 
The key differences between IFRS for SMEs and full IFRS are summarized below: 
  
Financial statement presentation 
 

IFRS for SMEs IFRS 

 

Single statement of income and retained earnings. 

IFRS for SMEs require an entity to present the 

statement of comprehensive income by either a single 

statement or two statement approach. Additionally, 

IFRS for SMEs also permit an entity to present a 

combined statement of income and retained earnings 

instead of the statement of comprehensive income and 

statement of changes in equity when changes in equity 

during the period arise only from profit or loss, 

payment of dividends, correction of prior period errors 

and changes in accounting policy.  

(IFRS for SMEs – 3.18) 

 
 
 
The IFRSs also require an entity to present the statement of 
comprehensive income by either a single statement or two 
statement approach. However, IFRSs do not permit an entity 
to present a combined statement of income and retained 
earnings instead of the statement of comprehensive income 
and statement of changes in equity. 

 
Segment information 
 
The IFRS for SMEs does not require segment information 
to be presented in financial statements. 
 

 
 
 
The IFRSs require segment information to be presented in 
financial statements. 

 
Earnings per share 
 
The IFRS for SMEs does not require earnings per share 
to be disclosed in the financial statements. 

 
 
 
The IFRSs require the entities covered in the scope of IAS 33 
‘Earning per share’ to present earnings per share in 
accordance with the requirements of IAS 33. 
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Consolidated and separate financial statements 
 

IFRS for SMEs IFRS 

 
Combined financial statements 
 
The IFRS for SMEs defines combined financial 
statements as a single set of financial statements of two 
or more entities controlled by a single investor. 
Although, the IFRS for SMEs does not require combined 
financial statements to be prepared, it does provide 
basic principles when an entity voluntarily prepares 
combined financial statements in compliance with the 
IFRS for SMEs. 
(IFRS for SMEs – 9.28) 
 

 
 
 
Full IFRSs do not include definition or principles for 
preparation of combined financial statements.  

 
Change in accounting policy and retrospective restatements 
 

 
Third balance sheet 
 
IFRS for SMEs does not require presentation of three 
statements of financial position when financial 
statements are restated retrospectively. 

 
 
 
When financial statements are restated retrospectively, 
IFRSs require presentation of three statements of financial 
position. 
 

 
 

Financial instruments  
 

Scope  
 
IFRS for SMEs distinguishes between basic and complex 
financial instruments. Section 11 establishes 
measurement and reporting requirements for basic 
financial instruments; Section 12 deals with complex 
financial instruments.  
 
If an entity enters into only basic financial instruments 
transactions then section 12 is not applicable.  
(IFRS for SMEs – 11.1) 
 
 

 
 
The IFRSs do not provide distinction between basic and 
complex financial instruments. Accordingly, there are no 
separate requirements for recognition and measurement 
based on complexity of the financial instruments. 

 
Accounting policy choice 
 
An entity has a choice of applying either: 
 

 the requirements of both Sections 11 and 12 of IFRS 
for SMEs in full; or  

 recognition and measurement requirements of full 
IFRS (IAS 39) and disclosure requirements of IFRS for 
SMEs under Sections 11 and 12.  

(IFRS for SMEs – 11.2) 
 
 
 
 
 

 
 
 
The IFRSs do not provide an accounting policy choice for 
recognition and measurement of financial instruments. 
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IFRS for SMEs IFRS 

 
 
 
Hedge Accounting  
 
IFRS for SMEs permits specific types of hedging that 
SMEs are likely to use and only allows hedge accounting 
for limited number of risks and hedging instruments. 
Consequently, hedge accounting is not permitted under 
IFRS for SMEs when hedge is done by using debt 
instruments such as a foreign currency loan, or an 
option- based hedging strategy.  
(IFRS for SMEs – 12.17) 

 
 
 
Full IFRSs do not restrict hedge accounting for limited 
number of risks and hedging instruments. 
 

 
Disclosures  
 
IFRS for SMEs does not require disclosures to enable 
evaluation of nature and extent of risks arising from 
financial instruments to which entity is exposed at the 
end of the reporting period. 

 
 
 
IFRSs require disclosures to enable evaluation of nature 
and extent of risks arising from financial instruments to 
which entity is exposed at the end of the reporting period. 

 
Investment in associates and jointly controlled entities 
 

 
Accounting policy choice for associates and jointly 
controlled entities 
 
IFRS for SMEs does not permit the cumulative amount 
of exchange differences relating to a foreign operation, 
that were previously recognised in other comprehensive 
income, from being reclassified from equity to profit or 
loss (as a reclassification adjustment) when the gain or 
loss on disposal of foreign operation is recognised. 
(IFRS for SMEs – 14.4 & 15.9) 

 
 
 
 
The IFRSs require investments in associates and jointly 
controlled entities to be accounted for using the equity 
method in an investor’s primary financial statements. 
 

 
 
Investment property 
 

 
Measurement after initial recognition 
 
Investment property whose fair value can be measure 
reliably without undue cost or effort shall be measured 
at fair value at each reporting date.  All other 
investment property (whose fair value cannot be 
measured reliably without undue cost and effort) shall 
be measured using cost model. 
(IFRS for SMEs - 16.7) 

 
 
 
IFRS allow an accounting policy choice of either fair value 
through profit or loss or a cost-depreciation-impairment 
model (with some limited exceptions). An entity following 
the cost-depreciation-impairment model is required to 
provide supplemental disclosure of the fair value of its 
investment property. 

 
Disclosures 
 
Reconciliation of the carrying amount at the beginning 
and end of the reporting period is not required for the 
prior period. 
(IFRS for SMEs – 16.10(e)) 
 

 
 
 
IFRS require comparative information in respect of previous 
period for reconciliation of the carrying amount at the 
beginning and end of the reporting period. 
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Property, plant and equipment 
 

IFRS for SMEs IFRS 

 
Disclosures 
 
Reconciliation of the carrying amount at the beginning 
and end of the reporting period is not required for the 
prior period. 
(IFRS for SMEs – 17.31(e)) 

 

 
 
 
IFRSs require comparative information in respect of 
previous period for reconciliation of the carrying amount at 
the beginning and end of the reporting period. 

 
Non-current assets held for sale 
 

 
Presentation and measurement 
 
The IFRS for SMEs does not require a non-current asset 
held for sale to be recognized at the lower of carrying 
amount or fair value less cost to sell and presented 
separately as in the statement of financial position. 

 
 
 
The IFRSs require a non-current asset held for sale 
(including the non-current assets of a discontinued 
operation) to be carried at the lower of its carrying amount 
and fair value less estimated costs to sell the asset. A non-
current asset classified as held for sale and the assets of a 
disposal group classified as held for sale are required to be 
presented separately from other assets in the statement of 
financial position. 
 

 
Intangible assets 
 

 
Useful life and amortization 
 
The intangible assets must have a determinable useful 
life, whereas assets with indeterminable useful life are 
considered to have ten years of useful life. 
(IFRS for SMEs – 18.19 & 18.20) 
 

 
 
 
IFRSs require intangible assets with indefinite life to be 
carried at cost less impairment loss, if any and such assets 
are not depreciated. 
 
 

 
Disclosures 
 
Reconciliation of the carrying amount at the 
beginning and end of the reporting period is not 
required for the prior period. 
(IFRS for SMEs – 18.27(e)) 
 

 
 
 
IFRSs require comparative information in respect of 
previous period for reconciliation of the carrying amount at 
the beginning and end of the reporting period. 
 

 
Development expenditure 
 
The development and research expenditures are 
always recorded as an expense. 
(IFRS for SMEs – 18.14) 
 

 
 
 
IFRSs require development costs which meet the specified 
condition to be capitalized as an asset. 
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Business combination 
 

IFRS for SMEs IFRS 

 
Cost of a business combination 
 
The cost of a business combination includes the fair 
value of assets given, liabilities incurred or assumed 
and equity instruments issued by the acquirer, in 
exchange for the control of the acquiree, plus any 
directly attributable costs. 
(IFRS for SMEs – 19.11) 

 
 
 
The IFRSs excludes directly attributable costs from the cost 
of a business combination and such costs are required to be 
recognized in profit or loss when incurred. 

 
Goodwill 
 
After initial recognition, the goodwill is measured at 
cost less accumulated amortisation and any 
accumulated impairment losses. Goodwill is amortised 
over its useful life, which is presumed to be 10 years if 
the entity is unable to make a reliable estimate of the 
useful life. 
(IFRS for SMEs – 19.23) 

 
 
 
Under the IFRSs, the goodwill acquired in a business 
combination is not amortised. It is required to be subject to 
impairment testing at least annually and, additionally, 
when there is an indication of impairment  

 
Provision and contingencies 
 

 
Disclosures of provisions 
 
IFRS for SMEs does not require an entity to disclose 
comparative information in the required disclosures for 
provisions. 
(IFRS for SMEs – 21.14) 

 
 
 
IFRS require comparative information for the previous 
period in the required disclosures for provisions. 

 
 
Government grants 
 

 
Recognition 
 
IFRS for SMEs does not require or permit an entity to 
match the grant with the expenses for which it is 
intended to compensate or the cost of the asset that it 
is used to finance. 
(IFRS for SMEs – 24.4) 
 

 
 
 
The IFRSs require government grants to be recognised as 
income over the periods necessary to match them with the 
related costs for which they are intended to compensate, 
on a systematic basis. 
 

 
Measurement 
 
All government grants, including non-monetary 
government grants, must be measured at the fair value 
of the asset received or receivable. 
(IFRS for SMEs – 24.5) 
 

 
 
 
The IFRSs permit an entity that receives a non-monetary 
grant to either measure both the asset and the grant at a 
nominal amount (often zero) or at the fair value of the 
non-monetary asset. 
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Borrowing costs 
 

IFRS for SMEs IFRS 

 
Recognition  
 
All borrowing costs shall be recognised as an expense in 
profit or loss.  
(IFRS for SMEs - 25.2) 
 

 
 
 
IFRSs require borrowing costs directly attributable to the 
acquisition, construction or production of a qualifying asset 
to be capitalized as a part of the cost of the asset. 

 
Employee benefits  
 

 
Actuarial gains and losses 
 
Actuarial gains and losses on liabilities are recognised 
in full in profit or loss or in other comprehensive income 
(without recycling) in the period in which they occur. 
 (IFRS for SMEs – 28.24) 
 

 
 
 
The IFRSs require recognition of actuarial gains and losses 
for the reporting period in the other comprehensive income. 
 

 
Foreign Currency Translation 
 

 
Exchange differences relating to a foreign operation 
 
IFRS for SMEs does not permit the cumulative amount 
of exchange differences relating to a foreign operation, 
that were previously recognised in other comprehensive 
income, from being reclassified from equity to profit or 
loss (as a reclassification adjustment) when the gain or 
loss on disposal of foreign operation is recognised. 
(IFRS for SMEs – 30.13) 
 

 
 
 
The IFRSs require the cumulative amount of exchange 
differences relating to a foreign operation, that were 
previously recognised in other comprehensive income, from 
being reclassified from equity to profit or loss (as a 
reclassification adjustment) when the gain or loss on 
disposal is recognised. 
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 General 
 
This section explains fair presentation of the financial statements, what compliance with the IFRS for SMEs and 
requirements of Companies Act, 2017 requires and what a complete set of financial statements is. 
 
Fair presentation 

 
3.2 Financial statements shall present fairly the financial position, financial performance and cash flows of an 

entity. Fair presentation requires the faithful representation of the effects of transactions, other events and 
conditions in accordance with the definitions and recognition criteria for assets, liabilities, income and 
expenses set out in Section 2 ‘Concepts and Pervasive Principles’: 

(a)  the application of the IFRS for SMEs, with additional disclosure when necessary, is presumed to result 
in financial statements that achieve a fair presentation of the financial position, financial performance 
and cash flows of SMEs. 

(b)  as explained in paragraph 1.5, the application of this Standard by an entity with public accountability 
does not result in a fair presentation in accordance with this Standard. 

The additional disclosures referred to in (a) are necessary when compliance with the specific requirements 
in this Standard is insufficient to enable users to understand the effect of particular transactions, other 
events and conditions on the entity’s financial position and financial performance. 

CA 2017 225(1)  

The financial statements shall give a true and fair view of the state of affairs of the company, comply with 
the financial reporting standards notified by the Commission and shall be prepared in accordance with the 
requirements contained in the Third Schedule for different class or classes of companies 

 Going concern 
 

3.8 When preparing financial statements, the management of an entity using this Standard shall make an   
assessment of the entity’s ability to continue as a going concern. An entity is a going concern unless 
management either intends to liquidate the entity or to cease operations, or has no realistic alternative but 
to do so. In assessing whether the going concern assumption is appropriate, management takes into account 
all available information about the future, which is at least, but is not limited to, twelve months from the 
reporting date. 

 
3.9 When management is aware, in making its assessment, of material uncertainties related to events or 

conditions that cast significant doubt upon the entity’s ability to continue as a going concern, the entity shall 
disclose those uncertainties. When an entity does not prepare financial statements on a going concern basis, 
it shall disclose that fact, together with the basis on which it prepared the financial statements and the 
reason why the entity is not regarded as a going concern. 

Frequency of reporting 
 
3.10 An entity shall present a complete set of financial statements (including comparative information–see 

paragraph 3.14) at least annually. When the end of an entity’s reporting period changes and the annual 
financial statements are presented for a period longer or shorter than one year, the entity shall disclose the 
following: 

(a) that fact; 

(b) the reason for using a longer or shorter period; and 

(c) the fact that comparative amounts presented in the financial statements (including the related notes) are 
not entirely comparable. 
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   General (continued) 

 
CA 2017 223(1) The board of every company must lay before the company in annual general meeting its financial 

statements for the period, in the case of first such statements since the incorporation of the company 
and in any other case since the preceding financial statements, made up to the date of close of 
financial year adopted by the company. 
 

CA 2017 223(3) Subject to the provision of sub-section (2), the first financial statement must be laid at some date 
not later than sixteen months after the date of incorporation of the company and subsequently once 
at least in every calendar year. 
 

CA 2017 223(4) The period to which the statements aforesaid relate, not being the first, shall not exceed one year 
except where special permission of the registrar has been obtained. 

 
Consistency of presentation 

 
3.11 An entity shall retain the presentation and classification of items in the financial statements from one period 

to the next unless: 

(a) it is apparent, following a significant change in the nature of the entity’s operations or a review of 
its financial statements, that another presentation or classification would be more appropriate 
having regard to the criteria for the selection and application of accounting policies in Section 10 
‘Accounting Policies, Estimates and Errors’; or 

(b) this Standard requires a change in presentation. 
 
3.12 When the presentation or classification of items in the financial statements is changed, an entity shall 

reclassify comparative amounts unless the reclassification is impracticable. When comparative amounts are 
reclassified, an entity shall disclose the following: 

(a) the nature of the reclassification; 
(b) the amount of each item or class of items that is reclassified; and 
(c) the reason for the reclassification. 

 
3.13 If it is impracticable to reclassify comparative amounts, an entity shall disclose why reclassification was not 

practicable. 

 

Comparative Information 
 

3.14 Except when this Standard permits or requires otherwise, an entity shall disclose comparative information in 
respect of the previous comparable period for all amounts presented in the current period’s financial 
statements. An entity shall include comparative information for narrative and descriptive information when 
it is relevant to an understanding of the current period’s financial statements. 

 

Materiality and aggregation 
 

3.14 An entity shall present separately each material class of similar items. An entity shall present separately 
items of a dissimilar nature or function unless they are immaterial. 

 
3.16 Omissions or misstatements of items are material if they could, individually or collectively, influence the 

economic decisions of users made on the basis of the financial statements. Materiality depends on the size 
and nature of the omission or misstatement judged in the surrounding circumstances. The size or nature of 
the item, or a combination of both, could be the determining factor. 

 

Undue cost or effort 
 

2.14      An undue cost or effort exemption is specified for some requirements in this Standard. This exemption shall 
not be used for other requirements in this Standard. 
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General (continued) 

 
Complete set of financial statements 

 
3.17 A complete set of financial statements of an entity shall include all of the following: 

(a) a statement of financial position as at the reporting date; 

(b) either: 

(i) a single statement of comprehensive income for the reporting period displaying all items of income 

and expense recognised during the period including those items recognised in determining profit or 

loss (which is a subtotal in the statement of comprehensive income) and items of other comprehensive 

income. 

(ii) a separate income statement and a separate statement of comprehensive income. If an entity chooses 

to present both an income statement and a statement of comprehensive income, the statement of 

comprehensive income begins with profit or loss and then displays the items of other comprehensive 

income. 

(c) a statement of changes in equity for the reporting period; 

(d) a statement of cash flows for the reporting period; and 

(e) notes, comprising a summary of significant accounting policies and other explanatory information. 

  

 CA 2017 2(33)   The financial statements in relation to a company, includes—  

(a) a statement of financial position as at the end of the period;   

(b) a statement of profit or loss and other comprehensive income or in the case of a company 

carrying on any activity not for profit, an income and expenditure statement for the period;  

(c) a statement of changes in equity for the period;   

(d) a statement of cash flows for the period;   

(e) notes, comprising a summary of significant accounting policies and other explanatory 

information;  

(f) comparative information in respect of the preceding period; and  

(g) any other statement as may be prescribed;   

 

Identification of the financial statements 
 

3.23 An entity shall clearly identify each of the financial statements and the notes and distinguish them from 
other information in the same document. In addition, an entity shall display the following information 
prominently and repeat it when necessary for an understanding of the information presented: 

(a)  the name of the reporting entity and any change in its name since the end of the preceding reporting 

period; 

(b)  whether the financial statements cover the individual entity or a group of entities; 

(c)  the date of the end of the reporting period and the period covered by the financial statements; 

(d)  the presentation currency, as defined in Section 30 'Foreign Currency Translation'; and 

(e)  the level of rounding, if any, used in presenting amounts in the financial statements. 

 

3.24 An entity shall disclose the following in the notes: 

(a)  the domicile and legal form of the entity, its country of incorporation and the address of its registered 

office (or principal place of business, if different from the registered office); and 

(b)  a description of the nature of the entity’s operations and its principal activities. 
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Statement of Financial Position 

 
This section sets out the information that is to be presented in a statement of financial position and how to present it. 
The statement of financial position (sometimes called the balance sheet) presents an entity’s assets, liabilities and 
equity as of a specific date—the end of the reporting period. 

 
Information to be presented in the statement of financial position 

 
4.2 As a minimum, the statement of financial position shall include line items that present the following amounts: 

(a) cash and cash equivalents; 

(b) trade and other receivables; 

(c) financial assets (excluding amounts shown under (a), (b), (j) and (k)); 

(d) inventories; 

(e) property, plant and equipment; 

(ea) investment property carried at cost less accumulated depreciation and impairment; 

(f) investment property carried at fair value through profit or loss; 

(g) intangible assets; 

(h) biological assets carried at cost less accumulated depreciation and impairment; 

(i) biological assets carried at fair value through profit or loss; 

(j) investments in associates; 

(k) investments in jointly controlled entities; 

(l) trade and other payables; 

(m) financial liabilities (excluding amounts shown under (l) and (p)); 

(n) liabilities and assets for current tax; 

(o) deferred tax liabilities and deferred tax assets (these shall always be classified as non-current); 

(p) provisions; 

(q) non-controlling interest, presented within equity separately from the equity attributable to the owners 

of the parent; and 

(r) equity attributable to the owners of the parent. 

 
4.3 An entity shall present additional line items, headings and subtotals in the statement of financial position 

when such presentation is relevant to an understanding of the entity’s financial position. 

 
Current/non-current distinction 

 
4.4 An entity shall present current and non-current assets, and current and non-current liabilities, as separate 

classifications in its statement of financial position in accordance with paragraphs 4.5–4.8, except when a 
presentation based on liquidity provides information that is reliable and more relevant. When that exception 
applies, all assets and liabilities shall be presented in order of approximate liquidity (ascending or 
descending). 

Current assets 
 

4.5    An entity shall classify an asset as current when: 

(a)  it expects to realise the asset, or intends to sell or consume it, in the entity’s normal operating cycle; 
(b)  it holds the asset primarily for the purpose of trading; 
(c)  it expects to realise the asset within twelve months after the reporting date; or 
(d)  the asset is cash or a cash equivalent, unless it is restricted from being exchanged or used to settle a 

liability for at least twelve months after the reporting date. 
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Statement of Financial Position (continued) 

 
4.6    An entity shall classify all other assets as non-current. When the entity’s normal operating cycle is not clearly 

identifiable, its duration is assumed to be twelve months. 

 
Current liabilities 

 
4.7    An entity shall classify a liability as current when: 

(a) it expects to settle the liability in the entity’s normal operating cycle; 
(b) it holds the liability primarily for the purpose of trading; 
(c) the liability is due to be settled within twelve months after the reporting date; or 
(d) the entity does not have an unconditional right to defer settlement of the liability for at least twelve 

months after reporting date. 
 
4.8    An entity shall classify all other liabilities as non-current. 

 
Sequencing of items and format of items in the statement of financial position 

 
4.9   This Standard does not prescribe the sequence or format in which items are to be presented. Paragraph 4.2 

simply provides a list of items that are sufficiently different in nature or function to warrant separate 
presentation in the statement of financial position. In addition: 

(a)  line items are included when the size, nature or function of an item or aggregation of similar items is 
such that separate presentation is relevant to an understanding of the entity’s financial position; and 

(b)  the descriptions used and the sequencing of items or aggregation of similar items may be amended 
according to the nature of the entity and its transactions, to provide information that is relevant to an 
understanding of the entity’s financial position. 

 
4.10  The judgement on whether additional items are presented separately is based on an assessment of all of the 

following: 

(a) the amounts, nature and liquidity of assets; 
(b) the function of assets within the entity; and 
(c) the amounts, nature and timing of liabilities. 

 
Information to be presented either in the statement of financial position or in the notes 

 
4.11  An entity shall disclose, either in the statement of financial position or in the notes, the following sub-

classifications of the line items presented: 

(a) property, plant and equipment in classifications appropriate to the entity; 
(b) trade and other receivables showing separately amounts due from related parties, amounts due from 

other parties and receivables arising from accrued income not yet billed; 
(c) inventories, showing separately amounts of inventories: 

(i) held for sale in the ordinary course of business; 
(ii) in the process of production for such sale; and 
(iii) in the form of materials or supplies to be consumed in the production process or in the rendering of 

services. 
(d) trade and other payables, showing separately amounts payable to trade suppliers, payable to related 

parties, deferred income and accruals; 
(e) provisions for employee benefits and other provisions; and 
(f) classes of equity, such as paid-in capital, share premium, retained earnings and items of income and 

expense that, as required by this Standard, are recognised in other comprehensive income and presented 
separately in equity. 
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Statement of Financial Position (continued) 

 

4.12  An entity with share capital shall disclose the following, either in the statement of financial position or in the 

notes: 

(a) for each class of share capital: 

(i) the number of shares authorised. 

(ii) the number of shares issued and fully paid, and issued but not fully paid.  

(iii) par value per share or that the shares have no par value. 

(iv) a reconciliation of the number of shares outstanding at the beginning and at the end of the period. 

This reconciliation need not be presented for prior periods. 

(v) the rights, preferences and restrictions attaching to that class including restrictions on the 

distribution of dividends and the repayment of capital. 

(vi) shares in the entity held by the entity or by its subsidiaries or associates. 

(vii) shares reserved for issue under options and contracts for the sale of shares, including the terms and 

amounts. 

(b) a description of each reserve within equity. 

 
Companies Act specified disclosures for the statement of financial position 

 
CA 2017  
5th Schd (6) Following items shall be disclosed as separate line items on the face of the statement of financial 

position;  
(i) revaluation surplus on property, plant & equipment;  
(ii) long term deposits and prepayment;  
(iii) unpaid dividend;  
(iv) unclaimed dividend; and   
(v) cash and bank balances. 

 
CA 2017  
5th Schd (17)  Capital and revenue reserves shall be clearly distinguished. Any reserve required to be maintained 

under the Act shall be separately disclosed. Any legal or other restrictions on the ability of the company 
to distribute or otherwise apply its reserves shall also be disclosed for all kind of reserves maintained 
by the company;  

 
CA 2017  
5th Schd (18A)  Discount on issue of shares shall be shown separately as a deduction from share capital in the statement 

of financial position and the statement of changes in equity (if applicable);  
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 Reference 
MSE Pakistan Limited       3.23(a) 

Statement of Financial Position       3.17(a), CA 2017 [2.33(a)] 

as at December 31, 20X8       3.23(c) 

     Restated   

   20X8  20X7  3.14 & 3.23(c) 

 Note  (Rupees)  (Rupees)  3.23(d) 

Assets        

Non-current assets       4.4, 4.5, 4.6 

Property, plant and equipment 4  xxx  xxx  4.2(e) 

Investment property - at cost 5  xxx  xxx  4.2(ea) 

Investment property - at fair value 6  xxx  xxx  4.2(f) 

Intangible assets 7  xxx  xxx  4.2(g) 

Investment in associates 8  xxx  xxx  4.2(j) 

Investment in jointly controlled entity 9  xxx  xxx  4.2(k) 

Other long term investments 10  xxx  xxx  4.2(c) 

Long-term loans and advances 11  xxx  xxx  4.2(c) 

Long-term deposits and prepayments 12  xxx  xxx  5th Schd V(6)(i) 

   xxx  xxx   
Current assets       4.4 & 4.5 

Inventories 13  xxx  xxx  4.2(d) 

Trade and other receivables  14  xxx  xxx  4.2(b) 

Prepayments and advances  15  xxx  xxx  Additional line item for clarity 

Other financial assets 16  xxx  xxx  4.2(c) 

Cash and bank balances 17  xxx  xxx  4.2(a), 5th Schd V(6)(v) 

   xxx  xxx   

   xxx  xxx   

        

Share capital and reserves       4.2(r) 

Share capital         4.2(r) & 4.11(f) 

Issued, subscribed and paid up capital  18  xxx  xxx  4.12(a)(iii) 

Discount on issue of shares   (xxx)  (xxx)  5th Schd V(18A) 

   xxx  xxx   

Capital reserve       4.2(r), 4.11(f), 5th Schd V(17) 

Revaluation surplus on property, plant and 
equipment     19 

 
xxx  xxx 

 

4.12(b), 5th Schd V(6)(i) 

        
Revenue reserve        

Un-appropriated profit   xxx  xxx   4.2(r),  4.12(b), 5th Schd V(17) 

   xxx  xxx   

        

Non-current liabilities       4.4, 4.7, 4.8 

Long-term financing 20  xxx  xxx  4.2(m) 

Deferred tax liability 21  xxx  xxx  4.2(o) 

Employee benefit obligations 22  xxx  xxx   4.11(e) 

Provisions 23  xxx  xxx  4.2(p) 

   xxx  xxx   
Current liabilities       4.4, 4.7, 4.8 

Trade and other payables 24  xxx  xxx  4.2(l) 

Short-term financing 25  xxx  xxx   4.2(m) 

Provisions   xxx  xxx  4.2(p) 

Unpaid dividend   xxx  xxx  5th Schd V(6)(iii) 

Unclaimed dividend   xxx  xxx  5th Schd V(6)(iv) 

Current tax liability 26  xxx  xxx  4.2(n) 

   xxx  xxx   

Contingencies and commitments 27       

   xxx  xxx   

 
The annexed notes, from 1 to 43, form an integral part of these financial statements. 

 

 
Chief Executive       Director 
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Statement of Profit or Loss  

Statement of Comprehensive Income 

 
This section requires an entity to present its total comprehensive income for a period—i.e., its financial performance 
for the period—in one or two financial statements. It sets out the information that is to be presented in those statements 
and how to present it. 

 
Presentation of total comprehensive income 

 
5.2 An entity shall present its total comprehensive income for a period either: 

(a) in a single statement of comprehensive income, in which case the statement of comprehensive income 
presents all items of income and expense recognised in the period; or 
(b) in two statements—an income statement and a statement of comprehensive income—in which case the income 
statement presents all items of income and expense recognised in the period except those that are recognised 
in total comprehensive income outside of profit or loss as permitted or required by this Standard. 

 

5.3    A change from the single-statement approach to the two-statement approach, or vice versa, is a change in 
accounting policy to which Section 10 Accounting Policies, Estimates and Errors applies. 

Single statement approach 
 

5.4 Under the single-statement approach, the statement of comprehensive income shall include all items of income 
and expense recognised in a period unless this Standard requires otherwise. This Standard provides different 
treatment for the following circumstances: 
(a)  the effects of corrections of errors and changes in accounting policies are presented as retrospective 

adjustments of prior periods instead of as part of profit or loss in the period in which they arise (see Section 
10); and 

(b)  four types of other comprehensive income are recognised as part of total comprehensive income, outside 
of profit or loss, when they arise: 

(i)  some gains and losses arising on translating the financial statements of a foreign operation (see Section 
30 Foreign Currency Translation); 

(ii)  some actuarial gains and losses (see Section 28 Employee Benefits); 
(iii)  some changes in fair values of hedging instruments (see Section 12 Other Financial Instrument Issues); 

and 
(iv)  changes in the revaluation surplus for property, plant and equipment measured in accordance with 

the revaluation model (see Section 17 Property, Plant and Equipment). 
 

5.5 As a minimum, an entity shall include, in the statement of comprehensive income, line items that present the 
following amounts for the period: 
(a)  revenue. 
(b)  finance costs. 
(c)  share of the profit or loss of investments in associates (see Section 14 Investments in Associates) and 

jointly controlled entities (see Section 15 Investments in Joint Ventures) accounted for using the equity 
method. 

(d)  tax expense excluding tax allocated to items (e), (g) and (h) (see paragraph 29.35). 
(e)  a single amount comprising the total of: 

(i)  the post-tax profit or loss of a discontinued operation; and 
(ii)  the post-tax gain or loss attributable to an impairment, or reversal of an impairment, of the assets 

in the discontinued operation (see Section 27 Impairment of Assets), both at the time and subsequent 
to being classified as a discontinued operation and to the disposal of the net assets constituting the 
discontinued operation. 

(f)  profit or loss (if an entity has no items of other comprehensive income, this line need not be presented). 
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Statement of Profit or Loss  

Statement of Comprehensive Income (continued) 

 
(g)  each item of other comprehensive income (see paragraph 5.4(b)) classified by nature (excluding amounts 

in (h)). Such items shall be grouped into those that, in accordance with this Standard: 
 (i)  will not be reclassified subsequently to profit or loss—i.e. those in paragraph 5.4(b)(i)–(ii) and (iv); 

and 
(ii)  will be reclassified subsequently to profit or loss when specific conditions are met—i.e. those in 

paragraph 5.4(b)(iii). 
(h)  share of the other comprehensive income of associates and jointly controlled entities accounted for by 

the equity method. 
(i)  total comprehensive income (if an entity has no items of other comprehensive income, it may use another 

term for this line such as profit or loss).  
 

5.6 An entity shall disclose separately the following items in the statement of comprehensive income as allocations 
for the period: 
(a)  profit or loss for the period attributable to 

(i) non-controlling interest; and 
(ii) owners of the parent. 

(b)  total comprehensive income for the period attributable to 
(i) non-controlling interest; and 
(ii) owners of the parent. 
 

Two statement approach 
 

5.7 Under the two-statement approach, the income statement shall display, as a minimum, line items that present 
the amounts in paragraph 5.5(a)–5.5(f) for the period, with profit or loss as the last line. The statement of 
comprehensive income shall begin with profit or loss as its first line and shall display, as a minimum, line items 
that present the amounts in paragraph 5.5(g)–5.5(i) and paragraph 5.6 for the period.  

 
Requirements applicable to both approaches 

 
5.8 Under this Standard, the effects of corrections of errors and changes in accounting policies are presented as 

retrospective adjustments of prior periods instead of as part of profit or loss in the period in which they arise 
(see Section 10). 

 
5.9 An entity shall present additional line items, headings and subtotals in the statement of comprehensive income 

(and in the income statement, if presented), when such presentation is relevant to an understanding of the 
entity’s financial performance. 

 
5.10 An entity shall not present or describe any items of income and expense as ‘extraordinary items’ in the statement 

of comprehensive income (or in the income statement, if presented) or in the notes. 
  

Analysis of expenses 
 

5.11 An entity shall present an analysis of expenses using a classification based on either the nature of expenses or 
the function of expenses within the entity, whichever provides information that is reliable and more relevant. 
 

Analysis by nature of expense  
(a) Under this method of classification, expenses are aggregated in the statement of comprehensive income 
according to their nature (for example, depreciation, purchases of materials, transport costs, employee benefits 
and advertising costs) and are not reallocated among various functions within the entity. 
 

Analysis by function of expense 
(b) Under this method of classification, expenses are aggregated according to their function as part of cost of 
sales or, for example, the costs of distribution or administrative activities. At a minimum, an entity discloses 
its cost of sales under this method separately from other expenses. 
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       Reference 

        

MSE Pakistan Limited       3.23(a) 

Statement of Profit or Loss 
 

 
   

 3.17(b)(ii), CA 
2017 [2.33(b)] 

For the year ended December 31, 20X8       3.23(c) 

  
 

  
 
Restated 

 

 

   20X8  20X7  3.23(c) 

 Note  Rupees  Rupees  3.23(d) & 3.23(e) 

        

        

Revenue  28  xxx  xxx  5.5(a) 

Cost of sales  29  (xxx)  (xxx)  5.11(b) 

Gross profit   xxx  xxx  5.9 

Other income 30  xxx  xxx  5.9 

Marketing and distribution expenses 31  (xxx)  (xxx)  5.9 

Administrative and general expenses 32  (xxx)  (xxx)  5.9 

Other operating expenses 33  (xxx)  (xxx)  5.9 

Finance costs 34  (xxx)  (xxx)  5.5(b) 

Profit before income tax   xxx  xxx   

Income tax expense 35  (xxx)  (xxx)  5.5(d) 

Profit for the year    xxx  xxx  5.5(f) 

        

 

 
The annexed notes, from 1 to 43, form an integral part of these financial statements. 

 
 
 
 
 
Chief Executive    Director 
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     Reference 
      

MSE Pakistan Limited     3.23(a) 

Statement of Comprehensive Income 

   

 3.17(b)(ii),  

CA 2017 [sec 2.33(b)] 

For the year ended December 31, 20X8     3.23(c) 

   Restated   

 20X8  20X7  3.23(c) 

 Rupees  Rupees  3.23(d) & 3.23(e) 

Profit for the year xxx  xxx 
 

5.7 

Other comprehensive income:    
 

5.7, 5.5(g)-(i) 

Items that will not be subsequently reclassified in profit or loss:     5.5(g) 

Surplus on revaluation of property, plant and equipment (net of tax) xxx  xxx  5.4(b)(iv) 

Actuarial loss or gains on employee benefit obligations (net of tax) xxx  xxx  5.4(b)(ii) 

 xxx  xxx   

      

Total comprehensive income for the year xxx  xxx  5.5(i) 

 

     

   
 

 

The annexed notes, from 1 to 43, form an integral part of these financial statements. 

 

 

 

 

 

 
Chief Executive   Director 
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Statement of Changes in Equity 
 
This section sets out requirements for presenting the changes in an entity’s equity for a period.  
 
Information to be presented in the statement of changes in equity 

 
IFRS for SMEs specified requirements 

6.3 The statement of changes in equity includes the following information: 

(a) total comprehensive income for the period, showing separately the total amounts attributable to owners 
of the parent and to non-controlling interests; 

(b) for each component of equity, the effects of retrospective application or retrospective restatement 
recognised in accordance with Section 10 Accounting Policies, Estimates and Errors; and 

(c) for each component of equity, a reconciliation between the carrying amount at the beginning and the 
end of the period, separately disclosing changes resulting from: 

(i) profit or loss; 

(ii) other comprehensive income; and 

(iii) the amounts of investments by, and dividends and other distributions to, owners in their capacity 
as owners, showing separately issues of shares, treasury share transactions, dividends and other 
distributions to owners and changes in ownership interests in subsidiaries that do not result in a 
loss of control. 

 
Companies Act 2017 specified requirements 

 
CA 2017  
5th Schd V(17)  Capital and revenue reserves shall be clearly distinguished. Any reserve required to be maintained 

under the Act shall be separately disclosed. Any legal or other restrictions on the ability of the 
company to distribute or otherwise apply its reserves shall also be disclosed for all kind of reserves 
maintained by the company;  

 
CA 2017  
5th Schd V(18A)  Discount on issue of shares shall be shown separately as a deduction from share capital in the 

statement of financial position and the statement of changes in equity (if applicable) 
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         Reference 

MSE Pakistan Limited         3.23(a) 

Statement of Changes in Equity     
 

  
 3.17(c), 

 CA 2017 [Sec 2.33(c)] 

For the year ended December 31, 20X8         3.23(c) 
      

 

 

  Share capital Capital reserve Revenue reserve Total 

equity 

 

 
 
 

 

  

  
Issued, subscribed and paid 

up capital  
Discount 

on 
issue of 
shares 

 

Revaluation 
surplus on 

property, plant 
and equipment 

 
 
 

Unappropriated profit 
 
 
 

 
6.3(b), 5th Schd V(18A) 

 Note 

Ordinary 
shares 

Preference 
shares 

 

 

   .................................................. (Rupees) ............................................... 
 

  
     

 
  

 
 

Balance at January 1, 20X7 – as previously reported  xxx xxx (xxx) 
- 

xxx xxx 
 

6.3 

Adjustment on correction of error (net of tax) 3.26 - - - 
- 

(xxx) (xxx) 
 

6.3(b) 

Impact of changes in accounting policies (net of tax) 3.25 - - -    xxx (xxx) (xxx) 
 

6.3(b) 

Balance at January 01, 20X7 – as restated  xxx xxx (xxx) xxx xxx xxx   
        

 
 

Profit for the year – Restated  - - - - xxx xxx     6.3(c)(i) 

Other comprehensive income   - - - xxx - xxx  6.3(c)(ii) 

Total comprehensive income for the year  - - - - xxx    

      

 

 

 

 

Transfer to unappropriated profit on account of 

incremental depreciation (net of tax) 19    (xxx) 

 
xxx - 

 

 

Balance at December 31, 20X7  xxx xxx xxx xxx xxx xxx 
 

6.3 

Balance at January 1, 20X8  xxx xxx xxx xxx xxx xxx 
 

6.3 

Profit for the year  - - - 
 

xxx xxx 
 

6.3(c)(i) 

Other comprehensive income   - - - xxx - xxx  6.3(c)(ii) 

Total comprehensive income for the year  - - - - xxx   
 

Transfer to unappropriated profit on account of 

incremental depreciation (net of tax) 19     (xxx) 
 

xxx  

 

 

Transactions with owners    -     
 

Issue of Ordinary shares 18 xxx - -   - - xxx  6.3(c)(iii) 

Dividends paid  - - - - (xxx) (xxx)  6.3(c)(iii) 

  xxx - -  (xxx) xxx   

Balance as at December 31, 20X8  xxx xxx xxx xxx xxx xxx  6.3 

          

The annexed notes, from 1 to 43, form an integral part of these financial statements. 

 
 
Chief Executive  Director 
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Statement of Cash Flows 
 

This section sets out the information that is to be presented in a statement of cash flows and how to present it. The 
statement of cash flows provides information about the changes in cash and cash equivalents of an entity for a reporting 
period, showing separately changes from operating activities, investing activities and financing activities.  
 
Cash equivalents 

 
7.2 Cash equivalents are short-term, highly liquid investments that are readily convertible to known amounts of 

cash and that are subject to an insignificant risk of changes in value. They are held to meet short-term cash 
commitments instead of for investment or other purposes. Consequently, an investment normally qualifies as a 
cash equivalent only when it has a short maturity of, say, three months or less from the date of acquisition. 
Bank overdrafts are normally considered financing activities similar to borrowings. However, if they are 
repayable on demand and form an integral part of an entity’s cash management, bank overdrafts are a 
component of cash and cash equivalents. 

 
Information to be presented in the statement of cash flows 

 
7.3 An entity shall present a statement of cash flows that presents cash flows for a reporting period classified by 

operating activities, investing activities and financing activities. 

Operating activities 
 

7.4 Operating activities are the principal revenue-producing activities of the entity. Consequently, cash flows from 
operating activities generally result from the transactions and other events and conditions that enter into the 
determination of profit or loss. Examples of cash flows from operating activities are: 

(a)  cash receipts from the sale of goods and the rendering of services; 
(b)  cash receipts from royalties, fees, commissions and other revenue; 
(c)  cash payments to suppliers for goods and services; 
(d)  cash payments to and on behalf of employees; 
(e)  cash payments or refunds of income tax, unless they can be specifically identified with financing and 

investing activities; and 
(f)  cash receipts and payments from investments, loans and other contracts held for dealing or trading 

purposes, which are similar to inventory acquired specifically for resale. 
 

Some transactions, such as the sale of an item of plant by a manufacturing entity, may give rise to a gain or loss 
that is included in profit or loss. However, the cash flows relating to such transactions are cash flows from 
investing activities. 

Investing activities 
 

7.5 Investing activities are the acquisition and disposal of long-term assets and other investments not included in 
cash equivalents. Examples of cash flows arising from investing activities are: 

(a)  cash payments to acquire property, plant and equipment (including self-constructed property, plant 
and equipment), intangible assets and other long-term assets; 

(b)  cash receipts from sales of property, plant and equipment, intangibles and other long-term assets; 
(c)  cash payments to acquire equity or debt instruments of other entities and interests in joint ventures 

(other than payments for those instruments classified as cash equivalents or held for dealing or 
trading); 

(d)  cash receipts from sales of equity or debt instruments of other entities and interests in joint ventures 
(other than receipts for those instruments classified as cash equivalents or held for dealing or trading); 

(e)  cash advances and loans made to other parties; 
(f)  cash receipts from the repayment of advances and loans made to other parties; 
(g)  cash payments for futures contracts, forward contracts, option contracts and swap contracts, except 

when the contracts are held for dealing or trading, or the payments are classified as financing 
activities; and 
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Statement of Cash Flows (continued) 

 
(h)  cash receipts from futures contracts, forward contracts, option contracts and swap contracts, except 

when the contracts are held for dealing or trading, or the receipts are classified as financing activities. 
When a contract is accounted for as a hedge (see Section 12 Other Financial Instrument Issues), an entity shall 
classify the cash flows of the contract in the same manner as the cash flows of the item being hedged. 

 
Financing activities 

 
7.6 Financing activities are activities that result in changes in the size and composition of the contributed equity 

and borrowings of an entity. Examples of cash flows arising from financing activities are: 

(a)  cash proceeds from issuing shares or other equity instruments; 
(b)  cash payments to owners to acquire or redeem the entity’s shares; 
(c)  cash proceeds from issuing debentures, loans, notes, bonds, mortgages and other short-term or long-term 

borrowings; 
(d)  cash repayments of amounts borrowed; and 
(e)  cash payments by a lessee for the reduction of the outstanding liability relating to a finance lease. 

 
Reporting cash flows from operating activities 

 
7.7 An entity shall present cash flows from operating activities using either: 

(a)  the indirect method, whereby profit or loss is adjusted for the effects of non-cash transactions, any 
deferrals or accruals of past or future operating cash receipts or payments and items of income or expense 
associated with investing or financing cash flows; or 

(b)  the direct method, whereby major classes of gross cash receipts and gross cash payments are disclosed. 
 

Indirect method 
 

7.8 Under the indirect method, the net cash flow from operating activities is determined by adjusting profit or loss 
for the effects of: 
(a)  changes during the period in inventories and operating receivables and payables; 
(b)  non-cash items such as depreciation, provisions, deferred tax, accrued income (expenses) not yet received 

(paid) in cash, unrealised foreign currency gains and losses, undistributed profits of associates and non-
controlling interests; and 

(c)  all other items for which the cash effects relate to investing or financing. 

 
Direct method 

 
7.9 Under the indirect method, the net cash flow from operating activities is determined by adjusting profit or loss 

for the effects of: 
(a)  changes during the period in inventories and operating receivables and payables; 
(b)  non-cash items such as depreciation, provisions, deferred tax, accrued income (expenses) not yet received 

(paid) in cash, unrealised foreign currency gains and losses, undistributed profits of associates and non-
controlling interests; and 

(c)  all other items for which the cash effects relate to investing or financing. 

 
Reporting cash flows from investing and financing activities 
 
7.10 An entity shall present separately major classes of gross cash receipts and gross cash payments arising from 

investing and financing activities. The aggregate cash flows arising from acquisitions and from disposals of 
subsidiaries or other business units shall be presented separately and classified as investing activities. 

 
Interest and dividends 

 
7.14 An entity shall present separately cash flows from interest and dividends received and paid. The entity shall 

classify cash flows consistently from period to period as operating, investing or financing activities. 
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Statement of Cash Flows (continued) 

 
7.15 An entity may classify interest paid and interest and dividends received as operating cash flows because they 

are included in profit or loss. Alternatively, the entity may classify interest paid and interest and dividends 
received as financing cash flows and investing cash flows respectively, because they are costs of obtaining 
financial resources or returns on investments. 

 
7.16 An entity may classify dividends paid as a financing cash flow because they are a cost of obtaining financial 

resources. Alternatively, the entity may classify dividends paid as a component of cash flows from operating 
activities because they are paid out of operating cash flows. 

 
Income tax 

 
7.17 An entity shall present separately cash flows arising from income tax and shall classify them as cash flows from 

operating activities unless they can be specifically identified with financing and investing activities. When tax 
cash flows are allocated over more than one class of activity, the entity shall disclose the total amount of taxes 
paid. 

 
Non-cash transactions 

 
7.18 An entity shall exclude from the statement of cash flows investing and financing transactions that do not require 

the use of cash or cash equivalents. An entity shall disclose such transactions elsewhere in the financial 
statements in a way that provides all the relevant information about those investing and financing activities. 

 
Components of cash and cash equivalents 

 
7.20 An entity shall present the components of cash and cash equivalents and shall present a reconciliation of the 

amounts presented in the statement of cash flows to the equivalent items presented in the statement of financial 
position. However, an entity is not required to present this reconciliation if the amount of cash and cash 
equivalents presented in the statement of cash flows is identical to the amount similarly described in the 
statement of financial position. 

Other disclosures 
 

7.21 An entity shall disclose, together with a commentary by management, the amount of significant cash and cash 
equivalent balances held by the entity that are not available for use by the entity. Cash and cash equivalents 
held by an entity may not be available for use by the entity because of, among other reasons, foreign exchange 
controls or legal restrictions. 
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      Reference 
MSE Pakistan Limited      3.23(a) 

Statement of cash flows     
 3.17(d),  

CA 2017 [sec 2.33(d)] 
for the year ended December 31, 20X8      3.23(c) 
    Restated   
  20X8  20X7  3.23(c) 
 Note Rupees  Rupees  3.23(d) & 3.23(e) 

Cash flows from operating activities       7.3 & 7.4 

Profit for the year  xxx  xxx 
 

7.8 

Adjustments for non-cash income and expenses:       

Depreciation of property, plant and equipment  xxx  xxx  7.8(b) 
Amortization of intangible assets  xxx  xxx  7.8(b) 
Depreciation of investment property – at cost  xxx  xxx  7.8(b) 
Change in fair value of investment property – at fair value  (xxx)  (xxx)  7.8(b) 
(Reversal) impairment losses on property, plant and equipment  (xxx)  xxx  7.8(b) 
Loss/(gain) on disposal of property, plant and equipment  (xxx)  (xxx)  7.8(b) 
Loss/(gain) on disposal of intangible assets  (xxx)  (xxx)  7.8(b) 
Fair value loss/(gain) on investments carried at fair value  (xxx)  (xxx)  7.8(b) 
Allowance for inventory obsolescence  xxx  xxx  7.8(b) 
Impairment of trade receivables, advances and deposits  xxx  xxx  7.8(b) 
Changes in provisions  xxx  xxx  7.8(b) 
Movement in government grant  xxx  xxx  7.8(b) 
Finance  costs    (xxx)  (xxx)  7.8(b) 
Unrealized foreign exchange losses/(gains)   (xxx)  (xxx)  7.8(b) 
Interest income   (xxx)  (xxx)  7.8(b) 
Dividend income  (xxx)  (xxx)  7.8(b) 
Non-cash employee benefits expense  xxx  xxx  7.8(b) 
Charge for Workers' profit participation fund and Worker's welfare 
fund  xxx  xxx 

 
7.8(b) 

Unpaid current income tax expense  xxx  xxx   
Deferred tax expense  xxx  xxx  7.8(b) 

  xxx  xxx   
Changes in working capital:       

Inventories  xxx  xxx  7.8(a) 
Trade and other receivables  xxx  xxx  7.8(a) 

Trade and other payables  xxx  xxx  7.8(a) 
Provisions   (xxx)  (xxx)   
Employee benefits (including workers' profit participation fund and 
worker's welfare fund)  (xxx)  (xxx) 

 
 

Cash generated from operations  xxx  xxx   
Income taxes paid  (xxx)  (xxx)  7.17 

Net cash inflow from operating activities  xxx  xxx   

Cash flows from investing activities      7.3, 7.5 

Payments for acquisition of property, plant and equipment  (xxx)  (xxx)  7.5(a) 
Payments for acquisition of investment property  (xxx)  (xxx)  7.5(a) 
Payments for acquisition of intangible assets (xxx)  (xxx)  7.5(a) 
Proceeds from disposal of property, plant and equipment and intangible assets xxx  xxx  7.5(b) 
Increase in long-term deposits and prepayments  (xxx)  (xxx)  7.5(a) 
Payment against loans and advances  xxx  xxx  7.5(e) 
Receipts against repayment of loans and advances  xxx  xxx  7.5(e) 
Payments for acquisition of investments  (xxx)  (xxx)  7.5(c) 
Interest received  xxx  xxx  7.14, 7.15 
Dividends received  xxx  xxx  7.14, 7.15 
Receipt of government grants  xxx  xxx   

Net cash (outflow) from investing activities  (xxx)  (xxx)   

Cash flows from financing activities      7.3, 7.6 
Proceeds from issuance of ordinary shares  xxx  xxx  7.6(a) 
Proceeds from borrowings  xxx  xxx  7.6(c) 
Repayments of borrowings  (xxx)  (xxx)  7.6(d) 
Payments against finance lease obligation  (xxx)  (xxx)  7.6(e) 
Interest paid  (xxx)  (xxx)  7.15 

Dividends paid  (xxx)  (xxx)  7.15 

Net cash (outflow) / inflow from financing activities  (xxx)  xxx   

Net increase/(decrease) in cash and cash equivalents   xxx  (xxx)   

Cash and cash equivalents  at the beginning of the year  xxx  xxx   

Cash and cash equivalents at the end of the year 17.1 xxx  xxx   

 

       The annexed notes, from 1 to 43, form an integral part of these financial statements. 
 

  Chief Executive                                   Director
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Notes to the Financial Statements                                                                        
 

This section sets out the principles underlying information that is to be presented in the notes to the financial 
statements and how to present it.  
 
Notes contain information in addition to that presented in the statement of financial position, the statement of 
comprehensive income (if presented), the income statement (if presented), the combined statement of income and 
retained earnings (if presented), the statement of changes in equity (if presented) and the statement of cash flows. 
Notes provide narrative descriptions or disaggregation of items presented in those statements and information about 
items that do not qualify for recognition in those statements. IFRS for SMEs Standard requires disclosures that are 
normally presented in the notes. 
 
Compliance with the IFRS for SMEs 
 
3.3 An entity whose financial statements comply with the IFRS for SMEs shall make an explicit and unreserved 

statement of such compliance in the notes. Financial statements shall not be described as complying with the 
IFRS for SMEs unless they comply with all the requirements of this Standard. 

 
Identification of financial statements 

 
3.23 An entity shall clearly identify each of the financial statements and the notes and distinguish them from 

other information in the same document. In addition, an entity shall display the following information 
prominently and repeat it when necessary for an understanding of the information presented: 
(a)  the name of the reporting entity and any change in its name since the end of the preceding reporting 

period; 
(b)  whether the financial statements cover the individual entity or a group of entities; 
(c)  the date of the end of the reporting period and the period covered by the financial statements; 
(d)  the presentation currency, as defined in Section 30 Foreign Currency Translation; and 
(e)  the level of rounding, if any, used in presenting amounts in the financial statements. 

 
Disclosure of information about the company  
 
3.24 An entity shall disclose the following in the notes: 

(a)  the domicile and legal form of the entity, its country of incorporation and the address of its registered 
office (or principal place of business, if different from the registered office); and 

(b)  a description of the nature of the entity’s operations and its principal activities. 
 

Structure of the notes 
 

8.2 The notes shall: 
(a) present information about the basis of preparation of the financial statements and the specific 

accounting policies used, in accordance with paragraphs 8.5–8.7; 
(b) disclose the information required by this Standard that is not presented elsewhere in the financial 

statements; and 
(c) provide information that is not presented elsewhere in the financial statements but is relevant to an 

understanding of any of them. 
 
8.3 An entity shall, as far as practicable, present the notes in a systematic manner. An entity shall cross-

reference each item in the financial statements to any related information in the notes. 
 
8.4   An entity normally presents the notes in the following order: 

(a) a statement that the financial statements have been prepared in compliance with the IFRS for SMEs (see 
paragraph 3.3); 

(b) a summary of significant accounting policies applied (see paragraph 8.5); 
(c) supporting information for items presented in the financial statements, in the sequence in which each 

statement and each line item is presented; and 
(d) any other disclosures 
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Notes to the Financial Statements (continued) 
 
Disclosure of accounting policies 
 
8.5 An entity shall disclose the following in the summary of significant accounting policies: 

(a) the measurement basis (or bases) used in preparing the financial statements; and 
(b) the other accounting policies used that are relevant to an understanding of the financial statements. 

 
Information about judgements 
 
8.6 An entity shall disclose, in the summary of significant accounting policies or other notes, the judgements, apart 

from those involving estimations (see paragraph 8.7), that management has made in the process of applying the 
entity’s accounting policies and that have the most significant effect on the amounts recognised in the financial 
statements. 

 
Information about key sources of estimation uncertainty 
 
8.7 An entity shall disclose in the notes information about the key assumptions concerning the future, and other 

key sources of estimation uncertainty at the reporting date, that have a significant risk of causing a material 
adjustment to the carrying amounts of assets and liabilities within the next financial year. In respect of those 
assets and liabilities, the notes shall include details of: 
(a) their nature; and 
(b) their carrying amount as at the end of the reporting period. 

 
Functional and presentation currency 

 
30.26  An entity shall disclose the currency in which the financial statements are presented. When the presentation 

currency is different from the functional currency, an entity shall state that fact and shall disclose the 
functional currency and the reason for using a different presentation currency. 

 
Disclosure of parent-subsidiary relationships 
 
33.5 Relationships between a parent and its subsidiaries shall be disclosed irrespective of whether there have been 

related party transactions. An entity shall disclose the name of its parent and, if different, the ultimate 
controlling party. If neither the entity’s parent nor the ultimate controlling party produces financial 
statements available for public use, the name of the next most senior parent that does so (if any) shall also 
be disclosed. 

 
Specific disclosure of accounting policies and measurement basis required by IFRS for SMEs 
 

Consolidated and Separate Financial Statements 
 
9.26 When a parent, an investor in an associate or a venturer with an interest in a jointly controlled entity prepares 

separate financial statements and describes them as conforming to the IFRS for SMEs, those statements shall 
comply with all of the requirements of this Standard except as follows. The entity shall adopt a policy of 
accounting for its investments in subsidiaries, associates and jointly controlled entities in its separate 
financial statements either:  

(a)  at cost less impairment; 
(b)  at fair value with changes in fair value recognised in profit or loss; or 
(c)  using the equity method following the procedures in paragraph 14.8. 
 
The entity shall apply the same accounting policy for all investments in a single class (subsidiaries, associates 
or jointly controlled entities), but it can elect different policies for different classes. 
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Notes to the Financial Statements (continued) 
 
9.27 When a parent, an investor in an associate or a venturer with an interest in a jointly controlled entity 

prepares separate financial statements, those separate financial statements shall disclose: 

(a)  that the statements are separate financial statements; and 
(b)  a description of the methods used to account for the investments in subsidiaries, jointly controlled 

entities and associates, and shall identify the consolidated financial statements or other primary 
financial statements to which they relate. 

 
Financial instruments 
 
11.40 In accordance with paragraph 8.5, an entity shall disclose, in the summary of significant accounting 

policies, the measurement basis (or bases) used for financial instruments and the other accounting 
policies used for financial instruments that are relevant to an understanding of the financial statements. 

 
Inventories 
 
13.22(a) An entity shall disclose the following: 

(a) the accounting policies adopted in measuring inventories, including the cost formula used; 
 

Investment property 
 
16.10(a)(b) An entity shall disclose the following for all investment property accounted for at fair value through 

profit or loss (paragraph 16.7): 
(a) the methods and significant assumptions applied in determining the fair value of investment 

property. 
(b) the extent to which the fair value of investment property (as measured or disclosed in the financial 

statements) is based on a valuation by an independent valuer who holds a recognised and relevant 
professional qualification and has recent experience in the location and class of the investment 
property being valued. If there has been no such valuation, that fact shall be disclosed. 

 
Property, plant and equipment 
 
17.31(a)(b) An entity shall disclose the following for each class of property, plant and equipment determined in 

accordance with paragraph 4.11(a) and separately for investment property carried at cost less 
accumulated depreciation and impairment: 
(a) the measurement bases used for determining the gross carrying amount; 
(b) the depreciation methods used;  

 
Revenue 
 
23.30(a) An entity shall disclose: 

(a) the accounting policies adopted for the recognition of revenue, including the methods adopted to 
determine the stage of completion of transactions involving the rendering of services; 

 
Employee benefits – Defined Benefit Plans 
  
28.41(a)(b)(d)    An entity shall disclose the following information about defined benefit plans (except for any 

defined multi-employer benefit plans that are accounted for as a defined contribution plans in 
accordance with paragraph 28.11, for which the disclosures in paragraph 28.40 apply instead). 
If an entity has more than one defined benefit plan, these disclosures may be made in total, 
separately for each plan, or in such groupings as are considered to be the most useful: 
(a) a general description of the type of plan, including funding policy; 
(b) the entity’s accounting policy for recognising actuarial gains and losses (either in profit or 

loss or as an item of other comprehensive income) and the amount of actuarial gains and 
losses recognised during the period; 
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Notes to the Financial Statements (continued) 
 
(d) the date of the most recent comprehensive actuarial valuation and, if it was not as of the reporting 

date, a description of the adjustments that were made to measure the defined benefit obligation at 
the reporting date; 

(i) for the current period; 
(ii) for each prior period presented; and 
(iii) in the aggregate for periods before those presented. 

 
Information to be presented either in the statement of financial position or in the notes 
 
4.11  An entity shall disclose, either in the statement of financial position or in the notes, the following sub-

classifications of the line items presented: 
 
(a)  property, plant and equipment in classifications appropriate to the entity; 
 

(b)  trade and other receivables showing separately amounts due from related parties, amounts due from 
other parties and receivables arising from accrued income not yet billed; 

 

(c)  inventories, showing separately amounts of inventories: 
(i)  held for sale in the ordinary course of business; 
(ii)  in the process of production for such sale; and 
(iii)  in the form of materials or supplies to be consumed in the production process or in the rendering of 
services. 

 

(d)  trade and other payables, showing separately amounts payable to trade suppliers, payable to related 
parties, deferred income and accruals; 

 

(e)  provisions for employee benefits and other provisions; and 
 

(f)  classes of equity, such as paid-in capital, share premium, retained earnings and items of income and 
expense that, as required by this Standard, are recognised in other comprehensive income and presented 
separately in equity. 

 
4.12  An entity with share capital shall disclose the following, either in the statement of financial position or in 

the notes: 

(a)  for each class of share capital: 
(i) the number of shares authorised. 
(ii) the number of shares issued and fully paid, and issued but not fully paid.  
(iii) par value per share or that the shares have no par value. 
(iv) a reconciliation of the number of shares outstanding at the beginning and at the end of the period. 

This reconciliation need not be presented for prior periods. 
(v) the rights, preferences and restrictions attaching to that class including restrictions on the distribution 

of dividends and the repayment of capital. 
(vi) shares in the entity held by the entity or by its subsidiaries or associates. 
(vii) shares reserved for issue under options and contracts for the sale of shares, including the terms and 

amounts. 
 

(b)  a description of each reserve within equity. 
 

Disclosure of a change in accounting policy 
 
10.13  When an amendment to this Standard has an effect on the current period or any prior period, or might have 

an effect on future periods, an entity shall disclose the following: 
(a) the nature of the change in accounting policy; 
(b) for the current period and each prior period presented, to the extent practicable, the amount of the 

adjustment for each financial statement line item affected; 
(c) the amount of the adjustment relating to periods before those presented, to the extent practicable; and 
(d) an explanation if it is impracticable to determine the amounts to be disclosed in (b) or (c). 

Financial statements of subsequent periods need not repeat these disclosures. 
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Notes to the Financial Statements (continued) 
 
 

10.14  When a voluntary change in accounting policy has an effect on the current period or any prior period, an 
entity shall disclose the following: 

 

(a) the nature of the change in accounting policy; 
 

(b) the reasons why applying the new accounting policy provides reliable and more relevant information; 
 

 (c) to the extent practicable, the amount of the adjustment for each financial statement line item affected, 
shown separately: 

 
Disclosure of a change in estimate 

 
10.18  An entity shall disclose the nature of any change in an accounting estimate and the effect of the change on 

assets, liabilities, income and expense for the current period. If it is practicable for the entity to estimate 
the effect of the change in one or more future periods, the entity shall disclose those estimates. 

 
Correction of prior period errors 

 
10.23   An entity shall disclose the following about prior period errors: 

 

(a) the nature of the prior period error; 
 

(b) for each prior period presented, to the extent practicable, the amount of the correction for each 
financial statement line item affected; 

 

(c) to the extent practicable, the amount of the correction at the beginning of the earliest prior period 
presented; and 

 

(d) an explanation if it is not practicable to determine the amounts to be disclosed in (b) or (c). 
 
Financial statements of subsequent periods need not repeat these disclosures. 

 
Disclosure requirements specified by 5th schedule to the Companies Act, 2017 

 
CA 2017 
5th Schd V(1)(i)  The following shall be disclosed in the financial statements, namely: __ 

 
 1. General information about the company comprising the following:  

 
(i) Geographical location and address of all business units including Mills/plant;  

 
CA 2017 
5th Schd V(3)  Summary of significant transactions and events that have affected the company's financial 

position and performance during the year 
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  Reference 

MSE Pakistan Limited 
 

3.23(a) 

Notes to the Financial Statements 
 3.17(e), CA 

2017[2(33)(e)] 
for the year ended December 31, 20X8  3.23(c) 

    

1. Corporate and general information    

    

1.1 Legal status and operations    

    

 

MSE Pakistan Limited (the Company) is a public limited company incorporated in Pakistan 
on March 23, 20X1 under the Companies Ordinance, 1984 (Repealed with the enactment of 
the Companies Act, 2017 on May 30, 2017).  
 
The principal activities of the Company are to manufacture, sale and install ceramics, PVC 
pipes and fittings. 
 
The Company is a subsidiary of Heavenly Company Limited (the holding company), an 
unlisted public company incorporated in Pakistan. 
 
The geographical location and address of the Company’s business units, including 
mills/plant is as under: 

- The Company's registered office is situated at MSE tower, 5th avenue, Green city. 
- The Company's plant is located at Best Location, Industrial zone, Beautiful city. The 

Company also has distribution warehouses in Light city and Saint city. 

 3.24(a) 
 
 
 

3.24(b) 
 
 

33.5 
 
 

3.24(a), 5th 
Schd V(1)(i) 

    

1.2 Summary of significant events and transactions in the current reporting period 
 5th Schd 

V(3) 
    

 

The Company's financial position and performance was particularly affected by the following 
events and transactions during the reporting period: 
 

-  Acquired 200 acres of land in city B (Refer to note 4) 
-  A fire in Red plant in August 20X8 resulted in the impairment of a plant and machinery. 

(Refer to note 4) 
-  Made further investment in the ordinary shares of Foreign Land Company Limited, an 

associated company. (Refer to note 8) 
-  Disbursed long term loan to Pak Land Company Limited, an associated company (Refer 

to note 11) 
-  Arranged a short-term running finance facility from Bank B with the sanctioned limit 

of Rs. xxx (Refer to note 25) 
-  Declared interim dividend in August 20X8 (Refer to note 42) 
-  The accounting policy for surplus on revaluation of property, plant and equipment and 

borrowing costs changed during the year. Consequently, some of the amounts reported 
in the prior years have been restated. (For detailed information about these 
adjustments please refer to note 3.25) 

-  Some of the amounts reported for the previous period have been restated to correct 
an error. (Detailed information about these adjustments can be found in note 3.26) 

- Due to the first time application of financial reporting requirements under the 
Companies Act, 2017, including disclosure and presentation requirements of the fifth 
schedule of the Companies Act, 2017, some of the amounts reported for the previous 
period have been reclassified. (For detailed disclosure of this information please refer 
to note 41) 
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   Reference 
2. Basis of preparation  8.2(a) 
    

2.1 Statement of compliance  3.3, 8.4(a) 
    

 

These financial statements have been prepared in accordance with the accounting and 
reporting standards as applicable in Pakistan. The accounting and reporting standards 
applicable in Pakistan comprise of: 
 
− International Financial Reporting Standard for Small and Medium Sized Entities (IFRS for 

SMEs) issued by the International Accounting Standards Board (IASB) as notified under the 
Companies Act, 2017; and 
 

− Provisions of and directives issued under the Companies Act, 2017.  
 
Where provisions of and directives issued under the Companies Act, 2017 differ from the IFRS 
for SMEs, the provisions of and directives issued under the Companies Act, 2017 have been 
followed. 

 

 
    

2.2 Basis of measurement   
    

 These financial statements have been prepared under the historical cost convention, except 
for certain items as disclosed in the relevant accounting policies below.  

  

    
2.3 Functional and presentation currency   

    

 

These financial statements are presented in Pakistan Rupee (Rs. / Rupees) which is the 
Company’s functional currency. Amounts presented in the financial statements have been 
rounded off to the nearest of Rs. / Rupees, unless otherwise stated. 

 3.23(d) 
3.23(e) 

    
2.4 Key judgements and estimates  8.6 & 8.7 

    

 

The preparation of financial statements in conformity with the accounting and reporting 
standards as applicable in Pakistan requires the use of certain critical accounting estimates. 
In addition, it requires management to exercise judgement in the process of applying the 
Company’s accounting policies. The areas involving a high degree of judgement or complexity, 
or areas where assumptions and estimates are significant to the financial statements, are 
documented in the following accounting policies and notes, and relate primarily to: 
 
- Useful lives, residual values and depreciation method of property, plant and equipment – 

Note 3.1 & 4 

- Useful lives, residual values and depreciation method of investment property measured at 

cost – Note 3.2 & 5 

- Fair value of investment property - Note 3.2 & 6  

- Useful lives, residual values and amortization method of intangible assets – Note 3.3 & 7  

- Provision for impairment of inventories - Note 3.8 & 13  

- Impairment loss of non-financial assets other than inventories – Note 3.9 & 4 

- Provision for doubtful trade receivables – Note 3.10 & 14 

- Obligation of defined benefit obligation - Note 3.17 & 22  

- Estimation of provisions - Note 3.18 & 23 

- Estimation of contingent liabilities - Note 3.19 & 27  

- Current income tax expense, provision for current tax and recognition of deferred tax 

asset (for carried forward tax losses) - Note 3.16, 21 & 35 

  

 

 
The revisions to accounting estimates (if any) are recognised in the period in which the 
estimate is revised if the revision affects only that period or in the period of the revision and 
future periods if the revision affects both current and future periods. 
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   Reference 
3. Summary of significant accounting policies   8.2(a), 8.5 

    

 
The accounting policies set out below have been applied consistently to all periods presented 
in these financial statements, except for the changes as explained in note 3.25. 

  

    
3.1 Property, plant and equipment    8.2(a), 8.5 

    

 
 
 

Initial recognition 
All items of property, plant and equipment are initially recorded at cost. 
 
Subsequent Measurement 
Items of property, plant and equipment other than land, buildings, leasehold improvements 
and capital work in progress are measured at cost less accumulated depreciation and 
impairment loss (if any).  
 
Land, buildings and leasehold improvements are measured at the revalued amount less 
accumulated depreciation and impairment loss (if any).   
 
Capital work in progress is stated at cost less impairment loss (if any).   
 
Revaluation  
Any revaluation increase arising on the revaluation of land, buildings and leasehold 
improvements is recognised in other comprehensive income and presented as a separate 
component of equity as “Revaluation surplus on property, plant and equipment”, except to the 
extent that it reverses a revaluation decrease for the same asset previously recognised in profit 
or loss, in which case the increase is credited to profit or loss to the extent of the decrease 
previously charged. Any decrease in carrying amount arising on the revaluation of land, 
buildings and leasehold improvements is charged to profit or loss to the extent that it exceeds 
the balance, if any, held in the revaluation surplus on property, plant and equipment relating 
to a previous revaluation of that asset. The revaluation reserve is not available for distribution 
to the Company’s shareholders. The surplus on revaluation buildings and leasehold 
improvements to the extent of incremental depreciation charged (net of deferred tax) is 
transferred to unappropriated profit. 
 
During the year the Company changed its accounting policy in respect of the accounting and 
presentation of revaluation surplus on property, plant and equipment. Previously, the 
Company’s accounting policy was in accordance with the provisions of repealed Companies 
Ordinance 1984. Those provisions and resultant previous policy of the company was not in 
alignment with the accounting treatment and presentation of revaluation surplus as prescribed 
in the IFRS for SMEs. However, the Companies Act, 2017 has not specified any accounting 
treatment for revaluation surplus, accordingly the Company has changed the accounting policy 
and is now following the IFRS for SMEs prescribed accounting treatment and presentation of 
revaluation surplus. The detailed information and impact of this change in policy is provided 
in note 3.25.2 below. 
 
Depreciation 
Depreciation is charged so as to write off the cost or revalued amount of assets (other than 
land and capital work in progress) over their estimated useful lives, using the straight-line 
method at rates specified in note 4 to the financial statements.  
 
The property, plant and equipment acquired under finance leases is depreciated over the 
shorter of the useful life of the asset and the lease term.  
 
Disposal 
The gain or loss arising on disposal or retirement of an item of property, plant and equipment 
is determined as the difference between the sales proceeds and the carrying amounts of the 
asset and is recognised as other income in the statement of profit or loss. In case of the sale 
or retirement of a revalued property, the attributable revaluation surplus remaining in the 
surplus on revaluation is transferred directly to the unappropriated profit.  
 

  
17.31(a) 

 
 

17.31(a) 
 
 
 

17.31(a) 
 
 

17.31(a)(b) 
 
 

17.15(b)(c) 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

17.28 
 
 
 

8.6, 8.7 
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Judgment and estimates 
The useful lives, residual values and depreciation method are reviewed on a regular basis. 
The effect of any changes in estimate is accounted for on a prospective basis. 
 
Change in estimate 
During the year, the Company after review of useful lives and residual values of property, plant 
and equipment, increased the useful life of office equipment from four to six years. The 
revision was accounted for prospectively as a change in accounting estimate and as a result, 
the depreciation charge of the Company for 20X8 decreased by Rs. xxx and carrying amount of 
office equipment increased by Rs. xxx as compared to the amounts had there been no change 
in estimate. Accordingly, the current and deferred tax liabilities have increased by Rs. xxx. 
The resultant after-tax effect is an increase in profit for the year of Rs. xxx. 
 

Reference 
 

10.18 

    
3.2 Investment property    

    

 

Recognition and Measurement 
Investment property, which is property held to earn rentals and/or for capital appreciation, 
including property under construction for such purposes, is measured initially at its cost, 
including transaction costs. 
 
Subsequent to initial recognition, investment property whose fair value can be measured 
reliably without undue cost or effort on an ongoing basis after initial recognition are measured 
at fair value, at each reporting date. The changes in fair value recognised in the statement of 
profit or loss. Any other investment property (whose fair value cannot be measured reliably 
without undue cost or effort) is measured at cost less accumulated depreciation and any 
impairment loss.  
 
The fair value of investment property is determined at the end of each year using current 
market prices for comparable real estate, adjusted for any differences in nature, location and 
condition. 
 
Judgment and estimates 
The useful lives, residual values and depreciation method are reviewed on a regular basis. The 
effect of any changes in estimate accounted for on a prospective basis. Further, determining 
adjustments for any differences in nature, location and condition of the investment property 
involves significant judgment.  
 
Rental income 
Rental income from investment property that is leased to a third party under an operating 
lease is recognised in the statement of profit or loss on a straight-line basis over the lease term 
and is included in ‘other income’.  
 

  
16.10 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

8.6 
 
 
 
 
 

20.25 

3.3 Intangible assets   
    

 

Measurement 
Intangible assets, other than goodwill, are measured at cost less accumulated amortization 
and accumulated impairment losses. Amortization is charged so as to allocate the cost of assets 
over their estimated useful lives, using the straight-line method at the rates specified in note 
7 to the financial statements.  
Research and development expenditure is charged to 'administrative and general expenses' in 
the statement of profit or loss, as and when incurred. 
 
Judgment and estimates 
The useful lives, residual values and amortization method are reviewed on a regular basis. The 
effect of any changes in estimate accounted for on a prospective basis. 

  
18.9, 18.18, 
18.19, 18.20 

 
 
 

18.14, 18.29 
 
 
 

8.6 
    

3.4 Method of preparation of cash flow statement   
    
 The cash flow statement is prepared using indirect method.   
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   Reference 
3.5 Investment in associates   
    

 

Investment in associates is accounted for at cost less any accumulated impairment losses. Dividend 
income from investments in associates is recognised in profit or loss and included in other income 
when the company’s right to receive payment has been established. 

 14.4(a), 
14.12(a)  

    
3.6 Investment in jointly controlled entity   
    

 

Investment in jointly controlled entity is accounted for at cost less any accumulated impairment 
losses. Dividend income from investment in jointly controlled entity is recognized in profit or loss and 
included in other income when the company’s right to receive payment has been established. 

 15.19(a) 

    
3.7 Dividend income   
    

 
Dividend income is recognised when the Company’s right to receive payment have been established 
and is recognized in profit or loss and included in other income. 

 23.29(c) 

    
3.8 Inventories   13.22(a) 
    

 

Measurement 
Inventories are stated at the lower of cost and estimated selling price less costs to complete and sell.  
 
Cost is calculated using the weighted average method and comprises direct materials, direct labour 
costs and direct overheads that have been incurred in bringing the inventories to their present 
location and condition.  
 
Selling price less costs to complete and sell represents the estimated selling price in the ordinary 
course of the business less all estimated costs of completion and estimated costs necessary to be 
incurred in order to make the sale. 
 
Impairment 
At each reporting date, inventories are assessed for impairment. If inventory is impaired, the carrying 
amount is reduced to its selling price less costs to complete and sell. The impairment loss is 
recognised immediately in the cost of sales in the statement of profit or loss. 

  
13.4 
 

13.5, 13.8, 
13.9, 13.18 

 
 
 

27.2 
 
 
 
 

27.2 
 
 

 

 
Judgments and estimates 
Inventory write-down is made based on the current market conditions, historical experience and 
selling goods of similar nature. It could change significantly as a result of changes in market 
conditions. A review is made periodically on inventories for excess inventories, obsolescence and 
decline in net realisable value and an allowance is recorded against the inventory balances for any 
such decline. 

  
 

8.6 

3.9 Impairment of non-financial assets other than inventories   
    

 

The assets that are subject to depreciation or amortisation are assessed at each reporting date to 
determine whether there is any indication that the assets are impaired. If there is an indication of 
possible impairment, the recoverable amount of the asset is estimated and compared with its 
carrying amount.  
 
An impairment loss is recognized if the carrying amount of an asset exceeds its estimated recoverable 
amount. The impairment loss is recognised in the statement of profit or loss, unless the relevant 
asset is carried at a revalued amount, in which case the impairment loss is treated as a revaluation 
decrease.  

 
An impairment loss is reversed only to the extent that the asset carrying amount does not exceed 
the carrying amount that would have been determined, net of depreciation or amortisation, if no 
impairment loss had been recognised. The Company recognises the reversal immediately in the 
statement of profit or loss, unless the asset is carried at a revalued amount in accordance with the 
revaluation model. Any reversal of an impairment loss of a revalued asset is treated as a revaluation 
increase. 

 27.5 
 
 
 
 

27.6 
 
 
 
 

27.30 
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   Reference 
3.10 Trade and other receivables  11.40 
    

 

Measurement 
Trade and other receivables are recognised and carried at transaction price less an allowance for 
impairment.  
 
Impairment  
A provision for impairment of trade receivables is established when there is objective evidence that 
the Company will not be able to collect all amounts due according to the original terms of the 
receivables. The amount of the provision is recognised in the statement of profit or loss. Bad debts 
are written-off in the statement of profit or loss on identification. 
 
Judgments and estimates 
The allowance for doubtful debts of the Company is based on the ageing analysis and management’s 
continuous evaluation of the recoverability of the outstanding receivables. In assessing the ultimate 
realisation of these receivables, management considers, among other factors, the creditworthiness 
and the past collection history of each customer. 

  
11.13, 

11.14, 11.15  
 
 
 

11.21 
 
 

 
 

    
3.11 Impairment of financial assets other than trade receivables   
    
 The financial assets other than those that are carried at fair value are assessed at each reporting 

date to determine whether there is any objective evidence of their impairment. A financial asset is 
impaired if there is objective evidence of impairment as a result of one or more events that occurred 
after the initial recognition of the asset, and that loss event(s) had an impact on the estimated future 
cash flows of that asset that can be estimated reliably. 
 
The impairment loss is recognized immediately in the statement of profit or loss and the carrying 
amount of the related financial asset is reduced accordingly. An impairment loss is reversed only if 
the reversal can be related objectively to an event occurring after the impairment loss was 
recognized. 
 

 11.21 

3.12 Borrowings   
    
 Measurement 

Loans are measured at amortised cost using the effective interest method. 
Overdrafts are repayable in full on demand and are initially measured and subsequently stated at 
face value (the amount of the loan). 
 
Interest  
Interest expense is recognised on the basis of the effective interest method and is included in finance 
costs. 
 
Interest-free loan 
In case the loan is interest–free or carries interest below the prevalent market rate, it is initially 
recognised at the present value of the future payments discounted at a market rate of interest for a 
similar debt instrument. The difference between the discounted present value and actual receipt is 
recognised as finance income. Subsequently, the interest-free loan is measured at amortized cost, 
using the effective Interest rate method, this involves unwinding of discount, such that at the 
repayment date, the carrying value of obligation equals the amount to be repaid. The unwinding of 
discount is included in finance costs in the statement of profit or loss. 

  
11.13, 
11.14, 
11.40 

 
 
 

25.1, 25.2 
 
 
 

11.13 

    
3.13  Leases   
    
 At its inception, a lease is classified as either a finance lease or an operating lease. Finance leases 

transfer substantially all the risks and rewards of ownership. All other leases are classified as 
operating leases. 
  
Finance leases 
Finance leases are capitalized at the lease’s commencement at the lower of the fair value of the 
leased property and the present value of the minimum lease payments. Each lease payment is 

 20.4 
 
 
 
 

20.9, 
20.10, 
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apportioned between the liability and finance charges using the effective interest method. Rental 
obligations, net of finance charges, are included in borrowings in the statement of financial position.  
 
Operating leases 
Rentals payable under operating leases are charged to profit or loss on a straight-line basis over the 
term of the relevant lease. Minimum lease payments receivable under operating leases are 
recognised as revenue on a straight-line basis over the term of the lease. 

20.11 
 
 
 
 
 
 

20.15 
    
3.14 Government grants   
    
 Recognition and measurement 

Government grants are recognised at the fair value of the asset received or receivable.  
 
A grant without specified future performance conditions is recognised in income when the grant 
proceeds are receivable. A grant that imposes specified future performance conditions is recognised 
in income when all those conditions are met and there is a reasonable assurance that the grant will 
be received. 
 
Government grants are presented separately from the assets to which they relate. Government 
grants received before the income recognition criteria are satisfied are presented as a separate 
liability in the statement of financial position.  
 
Government grants recognised in income are presented separately in the ‘other income’. 
 
Further, the Company does not recognise those forms of government assistance for which a 
reasonable value cannot be placed on them.  

  
24.5 

 
24.4 

 
 
 
 

24.4 
 
 
 

23.30(b) 
 

24.2 
 

    
3.15 Trade and other payables   
    
 Trade payables are obligations under normal short-term credit terms. These are measured at the 

undiscounted amount of cash to be paid.   

 11.13, 
11.40 

    
3.16 Income tax   
    
 Income tax comprises of current tax and deferred tax.  

 
Income tax expense is recognised in the statement of profit and loss except to the extent that it 
relates to items recognized in other comprehensive income or directly in equity (if any), in which 
case the tax amounts are recognized directly in other comprehensive income or equity. 
 
Current tax 
Current tax is the expected tax payable on the taxable income for the year; calculated using rates 
enacted or substantively enacted by the end of the reporting period.  The calculation of current tax 
takes into account tax credit and tax rebates, if any, and is inclusive of any adjustment to income 
tax payable or recoverable in respect of previous years. 

 29.2 
 

29.35 
 
 
 
 
 

29.4, 29.6 

    
 Deferred tax 

A deferred tax liability is recognised for all temporary differences that are expected to increase 
taxable profit in the future. Deferred tax assets are recognised for all temporary differences that 
are expected to reduce taxable profit in the future, and the carryforward of unused tax losses. 
 
The amount of deferred tax provided is based on the expected manner of realization or settlement 
of the carrying amount of assets and liabilities using the tax rates enacted at the balance sheet date. 
 
Judgment and estimates 
Significant judgment is required in determining the income tax expenses and corresponding provision 
for tax. There are many transactions and calculations for which the ultimate tax determination is 
uncertain during the ordinary course of business.  
 
 

  
29.14, 
29.15, 
29.16 

 
 
 

29.27 
 

8.6 
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Further, the carrying amount of deferred tax assets is reviewed at each reporting date and is 
adjusted to reflect the current assessment of future taxable profits. If required, carrying amount of 
deferred tax asset is reduced to the extent that it is no longer probable that sufficient taxable profits 
to allow the benefit of part or all of that recognised deferred tax asset to be utilised. Any such 
reduction shall be reversed to the extent that it becomes probable that sufficient taxable profit will 
be available. 
 
Off-setting 
Deferred tax assets and liabilities are offset if there is a legally enforceable right to set off current 
tax assets against current tax liabilities, and they relate to income taxes levied by the same tax 
authority. 

Reference 
 

29.31 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

29.37 

    
3.17 Employee benefits - retirement benefits  28.41(a)(b) 
    
 The Company has a defined benefit plan (gratuity) and defined contribution plan (provident fund). 

 
Defined benefit plan 
The Company measures defined benefit liabilities (assets) at the present value of its obligation under 
defined benefit plan at the reporting date minus the fair value at the reporting date of plan assets out 
of which the obligations are to be settled directly. The obligation under defined benefit plan is 
determined using the projected unit credit method.  
 
Actuarial gains and losses are recognised in the other comprehensive income in the period in which 
they occur. Past-service costs are recognised immediately in the statement of profit or loss. The 
latest actuarial valuation of the plan was carried out as at December 31, 20X8.  
 
In determining the liability for long-service payments management must make an estimate of salary 
increases over the following five years, the discount rate to calculate present value over next five 
years, and the number of employees expected to leave before they receive the benefits.  
 
Defined contribution plan  
The Company also operates a recognized provident fund scheme for the permanent employees. 
Contributions to fund are made monthly by the Company and employee at the rate of x% of the basic 
salary. The Company's contributions are recognised as employee benefit expense when they are due. 
If contribution payments exceed the contribution due for service, the excess is recognised as an 
asset.  

 28.9, 28.10 
 
 

28.14, 
28.15 

 
 
 

28.24 (b), 
28.25(e), 
28.41(d) 

 
 

8.6 
 
 
 
 
 

28.13, 
28.15 

    
3.18 Provisions   

 

 
Provisions are recognised when the Company has a present obligation (legal or constructive) as a 
result of a past event, it is probable that the Company will be required to settle the obligation, and 
a reliable estimate can be made of the amount of the obligation. 

  
21.4 

 

    
 The amount recognised as a provision is the best estimate of the consideration required to settle the 

present obligation at the end of the reporting period, taking into account the risks and uncertainties 
surrounding the obligation.  
 
Where the effect of the time value of money is material, the amount expected to be required to 
settle the obligation is recognised at present value using a pre-tax discount rate. The unwinding of 
the discount is recognised as finance cost in the statement of profit or loss.  
 
When some or all of the economic benefits required to settle a provision are expected to be 
recovered from a third party, the receivable is recognised as an asset if it is virtually certain that 
reimbursement will be received and the amount of the receivable can be measured reliably. 
 
As the actual outflows can differ from estimates made for provisions due to changes in laws, 
regulations, public expectations, technology, prices and conditions, and can take place many years 
in the future, the carrying amounts of provisions are reviewed at each reporting date and adjusted  
 

 21.7 
 
 
 

21.7 
 
 
 

21.9 
 
 
 

21.11 
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to take account of such changes. Any adjustments to the amount of previously recognised provision 
is recognised in the statement of profit or loss unless the provision was originally recognised as part 
of cost of an asset. 

Reference 
 

    
 Provision for warranty obligations    
 All goods sold by the Company are warranted to be free of manufacturing defects for a period of one 

year. Provisions for warranty costs are recognised at the date of sale of the relevant products, at 
the management’s best estimate of the expenditure required to settle the Company’s obligation. 

 

 21.7 

3.19 Contingent liabilities   
    
 A contingent liability is disclosed when the Company has a possible obligation as a result of past 

events, whose existence will be confirmed only by the occurrence or non-occurrence, of one or more 
uncertain future events not wholly within the control of the Company; or the Company has a present 
legal or constructive obligation that arises from past events, but it is not probable that an outflow 
of resources embodying economic benefits will be required to settle the obligation, or the amount 
of the obligation cannot be measured with sufficient reliability.  

 21.15 

    
3.20 Off-setting of financial assets and liabilities    
    
 Financial assets and financial liabilities are off-set and the net amount is reported in the statement 

of financial position if the Company has a legally enforceable right to set-off the recognized amounts 
and intends either to settle on a net basis or to realize the assets and settle the liabilities 
simultaneously.  

  

    
3.21 Revenue recognition   
    
 Revenue is recognised to the extent the Company has delivered goods or rendered services under an 

agreement, the amount of revenue can be measured reliably and it is probable that the economic 
benefits associated with the transaction will flow to the Company.  
 
Revenue is measured at the fair value of the consideration received or receivable, exclusive of sales 
tax and trade discounts.  
 
Sale of goods 
Revenue from the sale of goods is recognised when the significant risks and rewards of ownership of 
the goods have been transferred to the buyer. This is usually at the point that the customer has 
signed for the delivery of the goods. 
 
Rendering of services 
Revenue from rendering of services is recognised in proportion to the stage of completion of 
transaction at the reporting date. The stage of completion is based on the survey of the work 
performed.  

 23.30(a) 
 
 
 

23.3 
 
 
 

23.30, 
23.10 

 
 
 

23.30, 
23.14 

 
    
3.22 Borrowing costs   
    
 Borrowing costs are recognised on the basis of the effective interest method. During the year, the 

company changed its accounting policy and now all borrowing costs are recognised as an expense in 
profit or loss in the period in which they are incurred. 
 
The change is accounting policy is explained in note 3.25.1. 

 25.1, 25.2 

    
3.23 Foreign currency transactions and translations   
    
 Transactions in foreign currencies are recorded at the rates of exchange ruling on the date of the 

transaction. All monetary assets and liabilities denominated in foreign currencies are translated into 
Pakistan Rupees at the rate of exchange ruling on the balance sheet date and exchange differences, 
if any, are charged in the statement of profit or loss. 
 
 

 30.7 
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 Reference 

3.24 Dividend distribution   
    
 Dividend distribution to the Company’s shareholders is recognised as a liability in the period in which 

the dividends are approved by the company’s shareholders. 
 22.17 

    
3.25 Change in accounting policies  10.14 

 

 
The Companies Act, 2017 has introduced changes to the accounting and reporting standards 
applicable to the medium-sized companies, which have been applied for the first time in these 
financial statements. The changes in the accounting and reporting standards have impacted the 
Company's accounting policies relating to the borrowings costs and revaluation surplus on property, 
plant and equipment. Accordingly, the accounting policies of the borrowings costs and revaluation 
surplus on property, plant and equipment have been changed and applied retrospectively in these 
financial statements to comply with the accounting and reporting standards applicable to the 
Company. The changes in accounting policies had a net impact of Rs. xxx and Rs. xxx on 
unappropriated profit and total equity respectively, as at January 1, 20X8. The resulted impact of 
change in accounting policy is further explained below: 
 

  

3.25.1 Change in accounting policy of borrowing costs   
    
 On January 01, 20X8 the Company changed its accounting policy for the borrowing costs in 

accordance with requirements of the accounting and reporting standards as applicable in Pakistan 
under the Companies Act, 2017. Now all borrowing costs of the Company are recognised as an 
expense in the statement of profit or loss in the period in which these are incurred. 
 
The Company’s previous accounting policy for borrowing costs was in accordance with the then 
applicable approved accounting and reporting standards prescribed under the repealed Companies 
Ordinance, 1984.  Previously, the Company capitalized the borrowing costs related to the qualifying 
assets, in accordance with the approved accounting and reporting standards (prescribed by SECP 
through S.R.O 929 of 2015). 
 
This change in accounting policy has been accounted for retrospectively, and the comparative 
information has been restated: 

 10.8, 35.8 
 

 

 

 

    

 
Statement of financial position 
Retrospective impact of change in accounting policy 

  

      
  As at January 1, 20X7 As at December 31, 20X7   
  As 

previously 
reported 

on 
December 
31, 20X6 

Adjustmen
ts 

Increase/ 
(Decrease) 

As restated 
on January 

1, 
20X7 

 

As 
previously 
reported 

on 
December 
31, 20X7 

Adjustment
s Increase/ 
(Decrease) 

 As restated on 
December 31, 

20X7 

 

 
 

 
 

-----------------------------------Rupees----------------------------------- 
 

 
 

Property, plant and equipment xxx (xxx) xxx xxx (xxx) xxx 
 

 
 Total assets xxx (xxx) xxx xxx (xxx) xxx   
 Deferred tax liability xxx xxx xxx xxx xxx xxx   
 Income tax payable xxx (xxx) xxx xxx (xxx) xxx   
 Total liabilities  xxx (xxx) xxx xxx (xxx) xxx   
 Un-appropriated profit xxx          xxx xxx xxx (xxx) xxx   
 Total equity xxx          xxx xxx xxx (xxx) xxx   
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 Reference 

    (Rupees)   
 Impact of change in accounting policy - December 31, 20x8      
 Decrease in property, plant and equipment    (xxx)   
 Increase in deferred tax liabilities      (xxx)   
 Increase in current tax payable      (xxx)   
 Decrease in un-appropriated profit      Xxx   

 
  

  

 Statement of profit or loss   

 Year ended December 31 20X7   

 Impact of change in accountancy policy   

     Impact of change in accountancy policy   
     As Adjustments 20X7   
     Previously Increase/ (Restated)   
     reported (Decrease)    
     ----------- Rupees -------------   

 
Cost of sales - Depreciation   xxx (xxx) xxx 

 
 

 Finance costs   xxx xxx xxx   
 Profit before income tax   xxx xxx xxx   
 Income tax expense – Deferred & current  xxx (xxx) xxx   

 Profit for the year   xxx xxx xxx   

         

 Year ended December 31, 20x8   
 Rupees   
 Decrease in cost of sales (depreciation)                                                                                      xxx   
 Increase in finance costs                                                                                                           (xxx)   
 Increase in tax expense                                                                                                             (xxx)   
 Decrease in profit for the year                                                          xxx  
    

3.25.2 Change in accounting policy of revaluation surplus on property, plant and equipment   
    
 On January 01, 20X8 the Company changed its accounting policy for the revaluation surplus on 

property, plant and equipment, in accordance with requirements of the accounting and reporting 
standards as applicable in Pakistan under the Companies Act, 2017. Previously, the Company’s 
accounting policy for surplus on revaluation of property, plant and equipment was in accordance 
with the provisions of section 235 of the repealed Companies Ordinance, 1984. Further, the 
revaluation surplus on property, plant and equipment was shown as a separate item below equity, 
in accordance with the presentation requirement of the repealed Companies Ordinance, 1984. 
 
The Companies Act, 2017 has not retained the above mentioned specific accounting and presentation 
requirements of revaluation surplus on property, plant and equipment. Consequently, this impacted 
the Company's accounting policy for revaluation surplus on property, plant and equipment, and now 
the related accounting and presentation requirements set out in section 17 of IFRS for SMEs are being 
followed by the Company. The new accounting policy is explained under note 3.1, above. Further, 
the revaluation surplus on property, plant and equipment is now presented in the statement of 
financial position and statement of changes in equity as a capital reserve i.e. part of equity. 
 
In these financial statements the above explained change in accounting policy has been accounted 
for retrospectively, with the restatement of the comparative information. 
 
The effect of the change is recognition and presentation of Rs.xxx for revaluation surplus on 
property, plant and equipment as a capital reserve i.e. separate component of equity and 
derecognition of surplus on revaluation of property, plant and equipment of Rs. xxx, previously 
presented below equity in the statement of financial position. Further, there is a reduction in the 
profit of Rs. xxx and increase in the other comprehensive income of Rs. xxx, with a net increase to 
total comprehensive income of Rs. xxx for the year ended December 31, 20X8. 
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Reference 

 Statement of financial position   
 Retrospective impact of change in accounting policy    
  As at January 1, 20X7 As at December 31, 20X7   
  As 

previously 
reported on 
December 
31, 20X6 

Adjustment
s Increase/ 
(Decrease) 

As restated 
on January 

1, 
20X7 

 

As 
previously 

reported on 
December 
31, 20X7 

Adjustment
s Increase/ 
(Decrease)  

As restated on 
December 31, 

20X7 
 

 

 
  --------------------------------Rupees----------------------------   
 Surplus on revaluation of property 

plant and equipment(with in 
equity) - xxx xxx - xxx xxx 

 

 
 Unappropriated profit xxx (xxx) xxx xxx (xxx) xxx   
 Net impact on equity xxx (xxx) xxx xxx (xxx) xxx   

 Surplus on revaluation of property 
plant and equipment(below equity) 

xxx (xxx) 
           
-    

  xxx (xxx) 
 

 
 

 
xxx (xxx) 

           
-    

  xxx (xxx)   

          
 Impact of change in accounting policy - December 31, 20x8  Rupees   
 Surplus on revaluation of property plant and equipment(within equity)  xxx   
 Un-appropriated profit      xxx   
 Surplus on revaluation of property plant and equipment(below equity)   (xxx)   
       xxx   

    
 Statement of profit or loss   

 For the year ended December 31, 20x8 
   

 
 

     Impact of change in accounting policy   

 

    

As previously 
reported 

Adjustments  
Increase/ 

(Decrease) in 
profit 

20X7 
(Restated) 

 

 
      Rupees    

 Administrative and general expenses - Deficit on  revaluation 
of assets - xxx xxx 

 
 

 Profit before income tax    xxx (xxx) xxx   
 Income tax expense    xxx (xxx) xxx   

 Profit for the year    xxx (xxx) xxx   

    

 For the year ended December 31, 20x8   

 Increase in administrative and general expenses - Deficit on revaluation  of assets                                          xxx   

 Decrease in tax expense                                                                                                                             ( xxx)   

 Decrease in profit for the year                                                                                                                            ( xxx)   

    

    

 Statement of comprehensive income   
 

For the year ended December 31, 20x8     
 

 

     Impact of change in accounting policy   

 

    

As previously 
reported 

Adjustments  
Increase/ 

(Decrease) in 
profit 

20X7 
(Restated) 

 

 
      Rupees    

 Other comprehensive income (net of tax)  xxx xxx xxx   

 Total comprehensive income (net of tax)  xxx (xxx) xxx   

        

 For the year ended December 31, 20x8   

    

 Increase in other comprehensive income - net of tax xxx   
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   Reference 

3.26 Correction of prior period error   

    
 In January 20X8, the Company conducted a detailed review of the terms and conditions of its sales 

contracts and discovered the error in relation to the revenue recognition. The error related to a 
contract entered in July 20X5. On July 20, 20x5 the Company entered into a sales contract with a 
new customer to sell special PVC pipes. As part of the negotiations, in July 20X6 a modification was 
made to the standard terms and conditions to sell the PVC pipes to this customer on consignment 
basis. However, the Company continued to recognise revenue at the point of delivery to the customer 
instead of deferring the revenue recognition until the customer has sold the goods. As a consequence, 
revenue was overstated. 

 
The correction of the error is accounted for retrospectively, and the comparative information for 
20X7 has been restated. The error has been corrected by restating each of the affected financial 
statement line items for the prior periods, as follows: 

 10.19, 
10.21, 10.23 

    

 Statement of financial position   

 Retrospective impact of change in accounting policy   

      
  As at January 1, 20X7 As at December 31, 20X7   

 

 

December 
31, 20X6 

Increase/ 
(Decrease) 

1 January 
20X7 

(Restated) 

December 
31, 20X7 

Increase/ 
(Decrease) 

December 31, 
20X7 

(Restated) 

  
   

   
   

  --------------------------Rupees-----------------------------   

 Trade receivables xxx (xxx) xxx xxx (xxx) Xxx   

 Income tax payable xxx (xxx) xxx xxx (xxx) Xxx   

 Net impact on equity xxx (xxx) xxx xxx (xxx) Xxx   

    

 Statement of profit or loss   
 

For the year ended 20X7         
     Impact of change in accounting  policy   
 

    

As previously 
reported 

Profit 
Increase/ 

(Decrease) 

20X7 
(Restated) 

 

 
     ------------------Rupees-----------------   

 Revenue    xxx xxx xxx   
 Profit before income tax   xxx xxx xxx   
 Income tax expense    xxx (xxx) xxx   
 Profit for the year    xxx xxx xxx   
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                                         4. Property, plant and equipment                                                   
 

Disclosure requirements the IFRS for SMEs 
 

17.31 An entity shall disclose the following for each class of property, plant and equipment determined in accordance 
with paragraph 4.11(a) and separately for investment property carried at cost less accumulated depreciation 
and impairment:  

(a) the measurement bases used for determining the gross carrying amount;                                  
(b) the depreciation methods used; 
(c) the useful lives or the depreciation rates used;  
(d) the gross carrying amount and the accumulated depreciation (aggregated with accumulated 

impairment losses) at the beginning and end of the reporting period; and 
(e) a reconciliation of the carrying amount at the beginning and end of the reporting period showing 

separately: 
   (i) additions;  

(ii) disposals; 
(iii) acquisitions through business combinations; 
(iv) increases or decreases resulting from revaluations under paragraphs 17.15B–17.15D and 

from impairment losses recognised or reversed in other comprehensive income in 
accordance with Section 27; 

(v) transfers to and from investment property carried at fair value through profit or loss (see 
paragraph 16.8); 

(vi) impairment losses recognised or reversed in profit or loss in accordance with Section 27; 
(vii) depreciation; and  
(viii) other changes.  

This reconciliation need not be presented for prior periods 
 

17.32 An entity shall also disclose the following: 
(a) the existence and carrying amounts of property, plant and equipment to which the entity has 

restricted title or that is pledged as security for liabilities; 
(b) the amount of contractual commitments for the acquisition of property, plant and equipment; and 
(c) if an entity has investment property whose fair value cannot be measured reliably without undue 

cost or effort it shall disclose that fact and the reasons why fair value measurement would 
involve undue cost or effort for those items of investment property. 

  
17.33 If items of property, plant and equipment are stated at revalued amounts, an entity shall disclose the 

following: 
(a) the effective date of the revaluation; 
(b) whether an independent valuer was involved; 
(c) the methods and significant assumptions applied in estimating the items’ fair values; 
(d) for each revalued class of property, plant and equipment, the carrying amount that would have 
been recognised had the assets been carried under the cost model; and 
(e) the revaluation surplus, indicating the change for the period and any restrictions on the 
distribution of the balance to shareholders. 

 
27.32(b) An entity shall disclose the following for each class of assets indicated in paragraph 27.33: (b) the amount 

of reversals of impairment losses recognised in profit or loss during the period and the line item(s) in the 
statement of comprehensive income (and in the income statement, if presented) in which those 
impairment losses are reversed. 

   
 
20.13(a) A lessee shall make the following disclosures for finance leases:  

(a) for each class of asset, the net carrying amount at the end of the reporting period; 
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Disclosure requirements specified by 5th schedule to the Companies Act, 2017 

 
CA 2017 
5th Schd V(1)(i)  The following shall be disclosed in the financial statements, namely:  
 

 1. General information about the company comprising the following:  
 

(ii) Geographical location and address of all business units including Mills/plant;  
 

CA 2017 
5th Schd V(7)  Where any property or asset acquired with the funds of the company and is not held in the 

name of the company or is not in the possession and control of the company, this fact along 
with reasons for the property or asset not being in the name of or possession or control of the 
company shall be stated; and the description and value of the property or asset, the person in 
whose name and possession or control it is held shall be disclosed; 

 
CA 2017 
5th Schd V(10)  In the case of sale of fixed assets, if the aggregate book value of assets exceeds five hundred 

thousand rupees, following particulars of each asset shall be disclosed,__   

(i)  cost or revalued amount, as the case may be;   
(ii) the book value;    
(iii) the sale price and the mode of disposal (e.g. by tender or negotiation);   
(iv) the particulars of the purchaser;    
(v) gain or loss; and 
(vi) relationship, if any of purchaser with company or any of its directors. 
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   Reference 

4. Property, plant and equipment   

 

Freehold 
land 

Lease-hold 
land 

Building 
on 

freehold 
land 

Building 
on 

leasehold 
land 

Plant and 
machinery 

Leasehold 
improve-

ments 

Office 
Equipment 

Furniture 
and 

fixtures 

Computers Motor 
vehicles 

Capital 
Work in 
progress 
(Note 
4.9) 

Total   

 

 …………………………………………………………………………………………………  Rupees …………………………………………………………………………………    

Cost / Revalued xxx xxx xxx xxx xxx      xxx xxx xxx xxx xxx      xxx   xxx 

  

 

Accumulated depreciation and 
impairment - (xxx) (xxx) (xxx) (xxx)  (xxx) (xxx) (xxx) (xxx) (xxx)  (xxx) 

  

 

Carrying amount at January 1, 
20X8-Restated (note 3.25.1) xxx xxx xxx xxx xxx xxx xxx xxx xxx xxx 

             
xxx xxx 

  

17.31(d) 
 
Additions xxx - xxx - xxx      xxx xxx xxx - -   xxx 

   
xxx 

  
17.31(e)(i) 

Revaluation surplus xxx - xxx     - - (xxx) - - - - - xxx   17.31(e)(iv) 
Disposals - carrying amount - - -     - - - - (xxx) (xxx) (xxx) - (xxx)   17.31(e)(ii) 

Transfer (to)/from investment 
property xxx (xxx) xxx (xxx)        xxx 

  

17.31(e)(v) 

Depreciation charge for the year -     xxx xxx xxx xxx xxx xxx xxx xxx xxx xxx xxx    

Impairment - - - - (xxx) - - - - - - (xxx) 
  17.31(e)(iv), 

27.32 

Reversal of impairment - - - - xxx - - - -  - xxx 
  17.31(e)(iv), 

27.32 

Carrying amount at December 
31, 20X8 xxx xxx xxx xxx xxx xxx xxx xxx xxx xxx   xxx   xxx 

  
17.31(d) 

                

The carrying amount as at December 31, 2018 is aggregate of:    

    

Cost / Revalued xxx xxx xxx xxx xxx xxx xxx xxx xxx   xxx  xxx   17.31(d) 
Accumulated depreciation and 

impairment - (xxx) (xxx) (xxx) (xxx) (xxx) (xxx) (xxx) (xxx) (xxx)  (xxx) 
  

17.31(d) 

 
         
xxx          xxx 

         
xxx          xxx          xxx          xxx          xxx 

         
xxx          xxx 

         
xxx          xxx     xxx 

  
 

                
     Rate of depreciation per annum 

(%)             - x x x x x x x x x      -      - 
  

17.3(c) 

    

    

4.1 In November 20X8, the Company purchased freehold land measuring 200 acres in City B. The Company has made the payment for 
acquisition of land and has also obtained the possession of land. However, it is in the process of transferring the legal title to its name. 
At the reporting date the legal title is in the name of seller, Mr. xxxxx. Subsequent to the year on January 20X9, the legal title has been 
transferred to the Company. 

 5th Schd V(7) 
 

    

4.2 Revalued land, building and leasehold improvements   

 
On January 1, 20X5, the Company elected to measure land, buildings and leasehold improvements (classified as property, plant and 
equipment) using the revaluation model. 

 17.33(a) 
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   Reference 

 
The fair value of the Company’s land, buildings and leasehold improvements are determined annually by an independent professionally 
qualified valuer. The valuation is based on an open market value. 

  
17.33(b) 

 

 

The activity in the property markets in which these assets are located provides observable market data on which reliable fair value 
estimates can be derived. In determining the valuation, the valuer refers to current market conditions and recent sales transactions of 
similar properties. In estimating the fair value of the property, the highest and best use of the property is their current use. 

  
17.33(c) 

 

 

The carrying values of the land, buildings and leasehold improvements would have been Rs. xxx, Rs. xxx and Rs. xxx under the cost 
model. 

  
17.33(d) 

 

 

The forced sale value of the revalued of land, building and leasehold improvements has been assessed at Rs. xxx, Rs. xxx and Rs. xxx 
respectively. 

  
5th Sch V(9) 

    

4.3 During the year, the carrying amount of certain items of plant and equipment have been reduced to their recoverable amount through 
recognition of an impairment loss of Rs. xxx. This loss has been included in ‘Administrative and general expenses’ in the statement of 
profit and loss. 

 27.32(a) 

    

4.4 During the year, the Company has reversed impairment loss recognised in prior years on welding equipment included in plant and 
machinery amounting to Rs.xxx. The reversal of impairment loss has been included in 'Administrative and general expenses' in the 
statement of profit and loss. 

 27.32(b) 

    

4.5 The carrying amount of the Company's vehicles includes an amount of Rs. xxx (20X7: Rs. xxx) in respect of assets held under finance 
lease. The lease finance facility is secured over the vehicles to which they relate (note 20.4). 

 20.13(a) 

    

4.6 Freehold land and buildings with aggregate carrying amount of Rs. xxx are subject to a first charge against the loan of Rs. xxx obtained 
from ABC Bank (note 20.1). This charge existed at December 31, 20X7. 

 17.32(a) 

    

4.7 At December 31, 20X8 the Company had contracted Contractor A to construct an office block for the Company. The Rs. xxx fixed price 
contract requires construction to begin by March 01, 20X9 and to be completed by October 15, 20X9. 

 17.32(b) 

    

4.8 Detail of disposals of property, plant and equipment  5th Schd V(I0) 

    

Asset 
 

Cost 
 

Carrying 
amount 

Sale price 
Gain / (loss) 
on disposal 

Particulars of 
the purchaser 

Mode of 
disposal 

Relationship 
with the 

purchaser 
 

 
 

 ……………..…………….. Rs. ..………… ..……………    

Laptop xxx xxx xxx xxx Khurram Ali Company policy Employee    

Motor vehicle xxx xxx xxx (xxx) Mars Insurance 
company 

Insurance claim Insurance 
provider 

   

Motor vehicle xxx xxx xxx (xxx) Mr. Adeel 
Frahan 

Auction Brother of  
Director 

   

Motor vehicle xxx xxx xxx (xxx) Mr. JZB Company policy Ex-Employee    

Furniture xxx xxx xxx xxx 
Kamyab 
Brothers 

Auction None  
 

 

 xxx xxx xxx (xxx)       
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      Reference 

    20X8   
  Note  (Rupees)   

4.9 Capital Work in Progress      
       
 Construction work on head office building   (xxx)   
 Advances for procurement of machinery   xxx   

    xxx   

       
4.10 Depreciation for the year has been allocated as follows:      
       
 Cost of sales 29  xxx   
 Marketing and distribution expenses 31  xxx   
 Administrative and general expenses 32  xxx   

    xxx   

       
5. Investment property - at cost       
       
 Cost    xxx  17.31 
 Accumulated depreciation and impairment   xxx   

    xxx  17.31(d) 
 Additions     17.31(e)(i) 
 Disposals - carrying amount   xxx  17.31(e)(ii) 
 Depreciation charge for the year 32  xxx  17.31(e)(vii) 
 Transfer (to)/from property, plant and equipment   xxx  17.31(e)(v) 
 Transfer (to)/from investment property at fair value   xxx  17.31(e)(v) 
 (Impairment)/Reversal of impairment   -  17.31(e)(iv) 

 Carrying amount as at December 31, 20X8   xxx  17.31(d) 

       
 The carrying amount as at December 31, 20x8 is aggregate of:      
 Cost / Revalued amount   xxx   
 Accumulated depreciation and impairment   xxx   

    xxx  17.31(d) 

       
 Rate of depreciation (%)      x  17.31(c) 

       
5.1 This represents freehold land and building owned by the Company. The property is not occupied 

by the Company and is held for capital appreciation. The Company carries this investment property 
under cost model as its fair value cannot be reliably determined without undue cost or effort as 
there is no active market for this property and a recent comparable transaction for identical 
property is also not available. 

 16.10 

    
5.2 Depreciation on this building is calculated using straight line method to allocate the cost less its 

residual value over its estimated useful life of xx years. 
 17.31(b)(c) 

    
5.3 Forced sale value of the investment property is assessed at Rs. xxx (20X7: Rx. xxx)   
    
5.4 The depreciation on investment property measured at cost is charged to ‘Administrative and 

General expenses. 
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                                         6. Investment property – at fair value                                                   

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 
Disclosure requirements the IFRS for SMEs 
 
16.10  An entity shall disclose the following for all investment property accounted for at fair value through profit 

or loss (paragraph 16.7): 
(a) the methods and significant assumptions applied in determining the fair value of investment          
property. 
(b) the extent to which the fair value of investment property (as measured or disclosed in the financial 
statements) is based on a valuation by an independent valuer who holds a recognised and relevant 
professional qualification and has recent experience in the location and class of the investment property 
being valued. If there has been no such valuation, that fact shall be disclosed. 
(c) the existence and amounts of restrictions on the realisability of investment property or the remittance 
of income and proceeds of disposal. 
(d) contractual obligations to purchase, construct or develop investment property or for repairs, 
maintenance or enhancements. 
(e) a reconciliation between the carrying amounts of investment property at the beginning and end of the 
period, showing separately: 
       (i) additions, disclosing separately those additions resulting from acquisitions through business   
combinations; 
      (ii) net gains or losses from fair value adjustments; 
     (iii) transfers to and from investment property carried at cost less accumulated depreciation and  
impairment (see paragraph (16.8); 
     (iv) transfers to and from inventories and owner-occupied property; and 
     (v) other changes. 
This reconciliation need not be presented for prior periods. 

 
Disclosure requirements specified by 5th schedule to the Companies Act, 2017 

 

CA 2017 
5th Schd V(9)  Forced sale value shall be disclosed separately in case of revaluation of Property, Plant and 

Equipment or investment property. 
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 20X8  Reference 

        Note  (Rupees)   

6. Investment property - at fair value        
  

           
  

 Carrying amount as at January 1, 20X8      
 xxx  16.10(e) 

 Additions - Subsequent expenditure      
 xxx  16.10(e)(i) 

 
Transfers to and from investment property carried at cost less accumulated 
 amortisation and impairment 

 
- 

 
16.10(e)(iii) 

 Transfers to and from inventories and owner-occupied property  -  16.10(e)(iv) 

 Net gain/(loss) from fair value adjustment     30 
 xxx  16.10(e)(ii) 

 Other changes   
 

 -  16.10(e)(v) 

 Carrying amount as at December 31, 20X8       xxx  16.10(e) 

          
6.1 The fair value of investment property is determined at the end of each year by independent suitably 

qualified valuer with recent valuation experience in the concerned location using current market 
prices for comparable real estate, adjusted for any differences in nature, location and condition.  

 16.10(a)(b) 

   

    

6.2 Investment property with a carrying amount of Rs. xxx are subject to first charge against loan of Rs. 
xxxx (20X7: Rs. xxxx) from ABC Bank. This charge existed as at December 31, 20X7.  

 16.10(c)(d) 

   
 

 

  
6.3 During the year, the Company planned expansion of property A. On December 20, 20X8 the Company 

had contracted Entity D to construct an office block on vacant land owned by the Company. The Rs. 
xxxx fixed price contract requires construction to commence by March 31, 20X9 and to be completed 
by September 30, 20XX. There were no contractual commitments at 31 December 20X7. 

 17.32(b) 

   

   

              
 There is no restriction on the realisability of its investment properties and no contractual obligations 

to purchase, construct or develop investment properties or for repairs, maintenance and 
enhancements. 

 16.10(c)(d) 

   

              
6.4 Forced sale value of the investment property is assessed at Rs. xxx (20X7: Rx. xxx)  5th Sch 

V(9) 
              

6.5 The non-cancellable fixed rate operating leases over the Company’s investment property, land and 
buildings were entered into at market rates with independent third parties. 

 16.11, 
20.30 

      20X9 2X10–2X13 after 2X13   

The minimum lease payments receivable under non-
cancellable operating leases xxx Xxx xxx 
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                                         7. Intangible assets                                                                     
 
Disclosure requirements the IFRS for SMEs 
 
18.27  An entity shall disclose the following for each class of intangible assets: 

(a) the useful lives or the amortisation rates used; 
(b) the amortisation methods used; 
(c) the gross carrying amount and any accumulated amortisation (aggregated with accumulated impairment 
losses) at the beginning and end of the reporting period; 
(d) the line item(s) in the statement of comprehensive income (and in the income statement, if presented) 
in which any amortisation of intangible assets is included; and 
(e) a reconciliation of the carrying amount at the beginning and end of the reporting period showing 
separately: 
(i) additions; 
(ii) disposals; 
(iii) acquisitions through business combinations; 
(iv) amortisation; 
(v) impairment losses; and 
(vi) other changes. 
This reconciliation need not be presented for prior periods. 

18.28  An entity shall also disclose: 
(a) a description, the carrying amount and remaining amortisation period of any individual intangible asset 
that is material to the entity’s financial statements; 
(b) for intangible assets acquired by way of a government grant and initially recognised at fair value (see 
paragraph 18.12): 

(i) the fair value initially recognised for these assets; and 
(ii) their carrying amounts. 

(c) the existence and carrying amounts of intangible assets to which the entity has restricted title or that 
are pledged as security for liabilities; and 
(d) the amount of contractual commitments for the acquisition of intangible assets. 

 
18.29  An entity shall disclose the aggregate amount of research and development expenditure recognised as an 

expense during the period (ie the amount of expenditure incurred internally on research and development 
that has not been capitalised as part of the cost of another asset that meets the recognition criteria in this 
Standard).  
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7. Intangible assets       Reference 

       

Computer 
Softwares 

Trademarks Total  
 

        .................... (Rupees) ................   

 Cost      xxx xxx xxx   
 Accumulated amortization   xxx xxx xxx  18.27(c ) 
 Carrying amount as at January 1, 20X8  xxx xxx xxx  18.27(c ) 
            
 Additions       xxx xxx xxx  18.27(e)(i) 

 
Disposals – carrying amount                   -    (xxx)                     

-    
 18.27(e)(ii) 

 Amortization charge for the year   xxx xxx xxx  18.27(e)(iv) 

 

 
Impairment  

                   
 -    

               
 -    

                    
-    

  
18.27(e)(v), 

19.26(b) 

 
Accumulated amortization of assets disposed of during 
the year 

- xxx -  18.27(e)(ii) 

 Carrying amount as at December 31, 20X8  xxx xxx xxx  18.27(c ) 

 Amortization rate per annum (%)   x x   18.27(a) 

    
7.1 Computer softwares relate to the inventory system purchased in 20X6 and have a remaining useful 

life of x years.  
 

18.28(a) 

           
  

7.2 At December 31, 20X8, the Company’s software was pledged as security for a Rs. xxx loan from 
entity B. This pledge also existed at December 31, 20X7. 

 18.28(c) 
   

           
  

7.3 In December 20X8, the Company signed an agreement to acquire a patent from entity A, at the 
agreed date (i.e. on May 15, 20X9), for Rs. xxx. The Company had no contractual commitments for 
the acquisition of intangible assets at December 31, 20X7. 

 18.28(d) 
  

 

           
  

7.4 Amortization for the year has been allocated as follows:  18.27(d) 
 

         20X8   
 

       Note  (Rupees)   

 Cost of sales   29  xxx   
 Administrative and general expenses   32  xxx   

 
    xxx   

 
          

  
7.5 Detail of disposals of intangible assets   
         

 

Asset Cost 

Carrying 
amount 

Sale 
price  

Gain / 
(loss) 

on 
disposal 

Particulars of 
the purchaser 

Mode of 
disposal 

Relationship 
with the 

purchaser 

  

  
Trademark 
SAM xxx xxx xxx xxx 

Old Engineering 
Co. Ltd 

Negotiation  None 
  

 

 
Trademark
AMY xxx xxx xxx xxx 

New Electric 
Traders Co. Ltd 

Negotiation  Competitor 
  

  xxx xxx xxx xxx      
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 8. Investments in associates, jointly controlled entity and other investments                                                      
 
Disclosure requirements the IFRS for SMEs 
 
11.41(c)(e) An entity shall disclose the carrying amounts of each of the following categories of financial assets and 

financial liabilities at the reporting date, in total, either in the statement of financial position or in 
the notes: 
(c) financial assets that are equity instruments measured at cost less impairment (paragraph 
11.14(c)(ii) and paragraphs 12.8 and 12.9); 
(e) financial liabilities measured at amortised cost (paragraph 11.14(a)) 

 
11.43   For all financial assets and financial liabilities measured at fair value, the entity shall disclose the basis for 

determining fair value, for example, quoted market price in an active market or a valuation technique. 
When a valuation technique is used, the entity shall disclose the assumptions applied in determining fair 
value for each class of financial assets or financial liabilities. For example, if applicable, an entity discloses 
information about the assumptions relating to prepayment rates, rates of estimated credit losses, and 
interest rates or discount rates. 

11.46  When an entity has pledged financial assets as collateral for liabilities or contingent liabilities, it shall disclose 
the following: 
(a) the carrying amount of the financial assets pledged as collateral; and 
(b) the terms and conditions relating to its pledge. 

14.4   An investor shall account for all of its investments in associates using one of the following: 

(a) the cost model in paragraph; 
(b) the equity method in paragraph; or 
(c) the fair value model in paragraph. 

 
14.12(b)(c) An entity shall disclose the following: 

(b) the carrying amount of investments in associates (see paragraph 4.2(j)); and 
(c) the fair value of investments in associates accounted for using the equity method for which there 
are published price quotations. 

15.9   An investor shall account for all of its investments in associates using one of the following: 

(a) the cost model in paragraph; 
(b) the equity method in paragraph 15.13; or 
(c) the fair value model in paragraph 15.14. 

 
Disclosure requirements specified by 5th schedule to the Companies Act, 2017 
 
CA 2017 
5th Schd V(1)(iv)  Names of associated companies or related parties or undertakings, with whom the company had 

entered into transactions or had agreements and / or arrangements in place during the financial 
year, along with the basis of relationship describing common directorship and percentage of 
shareholding; 

 
CA 2017 
5th Schd V(2)  In respect of associated companies, subsidiaries, joint ventures or holding companies incorporated 

outside Pakistan, with whom the company had entered into transactions or had agreements and / 
or arrangements in place during the financial year, name of undertaking, registered address and 
country of incorporation;  shall be disclosed; 

 
CA 2017 
5th Schd V(11)  A statement as to whether the investments in associated companies or undertakings have been 

made in accordance with the requirements under the Act; 
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        Reference 
    20X8  20X7   
  Note  (Rupees)  (Rupees)   

         
8. Investment in associates       14.12 

         
 Carrying amount at January 1   xxx  xxx   
 Investment made during the year   xxx  xxx   

 Carrying amount at December 31   xxx  xxx  14.12(b) 

         
8.1 The Company owns 25% shares of Foreign Land Company which is incorporated in Foreign Land 

and listed on Bullish Stock Exchange. Its registered office is situated at 123, ABC Road, Foreign 
Land.   

 5th Schd 
V(2)  

         

 
The short term running finance facility of Rs. xxx (20X7: Rs. xxx) obtained from Bank B is 
secured against the shares of Foreign Land Company Limited.  

 
11.46 

    
8.2 The investments in associated companies have been made in accordance with the requirements 

of the Companies Act, 2017. 
 5th Schd 

V(11) 
    20X8  20X7   
  Note  (Rupees)  (Rupees)   

         
9. Investment in jointly controlled entity        

 Carrying amount  9.1  xxx  xxx   

    
    

9.1 This represents investment JCE (Private) Limited, which was formed under the Joint Venture 
Agreement between the Company and the Strong Limited. The Company and the Strong Limited 
each own 50% of its share capital and have joint control under the terms of the Joint Venture 
Agreement.  

 5th Schd 
V(1)(iv) 

    
    20X8  20X7   
  Note  (Rupees)  (Rupees)   

         
10. Other long term investments        
         
 Equity investment 10.1  xxx  xxx  11.41(c) 
 Term deposit receipts (TDRs) 10.2  xxx  xxx  11.41(e) 

    xxx  xxx   

         
10.1 This represents 15% Ordinary shares of Loyal Company Limited, held by the Company.   
         
10.2 These represent investments in local currency TDRs. Rs. xxx of the investments are due to 

mature within next 12 months. The TDRs carry mark up at x% (20X7:x%) per annum payable 
quarterly in arrears. As stated in note 25, TDRs of Rs. xxx are given as security against running 
finance facility arranged with Bank A. 
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                                         11. Long term loans and advances                                                                  
 
Disclosure requirements the IFRS for SMEs 
 
11.41(e) An entity shall disclose the carrying amounts of each of the following categories of financial assets and 

financial liabilities at the reporting date, in total, either in the statement of financial position or in the 
notes: 
(e) financial liabilities measured at amortised cost 

Disclosure requirements specified by 5th schedule to the Companies Act, 2017 
 
CA 2017 
5th Schd V(5)  In cases where company has given loans or advances or has made investments (both short term and 

long term) in foreign companies or undertakings name of the company or undertaking along with 
jurisdiction where it is located shall be disclosed; 

CA 2017 
5th Schd V(14)  In respect of loans and advances to associates and related parties there shall be disclosed,  

(i) the name of each associate and related party;   
(ii) the terms of loans and advances;   
(iii) the particulars of collateral security held, if any;   
(iv) the maximum aggregate amount outstanding at any time during the year calculated by reference 
to month-end balances;   
(v) provisions for doubtful loans and advances; and  
(vi) loans and advances written off, if any. 

 

         Reference 

     20X8  20X7   
 

  Note  (Rupees)  (Rupees)   

11. Long term loans and advances      
 11.41(e) 

        
  

 Related parties 11.1  xxx  xxx   

 Employees 11.2  xxx  xxx   

     xxx  xxx   

        
  

11.1 Long term loans to related parties     
 5th Schd 

V(14) 

      
  

 Directors 11.1.1  xxx  xxx   

 Holding company 11.1.2  xxx  xxx   

 Associated companies 11.1.3  xxx  xxx   

 
Less:  Due within 12 months, shown under current loans 
and advances 15  (xxx)  (xxx) 

 
 

   xxx  xxx   

      
  

11.1.1 Long term loans to directors     
 5th Schd V(12) 

      
  

 

The Company's Board of Directors has adopted a policy that there should be no loans to 
Directors, except for loans to fund expenditure to defend directors in legal or regulatory 
proceedings. The loans provided are unsecured and bear interest at six month KIBOR + 1.5% 
(20X7: six month KIBOR + 1.5%) per annum. The effective interest rate was 6% (20X7: 6.5%) per 
annum. All the related requirements of the Companies Act, 2017 have been complied with. The 
reconciliation of the carrying amount at the beginning and end of the period is as under: 
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    20X8  20X7  Reference 

  Note  (Rupees)  (Rupees)   

       
  

 Balance at the beginning of the year   xxx  xxx   

 Disbursements   xxx  -   

 Receipts   (xxx)  xxx   

 Balance at the end of the year   xxx  xxx   

       
  

 
The maximum amount due as at the end of any month during the year was Rs. xxx (20X7: Rs. 
xxx). 

 
 

    

11.1.2 Long term loan to holding company     

 5th Schd 
V(14) 

      
  

 

The loan to the holding company is unsecured and bears interest at six month KIBOR + 1.5% 
(20X7: six month KIBOR + 1.5%) per annum. The effective interest rate was 6% (20X7: 6.5%) per 
annum. The first repayment of Rs. xxxx is due on June 30, 20X9 and the remainder is repayable 
on December 31, 20X9. 

 

 

      
  

 
The maximum amount due as at the end of any month during the year was Rs. xxx (20X7: Rs. 
XXX). 

 
 

        

    20X8  20X7   

  Note  (Rupees)  (Rupees)   

11.1.3 Due from associated companies      

 5th Schd 
V(14) 

       
  

 
The loans to associated companies are as per below 
details:      

 
 

 Pak Land Company Limited 11.1.4  xxx  xxx   

 Pak Zameen Company Limited 11.1.5  xxx  xxx   

 Foreign Land Company Limited 11.1.6  xxx  xxx   

 Less: Provisions for doubtful loans    -  -   

 Loans written off   -  -   

    xxx  xxx   

         
11.1.4 Loan amounting to Rs. xxxx remains outstanding at December 31, 20X8 (20X7: Rs. xxx) from Pak 

Land Company Limited. The loan is unsecured and interest on this loan is charged at a fixed 
rate of 5% per year. The loan is repayable in full on December 31, 20XX. The maximum amount 
due as at the end of any month during the year was Rs. xxx (20X7: Rs. XXX). 

 

 

        
11.1.5 Loan amounting to Rs. xxxx remains outstanding at December 31, 20X8 (20X7: Rs. xxx) from Pak 

Zameen Company Limited. The loan carries mark-up @ 6% (20X7: 6%) per annum and secured 
against the land and machinery. The Company has provided the loan to Pak Zameen Limited for 
the procurement and installation of its new plant, at terms other than arm’s length basis as Pak 
Zameen Limited has no revenue generating stream. In accordance with the terms of the 
agreement the loan is repayable in two annual installments, due on December 31, 20X9 and 
20XX. The maximum amount due as at the end of any month during the year was Rs. xxx (20X7: 
Rs. xxx). 
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11.1.6 Loan amounting to Rs. xxxx (equivalent USD XXXX) remains outstanding at December 31, 20X8 
(20X7: Rs. xxx) (equivalent USD XXX) from Foreign Land Company Limited. 

 5th Schd 
V(14) 

        

 

The loan is unsecured and repayable in full on December 31, 20XX. The interest is charged at a 
fixed rate of 2% per year, and during the year the Company earned interest of Rs. xxxx (20X7: 
Rs. xxx). The maximum amount due as at the end of any month during the year was Rs. xxx 
(20X7: Rs. XXX).  Interest amount to Rs. xxx was earned during the year, included in finance 
income. 

 5th Schd 
V(14) 

        

11.2 Long term loans to employees       

  
  

 

The loans are granted to the employees of the Company in accordance with the Company’s 
employment rules as house building and conveyance loans. These loans are for maximum period 
of 10 and 3 years, respectively. These loans are secured against the underlying assets. The loans 
carry an effective interest rate of 5% (20x7: 5.5%) per annum. 

 

 

         

    20X8  20X7   

    (Rupees)  (Rupees)   

12. Long-term deposits and prepayments        

         

 Deposits   xxx  xxx   

 Prepayments   xxx  xxx   

    xxx  xxx   
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                                         13. Inventories                                                                           
 
Disclosure requirements in the IFRS for SMEs 

 

4.11(c) An entity shall disclose, either in the statement of financial position or in the notes, the following 
sub-classifications of the line items presented: 

(c) inventories, showing separately amounts of inventories: 
(i) held for sale in the ordinary course of business; 
(ii) in the process of production for such sale; and 
(iii) in the form of materials or supplies to be consumed in the production process or in the 

rendering of services. 
 
13.22(b)(e)     An entity shall disclose the following: 

(b) the total carrying amount of inventories and the carrying amount in classifications appropriate 
to the entity; 

(c) the amount of inventories recognised as an expense during the period; 
(d) impairment losses recognised or reversed in profit or loss in accordance with Section 27 

Impairment of Assets; and 
(e) the total carrying amount of inventories pledged as security for liabilities. 
 

 

 

                Reference  

            20X8  20X7   

          Note  (Rupees)  (Rupees)    

13. Inventories                 
                  

 Raw materials          xxx  xxx 
 4.11(c), 

13.22(b) 
 Consumable stores          xxx  xxx    
 Work in progress          xxx  xxx  4.11(c ) 
 Finished goods           xxx  xxx  4.11(c ) 

            xxx  xxx    

               
   

13.1 The cost of inventories recognised as expense amounted to Rs. xxx (20X7: Rs. xxx).  13.22(c) 
     

13.2 The write down of inventories to net realizable value amounted to Rs. xxx (20X7: Rs. xxx).   13.22(d) 
     

13.3 The Company reversed Rs. xxx of a previous inventory write-down in July 20X7. The Company has 
sold all the finished goods that were written down to an independent retailer in Singapore at 
original cost. 

 13.22(d) 

     
13.4 At December 31, 20X8 Rs. xxx (20X7: Rs. xxx) of the Company’s raw material was pledged as 

security for a Rs. xxx loan from ABC Bank (note 20.1). 
 13.22(e) 
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                                         14. Trade and other receivables                                                                          
 
Disclosure requirements specified by 5th schedule to the Companies Act, 2017 

 
CA 2017 
5th Schd V(15)    In respect of debts/receivables from associates and related parties there shall be disclosed, 

(i)  the name of each associate and related party;   
(ii)  the maximum aggregate amount outstanding at any time during the year calculated by reference 

to month-end balances;  
(iii)  receivables, that are either past due or impaired, along with age analysis distinguishing between 

trade debts, loans, advances and other receivables;  
(iv) debts written off as irrecoverable, distinguishing between trade debts and other receivables;   
(v)   provisions for doubtful or bad debts distinguishing between trade debts, loans, advances and 

other receivables; and  
(vi)   justification for reversal of provisions of doubtful debts, if any; 

CA 2017 
5th Schd V(16)  Provision, if any, made for bad or doubtful loans and advances or for diminution in the value of or 

loss in respect of any asset shall be shown as a deduction from the gross amounts; 

 

             Reference 

           Restated    

    20X8  20X7    

 
 

     Note  (Rupees)  
(Rupees

) 
 

  

14. Trade and other receivables          
          

 
Trade receivables  

 

14.1 & 
14.2  xxx  xxx 

 
  

               

 
Other receivables 

14.3 & 
14.4   xxx  xxx 

 
  

         xxx  xxx    

 Less: Allowance for impairment of trade receivables   (xxx)  (xxx) 
 5th Schd 

V(16) 

         xxx  xxx    

   
14.1 Trade receivables from related parties  

         
   

 

Name of 
related 
party 

Gross 
amount 

due 

Past 
due 

amount 

Provision 
for 

doubtful 
receivables 

Reversal of 
provision of 

doubtful 
receivables  

Amount 
due written 

off 

Net 
amoun
t due 

Maximum 
amount 

outstanding at 
any time during 

the year 

 5th Schd 
V(15)(i)(ii)(iii

)(iv)(v) 

 
 

  

 ..................................... Rupees ............................ 

 

Foreign 
Land 
Company 
Ltd 

Xxx xxx                   
-    

 -   -  xxx xxx 

 

  

 

Pak Land 
Company 
Ltd Xxx xxx xxx xxx  -  xxx xxx 

 

  

  Xxx xxx xxx xxx  -                    xxx xxx    
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14.2 Age analysis of trade receivables from related parties 

 

  5th 
Schd 

V(15)(iii) 

 

Amo
unt 
Not 
past 
due 

  

  Amount Past due Total gross 
amount due 

 

  
  
  

Past due 
0-30 days 

Past due 
31-60 
days 

Past due 
61-90 days 

Past due 91-
365 days 

Past due 
365 days 

 

 
Foreign Land 
Company Ltd xxx xxx  -  xxx - - xxx 

 
  

 
Pak Land 
Company Ltd xxx xxx - 

                 
-    - - xxx 

 
  

  xxx xxx -                  xxx                  -        -   xxx    

 
 
During the year, provision for doubtful trade receivables due from Pak Land Company Limited, 
amounting to Rs. xxx has been reversed. This provision has been reversed as the Company received 
the due amount of Rs. xxx from Pak Land Company Limited on September 30, 20X8. 

  

 

 5th Schd 
V(15)(iv) 

    

         
14.3 Other receivables from related parties       

        

 

Name of 
related 
party 

Gross 
amount 

due 

Past due 
amount 

Provision 
for 

doubtful 
receivable
s/ loans 

Reversal of 
provision of 

doubtful 
receivables / 

loans 

Amount 
due 

written 
off 

Net 
amount 

due 

Maximum amount 
outstanding at any 

time during the 
year 

 5th Schd 
V(15)(i)(ii
)(iii)(iv) 

 
Other 
receivables        

 
  

 

Pak Land 
Company 
Limited xxx xxx xxx - xxx xxx xxx 

 

  

         
 

  

  xxx xxx xxx xxx   xxx xxx 
 

  

    

14.4 Age analysis of other receivables from related parties    

    

   

Not 
past 
due 

  

Past due Total gross 
amount due 

 5th 
Schd 

V(15)(iii
) 

 
  Past due 

0-30 days 
Past due 

31-60 
days 

Past due 61-
90 days 

Past due 
91-365 
days 

Past 
due 
365 
days 

 
  

 

   

  

 
Pak Land Company 
Limited xxx xxx -                  -    - - xxx 

 
  

 
   

 
This represents receivable in respect of various expenses incurred for Pak Land Company Limited, a 
related party, which is repayable on December 31, 20X9. There is no security for this receivable. 

 5th 
Schd 

V(14)(iii
)  
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                                         15. Prepayment and advances                                                                          
 
Disclosure requirements specified by 5th schedule to the Companies Act, 2017 

 
CA 2017 
5th Schd V(14)  In respect of loans and advances to associates and related parties there shall be disclosed,  

(i) the name of each associate and related party;   
(ii) the terms of loans and advances;   
(iii) the particulars of collateral security held, if any;   
(iv) the maximum aggregate amount outstanding at any time during the year calculated by reference 
to month-end balances;   
(v) provisions for doubtful loans and advances; and  
(vi) loans and advances written off, if any. 

 

       Reference  

    20X8  20X7   

  Note  (Rupees)  (Rupees)    

15. Prepayments and advances      
  

       
  

 Advances to suppliers      
   

 A related party 15.1  xxx  xxx    

 Other parties   xxx  xxx    

    xxx  xxx    
 Short-term deposits   xxx  xxx   

 Prepayments   xxx  xxx    

 Insurance claim   
xxx  xxx   

 General sales tax – net   
xxx  xxx   

 Current portion of long term loans and advances 11.1  xxx  xxx    

 Less: Allowance for impairment of advances to suppliers   (xxx)  (xxx)   

    xxx  xxx   

    

15.1 This represents amount advanced to Jupiter Company Limited, for supply of material. The advance 
is secured against the plant of the Jupiter Company Limited. The maximum amount of advance 
month outstanding at the end of any month was Rs. xxx (2007: Rs. xxx). The entire amount of the 
advance is considered good.  
 

 5th Schd 
V(14) 
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                                         16. Other financial assets                                                                     
 
Disclosure requirements in the IFRS for SMEs 
 
11.41(a)(b) An entity shall disclose the carrying amounts of each of the following categories of financial assets 

and financial liabilities at the reporting date, in total, either in the statement of financial position 
or in the notes: 
 
(a) financial assets measured at fair value through profit or loss (paragraph 11.14(c)(i) and paragraphs 

12.8 and 12.9); 
 
(b) financial assets that are debt instruments measured at amortised cost (paragraph 11.14(a)); 

 

               Reference  

           20X8 
(Rupees) 

20X7 
(Rupees) 

   

                

16. Other financial assets       
 11.41(a)

(b) 

          

 La Liga Fund xxx units (2007: xxx units)     xxx xxx    

 
Premier League Company Limited xxx units (2007: xxx 
units)   xxx xxx 

 
  

 Current portion of TDRs         xxx xxx    

             xxx xxx    

                  

 
These investments are stated at fair value at the year-end, using the year-end redemption and 
share prices. 

   

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

  



 

Illustrative Financial Statements for MSEs 

66 

 

                                         17. Cash and bank balances                                                                     
 
Disclosure requirements in the IFRS for SMEs 
 
7.20 An entity shall present the components of cash and cash equivalents and shall present a reconciliation of the 

amounts presented in the statement of cash flows to the equivalent items presented in the statement of 
financial position. However, an entity is not required to present this reconciliation if the amount of cash and 
cash equivalents presented in the statement of cash flows is identical to the amount similarly described in the 
statement of financial position.  

 

        Reference 

    20X8  20X7    

     (Rupees)  (Rupees)    

17. Cash and bank balances      
   

       
  

 Cash at bank      
   

 Current accounts    xxx  xxx    

 Bank deposits   xxx  xxx  7.2 

      xxx  xxx   

 Cash on hand     xxx  xxx    

       xxx  xxx    

    
17.1 Cash and cash equivalents   
 Cash, cash equivalents and short-term borrowings (used for cash management purposes) include 

the following for the purposes of the cash flow statement: 
   

    

         20X8  20X7   

       Note  (Rupees)  (Rupees)   

              

 Cash and bank balances        xxx  xxx    

 Short-term running finance      25.3  (xxx)  (xxx)    

              xxx  xxx    
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                                         18. Share capital                                                                        
 
Disclosure requirements in the IFRS for SMEs 
 
4.11(f) An entity shall disclose, either in the statement of financial position or in the notes, the following 

subclassifications of the line items presented: 
(f) classes of equity, such as paid-in capital, share premium, retained earnings and items of income and 

expense that, as required by this Standard, are recognised in other comprehensive income and 
presented separately in equity. 

 
4.12(a) An entity with share capital shall disclose the following, either in the statement of financial position or in 

the notes: 
(a) for each class of share capital: 

(i) the number of shares authorised. 
(ii) the number of shares issued and fully paid, and issued but not fully paid. 
(iii) par value per share or that the shares have no par value. 
(iv) a reconciliation of the number of shares outstanding at the beginning and at the end of the 

period. This reconciliation need not be presented for prior periods. 
(v) the rights, preferences and restrictions attaching to that class including restrictions on the 

distribution of dividends and the repayment of capital. 
(vi) shares in the entity held by the entity or by its subsidiaries or associates. 
(vii) shares reserved for issue under options and contracts for the sale of shares, including the 

terms and amounts. 
 
CA 2017 
5th Schd V(18)   In respect of issued share capital of a company following shall be disclosed separately:  

(i) shares allotted for consideration paid in cash;  
(ii) shares allotted for consideration other than cash, showing separately shares            issued 

against property and others (to be specified);   
(iii) shares allotted as bonus shares; and  
(iv) treasury shares;  

 
CA 2017 
5th Schd V(19)  Shareholder agreements for voting rights, board selection, rights of first refusal, and block voting 

shall be disclosed. 
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    Reference 

18.  Share capital   4.11(f) 

     

18.1  Authorised share capital     

     

 
Authorised share capital comprises of xxxxxx (20X7: xxxxx) ordinary shares of Rs. 10 each, and xxxx 
(20X7: xxxx) preference shares of Rs. 10 each. 

  4.12(a)(i) 

18.1.1 In pursuance of the agreement between the Heavenly Company Limited and shareholder B, xxxx 
ordinary shares of Rs. 10 each were transferred to Shareholder B on June 30, 20X7. Consequent to 
this, Shareholder B has 20% shareholding of the Company. The share transfer agreement also 
entitles shareholder B with first refusal right in which any shares to be sold in future by the 
Heavenly Company Limited have to be first offered to shareholder B.  

 5th Schd V(19) 

 

  

  

          

18.2  Issued, subscribed and paid up capital          

       20X8  20X7    

       Rupees  Rupees    

 Issued, subscribed and paid up capital comprises of:         

 Ordinary share capital   xxx  xxx    

 Preference share capital   xxx  xxx    

       xxx  xxx    

             

18.2 .1 The breakup of ordinary and preference share capital is as follows:       

             

 20X8  20X7    20X8  20X7    

 Numbers  Numbers  Note  Rupees  Rupees    

    Ordinary shares          

 xxx  xxx 
Ordinary shares of Rs. 10 each paid in 
cash    xxx 

 
xxx 

  4.12(a)(iii), 5th 
Schd V(18)(i) 

 

xxx  xxx Ordinary shares of Rs. 10 each issued 
at premium of Rs. 2 per share, paid 
in cash    

xxx  xxx   4.12(a)(iii), 5th 
Schd V(18)(i) 

 

xxx  xxx Ordinary shares of Rs. 10 each issued 
at discount of Rs. 4 per share, paid in 
cash    

xxx  xxx   4.12(a)(iii), 5th 
Schd V(18)(i) 

 

xxx  xxx Ordinary shares issued as fully paid 
for consideration other than cash 
(against property)    

xxx  xxx   4.12(a)(iii), 5th 
Schd V(18)(ii) 

 
xxx 

 
xxx Ordinary shares allotted as bonus 

shares     
xxx  xxx   5th Schd 

V(18)(iii) 

 xxx  xxx    xxx  xxx   4.12(a)(ii) 

    Preference shares          

 xxx  xxx 
Ordinary shares of Rs. 10 each paid in 
cash    xxx 

 
xxx 

  4.12(a)(iii), 5th 
Schd V(18)(i) 
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        Reference 

    20X8  20X7   

    Numbers  Numbers   

18.2.2 Reconciliation of number of shares outstanding       4.12(a)(iv)  

 Ordinary shares      
   

 
Number of shares outstanding at the beginning of the 
year   xxx  xxx 

 
  

 Issued for cash   xxx  xxx    

 Issued for consideration other than cash   xxx  xxx   

 Number of shares outstanding at the end of the year   xxx  xxx    

      

 Preference shares    

 
Number of shares outstanding at the beginning of the 
year   xxx  xxx 

 
 

 Issued for cash   -  -   

 Issued for consideration other than cash   -  -   

 Number of shares outstanding at the end of the year   xxx  xxx   

     

18.2.3 Pursuant, to a covenant contained in the long-term loan agreement with ABC Bank Limited, the 
Company is prevented from the distribution of dividends when the Company’s current ratio 
(current assets ÷ current liabilities) is less than 3:1. 

  
4.12(a)(v) 
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                       19. Surplus on revaluation of property, plant and equipment                                                                             
 
Disclosure requirements in the IFRS for SMEs 
 
17.33     If items of property, plant and equipment are stated at revalued amounts, an entity shall disclose the 

following: 
(e) the revaluation surplus, indicating the change for the period and any restrictions on the distribution 

of the balance to shareholders. 
 

 

       Reference  
19. Revaluation surplus on property, plant and equipment     17.33(e) 

    

 
The revaluation surplus on property, plant and equipment is restated and now presented as a 
separate capital reserve in the financial statements (note 3.25.2). 

 
  

     Reference   

   20X8  20X7   

   Rupees  Rupees   

        

 Balance as at January, 1  xxx  xxx    

 Surplus/(deficit) arising on revaluation :        

 Land  xxx  xxx   

 Buildings  xxx  xxx   

 Leasehold improvements  (xxx)  xxx   

   xxx  xxx   

 Deferred tax on surplus/(deficit) arising on revaluation   xxx  xxx   

 
Revaluation surplus transferred to unappropriated profit on 
account of incremental depreciation (net of tax)  (xxx)  (xxx) 

 
 

   xxx  xxx    

        
19.1 The revaluation surplus on property, plant and equipment is a capital reserve, and is not available 

for distribution to the shareholders in accordance with section 241 of the Companies Act, 2017. 
 5th Sch – 

(17) 
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                                         20. Long-term financing                                                                
 
Disclosure requirements in the IFRS for SMEs 
 
11.41(e) An entity shall disclose the carrying amounts of each of the following categories of financial assets and 

financial liabilities at the reporting date, in total, either in the statement of financial position or in the 
notes: 

(e) financial liabilities measured at amortised cost (paragraph 11.14(a)); 
 
11.42 An entity shall disclose information that enables users of its financial statements to evaluate the 

significance of financial instruments for its financial position and performance. For example, for long-term 
debt such information would normally include the terms and conditions of the debt instrument (such as 
interest rate, maturity, repayment schedule, and restrictions that the debt instrument imposes on the 
entity). 

 
20.23 A lessor shall make the following disclosures for finance leases: 

(a) a reconciliation between the gross investment in the lease at the end of the reporting period and 
the present value of minimum lease payments receivable at the end of the reporting period. In 
addition, a lessor shall disclose the gross investment in the lease and the present value of minimum 
lease payments receivable at the end of the reporting period, for each of the following periods: 

(i) not later than one year; 
(ii) later than one year and not later than five years; and 
(iii) later than five years. 

(b) unearned finance income. 
(c) the unguaranteed residual values accruing to the benefit of the lessor. 
(d) the accumulated allowance for uncollectable minimum lease payments receivable. 
(e) contingent rents recognised as income in the period. 
(f) a general description of the lessor’s significant leasing arrangements, including, for example, 

information about contingent rent, renewal or purchase options and escalation clauses, subleases, 
and restrictions imposed by lease arrangements. 

 
Disclosure requirements specified by 5th schedule to the Companies Act, 2017 
 
CA 2017 
5th Schd V(20)  Amount due to associated companies and related parties shall be disclosed separately. 
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        Reference 

    20X8  20X7    

  Note  Rupees  Rupees   

 20.  Long-term financing      
 11.41(e)  

         

 Secured        

 Loan from bank - ABC Bank Limited 20.1  xxx  xxx    

 Finance lease liabilities 20.4  xxx  xxx    

    xxx  xxx   

 Unsecured        

 Loans from related parties        

 Holding company 20.2  xxx  
                     

-    
 5th Schd 

V(20) 

 Associated company 20.3  xxx  - 
 5th Schd 

V(20) 

    xxx  xxx    

    xxx  xxx    

 
Less: Current portion of long term financing shown under 
current liabilities   xxx  xxx 

 
  

    xxx  xxx    

    

20.1  Loan from bank - ABC Bank Limited    

 The Company has obtained a loan from ABC Bank Limited. The loan is secured against first charge 
on freehold land and buildings (note 4.6), and pledge against inventory of the Company (note 
13.1). It is repayable in 40 installments on quarterly basis starting from January 21 20X7 and then 
on each mark-up payment date at a mark-up rate of three month KIBOR plus 2% per annum. The 
mark-up is payable on quarterly basis in arrear. The Company may not pay dividend until certain 
financial requirements under these facilities are satisfied. 

 11.42 

    

    

 
   

     

 20.2  Loan from a related party - Holding company    

 During the year, the Company has obtained a loan from the holding company. This loan is 
unsecured and repayable in 4 equal installments commencing from June 26, 20X9. The mark-up 
payable on quarterly basis in arrear is fixed at 6% per annum. 

 11.42 

 
   

    

20.3 Loan from a related party - Associated company   

   20X8  20X7   

  Note Rupees  Rupees   

        

 Undiscounted amount received  xxx  xxx   

 Less: Effect of discounting 30 (xxx)  (xxx)    

 Present value of interest free loan  xxx  xxx    

 Add: Unwinding of discount 33 xxx  xxx    

 Balance as at December 31  xxx  xxx    

        

 

This represents interest-free loan from Blue Land Company Limited, an associated company (due 
to common directorship), on March 22, 20x7. This loan is unsecured and repayable in full on June 
22, 2X22. Pursuant to the company’s accounting policy, this interest-free loan has been recognised 
at present value of the future outflow as per the agreed-upon loan repayment schedule (entire 
disbursed amount is due on June 22, 2x22). The present value is calculated by applying the discount 

 11.13, 
11.42 
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rate of xx% per annum, being the market interest rate prevalent for similar instruments as at date 
of receipt of loan. The difference between the present value of the loan and actual receipt has 
been recognised as finance income (refer to note 30). During the year, the unwinding of discount 
of Rs. xxx (20X7: Rs.xxx) has been recognised as part of finance costs.  

    

20.4 Finance lease liabilities   20X8  20X7    

   Note  (Rupees)  (Rupees)    

        
 

 
 20.13, 

20.14 

 
The minimum lease payments under finance leases  
fall due as follows:    

 
 

 
  

 within one year    xxx  xxx    

 later than one year but within five years   xxx  xxx    

 later than five years    xxx  xxx    

       xxx  xxx    

    

 
   

 
The Company entered into a finance lease agreement with Bank B in respect of motor vehicles.  
The rate of return used as the discounting factor is 5% (20X7: 4.8%) per annum. The lease rentals 
are payable in 60 semi-annual installments. Any delay in payments by the Company is subject to 
an additional payment of 2% per annum above normal return rate. The lease finance facility is 
secured over the assets to which they relate (note 4.5). 

 11.42 

    

    

    

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

- 
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                                                   21. Deferred tax liability                                                                          
 
Disclosure requirements in the IFRS for SMEs 
 
29.37 An entity shall offset current tax assets and current tax liabilities, or offset deferred tax assets and deferred 

tax liabilities if, and only if, it has a legally enforceable right to set off the amounts and the entity can 
demonstrate without undue cost or effort that it plans either to settle on a net basis or to realise the asset 
and settle the liability simultaneously. 

 
29.40(d)(e)(f)     An entity shall disclose the following separately: 

  
(d) an explanation of changes in the applicable tax rate(s) compared with the previous reporting 

period. 
 
(e) for each type of temporary difference and for each type of unused tax losses and tax credits: 
(i) the amount of deferred tax liabilities and deferred tax assets at the end of the reporting period; 

and 
(ii) an analysis of the change in deferred tax liabilities and deferred tax assets during the period. 
 
(f) the amount (and expiry date, if any) of deductible temporary differences, unused tax losses and 

unused tax credits for which no deferred tax asset is recognised in the statement of financial 
position. 

 

       
 Reference 

21. Deferred tax liability   29.37 

    

 The deferred tax assets and the deferred tax liabilities relate to income tax in the same jurisdiction, 
and the law allows net settlement. Therefore, they have been offset in the statement of financial 
position as follows: 

   

 
 

  

         
   

        Restated    

      20X8  20X7    

    Note  Rupees   Rupees    

 Deferred tax liability   xxx  xxx    

 Deferred tax asset   xxx  xxx    

      xxx  xxx    
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       Reference  

21.1  Analysis of change in deferred tax     29.40(e) 

         

 

 

Property, 
plant and 
equipment 

Long term 
employee 
benefits 

Provision for 
doubtful 

debts and 
receivables 

Unused tax 
losses 

Surplus on 
revaluation 
of property, 
plant and 
equipment 

   

    

    

    

  ................................... Rupees ..................................   

 January 01, 20X7 - Restated xxx xxx xxx xxx xxx    

 
Charge (credit) to profit or 
loss for the year xxx (xxx) (xxx) xxx xxx 

 
  

 

Charge (credit) to other 
comprehensive income for the 
year - - - - xxx 

 

  

 January 01, 20X8 - Restated xxx xxx xxx xxx xxx    

 
Charge (credit) to profit or 
loss for the year xxx xxx xxx xxx xxx 

 
  

 

Charge (credit) to other 
comprehensive income for the 
year - xxx - - xxx 

 

  

  xxx xxx xxx xxx xxx    

         

21.2  The total deferred tax asset for unused tax credits on December 31, 20X8 is Rs. xxx (20X7: Nil). Any 
unused tax credits will expire on December 31, 2X10. 

 29.40(f) 

    

 21.3  A change in the corporation income tax rate from 33% to 30% per cent was enacted on July 01, 20X8, 
effective from the same date. Deferred tax assets and liabilities on temporary differences are 
measured at 30%.  

 29.40(d) 
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                                                  22. Employee benefit obligations                                                                           
 
Disclosure requirements in the IFRS for SMEs 
 
 
28.41(e) An entity shall disclose the following information about defined benefit plans (except for any defined 

multi-employer benefit plans that are accounted for as a defined contribution plans in accordance with 
paragraph 28.11, for which the disclosures in paragraph 28.40 apply instead). If an entity has more than 
one defined benefit plan, these disclosures may be made in total, separately for each plan, or in such 
groupings as are considered to be the most useful: 

(e) a reconciliation of opening and closing balances of the defined benefit obligation showing separately 
benefits paid and all other changes; 

(f) a reconciliation of the opening and closing balances of the fair value of plan assets and of the opening 
and closing balances of any reimbursement right recognised as an asset, showing separately, if 
applicable: 

(i) contributions; 
(ii) benefits paid; and 
(iii) other changes in plan assets. 

(g) the total cost relating to defined benefit plans for the period, disclosing separately the amounts: 
(i) recognised in profit or loss as an expense; and 
(ii) included in the cost of an asset. 

(h) for each major class of plan assets, which shall include, but is not limited to, equity instruments, 
debt instruments, property, and all other assets, the percentage or amount that each major class 
constitutes of the fair value of the total plan assets at the reporting date; 

(i) the amounts included in the fair value of plan assets for: 
(i) each class of the entity’s own financial instruments; and 
(ii) any property occupied by, or other assets used by, the entity. 

(j) the actual return on plan assets; and 
(k) the principal actuarial assumptions used, including, when applicable: 

(i) the discount rates; 
(ii) the expected rates of return on any plan assets for the periods presented in the financial 

statements; 
(iii) the expected rates of salary increases; 
(iv) medical cost trend rates; and 
(v) any other material actuarial assumptions used. 

The reconciliations in (e) and (f) need not be presented for prior periods. A subsidiary that recognises 
and measures employee benefit expense on the basis of a reasonable allocation of the expense 
recognised for the group (see paragraph 28.38) shall, in its separate financial statements, describe its 
policy for making the allocation and shall make the disclosures in (a)–(k) for the plan as a whole. 

 
Disclosure requirements specified by 5th schedule to the Companies Act, 2017 

 

CA 2017 
5th Schd V(22)  In the case of provident fund, contributory pension fund or any other contributory retirement fund, 

maintained by the company a statement that, investments in collective investment schemes, listed 
equity and listed debt securities out of aforementioned funds have been made in accordance with 
the provisions of section 218 of the Act and the conditions specified thereunder;  

 

 

        Reference 

    20X8  20X7   

    Rupees  Rupees   

22. Employee benefit obligations       11.41(e) 

22.1  The amounts recognised in the statement of financial position are 
determined as follows: 

     

     

 Present value of the defined benefit obligation   xxx  xxx   

 Fair value of plan assets   (xxx)  (xxx)   

    xxx  xxx   
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    20X8  20X7  Reference 

    Rupees  Rupees   

22.2  The amounts recognised in the statement of profit or loss:       28.41(g) 

 Current service costs   xxx  xxx   

 Interest cost   xxx  xxx   

    (xxx)  (xxx)   

         

22.3  Changes in the present value of the defined benefit obligation are as follows  28.41(e) 

         

 Opening defined benefit obligation   xxx     

 Service cost   xxx     

 Interest cost   xxx     

 Actuarial losses (gains)   xxx     

 Losses (gains) on curtailments   xxx     

 Benefits paid   (xxx)     

    xxx     

     

 22.4 Changes in the fair value of plan assets of the defined benefit pension plans are as follows:  28.41(f) 

         

 Opening fair value of plan assets   xxx     

 Actual return on plan assets   xxx     

 Assets distributed on settlements   (xxx)     

 Contributions by employer   xxx     

 Benefits paid   (xxx)     

 Closing fair value of plan assets   xxx     

         

22.5 Principal actuarial assumptions at the end of the reporting period (expressed as weighted 
averages) are as follows: 

 28.41(k) 

     

 Discount rate at December 31, 20X8                xxx    

 Future salary increases                          xxx    

 Proportion of employees opting for early retirement                                            xxx    

 Inflation rate                                                                                                      xxx    

    

22.6  The major categories of plan assets as a percentage of total plan assets are as follows:  28.41(h) 

      

  20X8 20X7   

      

 Equity instruments 40% 36%   

 Property 50% 50%   

 Bank balance 10% 14%   

      

 22.7  Pension plan assets do not include any financial instruments issued by the Company or any 
buildings occupied by the Company.  

 
28.41(i) 

     

 22.8  The actual return on plan assets was Rs. xxxx.  28.41(j) 

     

 22.9  All investments in collective investment schemes, listed equity and listed debt securities out of 
aforementioned funds have been made in accordance with the provisions of section 218 of the 
Companies Act, 2017 and the conditions specified thereunder. 
 

 5th Schd 
V(22) 
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                                                           23. Provisions                                                                             
 
Disclosure requirements in the IFRS for SMEs 
 
4.11(e) An entity shall disclose, either in the statement of financial position or in the notes, the following sub-

classifications of the line items presented: 
(e) provisions for employee benefits and other provisions  

 
21.14 For each class of provision, an entity shall disclose all of the following: 

(a) a reconciliation showing: 
(i) the carrying amount at the beginning and end of the period; 
(ii) additions during the period, including adjustments that result from changes in measuring 

the discounted amount; 
(iii) amounts charged against the provision during the period; and 
(iv) unused amounts reversed during the period. 

(b) a brief description of the nature of the obligation and the expected amount and timing of any 
resulting payments; 

(c) an indication of the uncertainties about the amount or timing of those outflows; and 
(d) the amount of any expected reimbursement, stating the amount of any asset that has been recognised 

for that expected reimbursement. 
Comparative information for prior periods is not required. 

 
 

 

  
     

 
Reference 

23.  Provisions 
     

 
4.11(e) 

 
      Warranties Legal claims Total 

 
  

 
    Note  (Note 23.2) (Note 23.3)  

 
21.14(a) 

 
       ................... Rupees ................. 

 
 

         

 Provisions at the beginning of the year   xxx xxx xxx    

 Additions during the year   xxx xxx xxx    

 
Amount charged against provision during 

year   (xxx) - (xxx) 
 

  

 Unused amounts reversed   (xxx) - (xxx)    

 Net provision recognized in profit or loss 29 & 32  xxx xxx xxx   

 Provisions at the end of the year   xxx xxx xxx    

             

23.1 
Classification of provisions is as under:      

 
  

 Non-current    xxx xxx xxx    

 Current      xxx - xxx    

       xxx xxx xxx    

            

23.2 Warranties   

 The provision for warranties relates mainly to paper sold during 20x7 and 20x8. A provision is 
recognised for expected warranty claims on products sold based on past experience of the level of 
repairs and returns. It is expected that most of these costs will be incurred in the next year. 
Assumptions used to calculate the provision for warranties were based on current sales levels and 
current information available about returns based on the two-year warranty period for all products 
sold. The Company expects to incur the majority of the liability over the next year. 

 21.14(b) 
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   Reference  

23.2   Legal claims     

23.2.1  As previously reported, the Company is one of many co-defendants in litigation relating to products 
previously manufactured which contained red clay. Provision was assessed by management by 
reviewing individual claims and discussing the Company’s position with their legal advisers. The 
provision at the reporting date reflects the estimated expected costs of potential future judgments 
against the Company. The liability is inherently uncertain due to the existence or amount of 
individual claims being in dispute. The actual future costs could be materially higher or lower than 
this estimate, depending on the progress of the claims that are ongoing.  

 21.14(b) 

    

23.2.2  During the construction work on office building of the Company, the surrounding walls and car park 
of adjacent property owned by M/s Glass Property Company Limited were damaged. Based on the 
negotiations with M/s Glass Property Company Limited, the Company has agreed to repair the 
surrounding walls and car park. In this regard the Company has recognised a provision of Rs. xxx 
based on the estimated cost to be incurred on repairs. The work for repairs will be completed by 
June 20X9 and accordingly the liability against the provision will be paid off. The Company’s 
construction contractor responsible for the damage has agreed to reimburse Rs. xxx to the Company 
for the costs of repairing surrounding walls, however, the Company has not yet recognized any asset 
in this respect. 

 21.14(b)(d) 
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                                                    24. Trade and other payables                                                                         
 
Disclosure requirements specified by 5th schedule to the Companies Act, 2017 
 
CA 2017 
5th Schd V(21)    Following items shall be disclosed as separate line items:  

(i) Payable to provident fund, contributory pension fund or any other contributory retirement fund;  
(ii) Deposits, accrued liabilities and advances;  
(iii) Loans from banking companies and other financial institutions, other than related parties;  
(iv) Loans and advances from related parties including sponsors and directors along with purpose 
and utilization of amounts; and   
(v) Loans and advances shall be classified as secured and unsecured.  

 

 

        Reference 

    20X8  20X7   

     Note  Rupees   Rupees    

24. Trade and other payables       4.11(d) 

           

 Trade creditors     xxx  xxx    

 Deposits, accrued liabilities and advances   xxx  xxx 
 5th Schd 

V(21)(ii) 

 Accrued markup    xxx  xxx   

 Advances from customers - unsecured   xxx  xxx    

 Deferred income – government grants 24.3  xxx  xxx  24.6 (a) 

 Payable to employees’ provident fund 24.4  xxx  xxx 
 5th Schd 

V(21)(i) 

 Workers' profit participation Fund    xxx  xxx    

 Worker's welfare fund        

 General sales tax payable    xxx  xxx    

 Withholding tax    xxx  xxx    

 Other liabilities     xxx  xxx    

       xxx  xxx    

          
   

24.1 Trade and other payables due to the related parties       
   

       
  

 Trade creditors      xxx    xxx     

 Advances    24.1.1   xxx    xxx     

        xxx    xxx     

    
24.1.1 Advances represent, Rs. xxx and Rs. xxx payable to a director and the Holding company, 

respectively. These amounts relate to the expenditure incurred by the director and the holding 
company on the Company's behalf. 

 5th Schd 
V(21)(iv) 
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        Reference 

    20X8  20X7   

  Note  Rupees  Rupees   

24.2 Bifurcation of security deposits       
 5th Schd V(23)  

           

 Utilizable security deposits   24.2.1   xxx    xxx     

 Others    24.2.2   xxx    xxx     

        xxx    xxx     

    
24.2.1 During the year, the Company utilized Rs. xxx for the purpose of the business from the security 

deposit in accordance with requirements of written agreements, in terms of section 217 of 
the Companies Act, 2017. 

 

5th Schd V(23) 
    
24.2.2 This includes security deposit of Rs. xxx received from a contractor against construction of 

building, kept in separate bank account maintained for that purpose as required under Section 
217(2) of the Companies Act, 2017. It has not been utilized and kept intact. 

 5th Schd V(23) 
  

  

    

24.3 Deferred income – government grants    

    

 During the year, the Company received a grant of Rs. xxx from Mercury Grant Fund to acquire 
specialized robotic machine and prepare a feasibility study for the development of advanced 
ceramics manufacturing zone in the country.    
 
The Company has acquired the specialized robotic machine in accordance with the terms of 
the grant agreement. With the fulfilment of this specified condition the Company has 
recognised grant income of Rs. xxx during the year.  
 

However, the Company deferred the remaining grant of Rs. xxxx as it had not completed the 
required research on the development of advanced ceramics manufacturing zone, at the 
reporting date.  Subsequent to the year end, the Company completed this work and recognised 
the amount of Rs. xx as income in March 20X9. 

 24.6(a)(b) 

 

  
 
 
 
 
 
 

24.6(c) 

 

 

In November 20X8 management of the Company attended the exhibition in ME Land to promote 
the Company’s latest developed products. In order to promote overseas interest in the 
company's products, the local government provided free support to the management which 
involved helping the Company to promote its products to the attendees. No amount was 
recognised for this government assistance, as this form of assistance cannot reasonably have 
a value placed on it. 

 

 
    

24.4 Payable to employees’ provident fund   

  
 

 

All investments in collective investment schemes, listed equity and listed debt securities out 
of provident fund has been made in accordance with the provisions of section 218 of the 
Companies Act, 2017 and the conditions specified thereunder. 

  5th Schd 
V(22) 
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                                                25. Short term financing                                                      
 
Disclosure requirements in the IFRS for SMEs 

 

11.41(e) An entity shall disclose the carrying amounts of each of the following categories of financial assets and 
financial liabilities at the reporting date, in total, either in the statement of financial position or in the 
notes: 
(e) financial liabilities measured at amortised cost (paragraph 11.14(a)); 

 
Disclosure requirements specified by 5th schedule to the Companies Act, 2017 

 

CA 2017 
5th Schd V(21)   Following items shall be disclosed as separate line items:  

 
(iii) Loans from banking companies and other financial institutions, other than related parties;  
(iv) Loans and advances from related parties including sponsors and directors along with purpose and 

utilization of amounts; and   
(v) Loans and advances shall be classified as secured and unsecured. 

 

         Reference 

     20X8  20X7   

  Note  Rupees  Rupees   

25. Short-term financing      
  

 Secured        

 Current portion of long-term financing 20  xxx  xxx   

 Short-term running finance facilities from:       

 5th Schd 
V(12)(iii) 

 Bank A    25.1  xxx  xxx   

 Bank B    25.2  xxx  xxx   

     25.3  xxx  xxx   

       xxx  xxx   

            
25.1 This represents utilized amount of running finance facility with a sanctioned limit of Rs. xxx 

(20X7: Rs. xxx). The facility carries mark up at the rate of 3 months KIBOR + 1% per annum of 
the utilized amount, payable on quarterly basis. The facility is secured against investment of 
the Company in Term Deposit Receipts (TDRs). 

 11.42 
  

 
 

 
  

25.2 This represents utilized amount of running finance facility with a sanctioned limit of Rs. xxx 
arranged during the year by the Company. The facility carries mark up at the rate of 3 months 
KIBOR + 1% per annum of the utilized amount, payable on quarterly basis. The facility is secured 
against the Company's investment in Foreign Land Company Limited. 

 11.42 

   

   

           

25.3 The short-term running finance facilities have been availed for the working capital purposes, 
and the year end outstanding balance of Rs. xxx (2007: Rs. xxx) is included in cash and cash 
equivalents. 
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           Reference 

         Restated   

       20X8  20X7   

     Rupees  Rupees   

26. Current tax liability         
  

 
 

   
 

 

 
The current tax liability at the year represents net balance of: 

   
 

 

 
Provision for current income tax 

  xxx  xxx 
 

 

 Advance income tax 
  (xxx)  (xxx)   

       xxx  xxx   

 

                                           27. Contingencies and commitments                                                             
 

Disclosure requirements in the IFRS for SMEs 
 
 

21.15  Unless the possibility of any outflow of resources in settlement is remote, an entity shall disclose, for    each 
class of contingent liability at the reporting date, a brief description of the nature of the contingent liability 
and, when practicable: 

(a) an estimate of its financial effect, measured in accordance with paragraphs 21.7–21.11; 
(b) an indication of the uncertainties relating to the amount or timing of any outflow; and 
(c) the possibility of any reimbursement. 
If it is impracticable to make one or more of these disclosures, that fact shall be stated. 

 
17.32(b)  An entity shall also disclose the following: 
 (b) the amount of contractual commitments for the acquisition of property, plant and equipment; 
 
18.28    An entity shall also disclose: 

(d) the amount of contractual commitments for the acquisition of intangible assets. 
 
16.10(d)  An entity shall disclose the following for all investment property accounted for at fair value through   profit 

or loss (paragraph 16.7): 
(d) contractual obligations to purchase, construct or develop investment property or for repairs, 

maintenance or enhancements. 
 
20.16   A lessee shall make the following disclosures for operating leases: 

(a) the total of future minimum lease payments under non-cancellable operating leases for each of the 
following periods: 

(i) not later than one year; 
(ii) later than one year and not later than five years; and 
(iii) later than five years 

 
Disclosure requirements specified by 5th schedule to the Companies Act, 2017 
 
CA 2017 
5th Schd V(24)  In describing legal proceedings, under any court, agency or government authority, whether local or 

foreign,  include  name of the court, agency or authority in which the proceedings are pending, the 
date instituted, the principal parties thereto, a description of the factual basis of the proceeding 
and the relief sought 
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 Reference 

27. Contingencies and commitments   

    

27.1 Contingencies  21.15 

  
  

27.1.1 Customers claims against the Company not acknowledged as debts amounted to Rs. xxx at year 
end (20X7: Rs xxx) 

 
 

     

27.1.2 Description of legal proceedings 

 5th Schd 
V(24) 

  
  

 

Name of the 
court, agency or 

authority 

Description of the factual basis of 
the proceeding and relief sought 

Principal 
parties 

Date instituted  

 

  
  

 High Court  Disputed demands aggregating to Rs. 
xxx for income tax decided in favor 
of the Company by the Income Tax 
Appellate authorities are currently in 
appeal by the department. The 
management, based on opinion of its 
tax consultant believes that there is 
reasonable probability that the 
matter will be decided in favor of the 
Company. Pending the outcome of 
the matter, no provision has been 
made in these financial statements. 
 

Company and 
Federal Board 

of Revenue 

September 30, 
20X7 

  

    

 

  

 

  
  

 Civil Court  YaYa Limited has filed a petition 
against the company with the Civil 
Court, Green City on the plea that 
the Company has not provided the 
goods in accordance with the terms 
of the agreement resulting in 
business interruption. YaYa Limited 
has claimed damages amounting to 
Rs. xxx which have not been 
acknowledged by the Company. The 
management, based on opinion of its 
tax consultant believes that there is 
reasonable probability that the 
matter will be decided in favor of the 
Company. Pending the resolution of 
the matter stated above, no 
provision has been made in these 
financial statements. 
 
The tax authorities issued a show 
cause notice to recover sales tax 
amounting to Rs. xxx relating to 
years ended 20X2 & 20X3. In tax 
authorities view, the Company had 
claimed input tax in excess of what 
was allowed under the law. After 
dismissal of the Company’s appeal at 

Company and 
YaYa Limited 
(customer)  

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

Company and 
Federal Board 

of Revenue 

August 5, 20X6 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

June 26, 20X4 

  

   

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 
High Court 
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the CIR-A level, the Company filed 
appeal with the ATIR which also 
decided the case against the 
Company. Against the decision of 
ATIR, the Company filed appeal with 
IHC which is pending adjudication. 
The maximum exposure as at 
December 31, 20x8 including the 
principal amount, penalty and 
default surcharge is approximately 
Rs. xxx. However, the management 
and their tax advisor are of the 
opinion that the position of the 
Company is sound on technical basis 
and eventual outcome ought to be in 
favour of the Company. Pending the 
resolution of the matters stated 
above, no provision has been made in 
these financial statements. 

         

27.2 Commitments   20X8  20X7    

    Rupees   Rupees    

27.2.1 Commitments in respect of capital and revenue expenditures     
   

 Property, plant and equipment  xxx  xxx  17.32(b) 

 Intangible assets  xxx  xxx  18.28(d) 

 
Investment property – contractual obligations for future 
repairs and maintenance  xxx  xxx 

 
16.10(d) 

  xxx  xxx   

27.2.2 Guarantees issued by banks on behalf of the Company xxx  xxx    

     
   

27.2.3 Letters of credit issued by various banks on behalf of the 
Company in ordinary course of the business(outstanding at year 
end) 

   
   

 
xxx  xxx  

  

        

          
27.2.4 Operating lease commitments –  Company as lessee  20.16 

     

 The Company leases various outlets and warehouses under non-cancellable operating lease 
agreements. The lease terms are between five and 10 years. The majority of lease agreements 
are renewable at the end of the lease period at market rate. 

   

 
 

  

 
      

 
The future minimum lease payments under non-cancellable operating leases are as follows:    

  20X8  20X7   

  Rupees   Rupees    

       

 No later than 1 year xxx  xxx    

 Later than 1 year and no later than 5 years xxx  xxx    

 Later than 5 years xxx  xxx    

  xxx  xxx    
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                                                           28. Revenue                                                           
 
Disclosure requirements in the IFRS for SMEs 

 
21.30(b) An entity shall disclose: 

(b) the amount of each category of revenue recognised during the period, showing separately, at a 
minimum, revenue arising from: 

(i) the sale of goods; 
(ii) the rendering of services; 
(iii) interest; 
(iv) royalties; 
(v) dividends; 
(vi) commissions; 
(vii) government grants; and 
(viii) any other significant types of revenue. 

 
Disclosure requirements specified by 5th schedule to the Companies Act, 2017 
 
CA 2017 
5th Schd V(24)  Following items shall be disclosed as deduction from turnover as separate line items:  
    (i) trade discount; and  

   (ii) sales and other taxes directly attributed to sales. 

 

          Reference 

        Restated   

     
 20X8  20X7   

    
Note  Rupees  Rupees   

28. Revenue        
  

         
  

 Sale of goods   
 xxx  xxx  23.30(b)(i) 

 Rendering of services  
 xxx  xxx  23.30(b)(ii) 

     
 xxx  xxx   

 Less: Trade discount   
 (xxx)  (xxx)  5th Schd V(25)(i) 

         Sales Tax    
 (xxx)  (xxx)  5th Schd V(25)(ii) 

     
 (xxx)  (xxx)   

     
 xxx  xxx   
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                                                         29. Cost of sales                                                                   
 

Disclosure requirements in the IFRS for SMEs 
 

5.11 An entity shall present an analysis of expenses using a classification based on either the nature of expenses or 
the function of expenses within the entity, whichever provides information that is reliable and more relevant. 
 
Analysis by nature of expense (a) Under this method of classification, expenses are aggregated in the 
statement of comprehensive income according to their nature (for example, depreciation, purchases of 
materials, transport costs, employee benefits and advertising costs) and are not reallocated among various 
functions within the entity. 
 
Analysis by function of expense (b) Under this method of classification, expenses are aggregated according to 
their function as part of cost of sales or, for example, the costs of distribution or administrative activities. 
At a minimum, an entity discloses its cost of sales under this method separately from other expenses. 

 
13.22  An entity shall disclose the following: 

(c) the amount of inventories recognised as an expense during the period; 
 
20.16 A lessee shall make the following disclosures for operating leases: 

(b) lease payments recognised as an expense; 
 

27.32  An entity shall disclose the following for each class of assets indicated in paragraph 27.33: 
 

(a) the amount of impairment losses recognised in profit or loss during the period and the line item(s) in the 
statement of comprehensive income (and in the income statement, if presented) in which those 
impairment losses are included; and 

 
(b) the amount of reversals of impairment losses recognised in profit or loss during the period and the line 

item(s) in the statement of comprehensive income (and in the income statement, if presented) in which 
those impairment losses are reversed. 
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 Reference 

   
 20X8  20X7    

  Note  Rupees  Rupees    

29. Cost of sales      
  5.11 

         

 Salaries, wages and benefits  29.1  xxx  xxx    

 Cost of inventories consumed 13.1  xxx  xxx  13.22(c) 

 Provision for warranties  23  xxx  xxx   

 Operating lease rentals  
 xxx  xxx  20.16(b) 

 Repairs and maintenance  
 xxx  xxx   

 Allowance for inventory obsolescence 13.2  xxx  xxx   

 Utilities and communication  
 xxx  xxx   

 Depreciation of property, plant & equipment 4.10  xxx  xxx   

 Amortization of intangible assets 7.4  xxx  xxx   

 Insurance   xxx  xxx   

 Miscellaneous  
 xxx  xxx   

 Opening work in progress  
 xxx  xxx   

 Closing work in progress  
 (xxx)  (xxx)   

 Cost of goods manufactured  
 xxx  xxx   

 Opening stock of finished goods  
 xxx  xxx   

 Closing stock of finished goods  
 (xxx)  (xxx)   

   
 xxx  xxx    

     

29.1 This includes contributions to defined contribution plans of Rs. xxx (20X7: Rs. xxx) and expense 
recognized in respect of defined benefit pension fund of Rs. xxx (20X7: Rs. xxx). 

 

 28.40, 
28.41(g)(i) 
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                                                           30. Other income                                                     
 

Disclosure requirements in the IFRS for SMEs 
 
11.48(a)(i)  An entity shall disclose the following items of income, expense, gains or losses: 

(a) income, expense, gains or losses, including changes in fair value, recognised on: 
(i) financial assets measured at fair value through profit or loss; 

 
11.48(b)           Total interest income and total interest expense (calculated using the effective interest method) for 

financial assets or financial liabilities that are not measured at fair value through profit or loss; and 
 
14.13            For investments in associates accounted for by the cost model, an investor shall disclose the amount of 

dividends and other distributions recognised as income. 
 
23.30(b)         An entity shall disclose: 

(b) the amount of each category of revenue recognised during the period, showing separately, at a 
minimum, revenue arising from: 
(iii) interest; 
(v) dividends;  
(vii) government grants; and 
(viii) any other significant types of revenue. 

 
24.6  An entity shall disclose the following: 

(a) the nature and amounts of government grants recognised in the financial statements; 
(b) unfulfilled conditions and other contingencies attaching to government grants that have not been 

recognised in income; and 
(c) an indication of other forms of government assistance from which the entity has directly 

benefited. 
 
30.25(a)        An entity shall disclose the following: 

(a) the amount of exchange differences recognised in profit or loss during the period, except for 
those arising on financial instruments measured at fair value through profit or loss in accordance 
with Section 11 Basic Financial Instruments and Section 12; and 
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        Reference  

  
  20X8  20X7    

  Note  Rupees  Rupees   

30. Other income      
   

 Dividend income on investments 30.1  xxx  xxx 
 11.48(a)(1)

, 23.30(v) 

 Rental income   xxx  xxx  23.30(viii) 

 Effect of discounting of interest free loan 20.3  -  xxx  11.48(b) 

 Interest on Term Deposit Receipts   xxx  xxx  11.48(b) 

 Interest on long term loans and advances   xxx  xxx  11.48(b) 

 
Net unrealised gain on investment property carried at fair 
value  6  xxx  xxx 

   

 Net unrealised gain on investments carried at fair value    xxx  xxx  11.48(a)(i) 

 Insurance claim    xxx  -   

 
Gain/(loss) on disposal of property, plant and equipment 
and intangible assets   xxx  xxx 

   

 Net foreign exchange gains/ (losses) - trade related   xxx  xxx  30.25(a) 

 Government grants 24.3  xxx  xxx 
 24.6(a), 

23.30 (vii) 

 Bad trade receivables recovered   xxx  xxx  23.30(viii) 

    xxx  xxx    

         

30.1 This includes dividend amounting to Rs. xxx (20X7: xxx) received from Foreign Land Company, an 
associated company. 

 
14.13 
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                               31 & 32. Administrative, marketing and distribution expenses                                                         
 

Disclosure requirements in the IFRS for SMEs 
 

5.11 An entity shall present an analysis of expenses using a classification based on either the nature of expenses or 
the function of expenses within the entity, whichever provides information that is reliable and more relevant. 
Analysis by nature of expense (a) Under this method of classification, expenses are aggregated in the -
statement of comprehensive income according to their nature (for example, depreciation, purchases of 
materials, transport costs, employee benefits and advertising costs) and are not reallocated among various 
functions within the entity. 
Analysis by function of expense (b) Under this method of classification, expenses are aggregated according to 
their function as part of cost of sales or, for example, the costs of distribution or administrative activities. 
At a minimum, an entity discloses its cost of sales under this method separately from other expenses. 

 
11.48(c)  An entity shall disclose the following items of income, expense, gains or losses: 

(c) the amount of any impairment loss for each class of financial asset. 
 
18.29 An entity shall disclose the aggregate amount of research and development expenditure recognised as an 

expense during the period (ie the amount of expenditure incurred internally on research and development 
that has not been capitalised as part of the cost of another asset that meets the recognition criteria in this 
Standard). 

 
20.16(b)  A lessee shall make the following disclosures for operating leases: 

(b) lease payments recognised as an expense; 
 

28.40  An entity shall disclose the amount recognised in profit or loss as an expense for defined contribution   plans. 
 
Disclosure requirements specified by 5th schedule to the Companies Act, 2017 

 

CA 2017 
5th Schd V(26)  The aggregate amount of auditors’ remuneration, showing separately fees, expenses and other 

remuneration for services rendered as auditors and for services rendered in any other capacity and 
stating the nature of such other services. In the case of joint auditors, the aforesaid information 
shall be shown separately for each of the joint auditors; 

 
CA 2017 
5th Schd V(27)  In case, donation to a single party exceeds Rs. 500,000, name of donee(s) shall be disclosed and 

where any director or his spouse has interest in the donee(s), irrespective of the amount, names of 
such directors along with their interest shall be disclosed; 
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        Reference 

    20X8  20X7   

  Note  Rupees  Rupees   

31. Marketing and distribution expenses       5.11 

         

 Salaries, wages and benefits  31.1  xxx  xxx   

 Depreciation of property, plant and equipment 4.10  xxx  xxx   

 Sales promotion and advertising   xxx  xxx   

 Travelling and transportation   xxx  xxx   

    xxx  xxx   

         
  

31.1 This includes contributions to defined contribution plan of Rs. xxx (20X7: Rs. xxx) and expense 
recognized in respect of defined benefit pension fund of Rs. xxx (20X7: Rs. xxx). 

 

 28.40, 
28.41(g)(i) 

         

    20X8  20X7   

  Note  Rupees  Rupees   

32. Administrative and general expenses       5.11 

         

 Salaries, wages and benefits  32.1  xxx  xxx   

 Research and development expenditure   xxx  xxx  18.29 

 Depreciation of property, plant & equipment 4.10   xxx  xxx   

 Depreciation of investment property at cost  5.4  xxx  xxx   

 Amortization of intangible assets 7.4  xxx  xxx   

 Insurance   xxx  xxx   

 Utilities and communication   xxx  xxx   

 Impairment of trade, other receivables and advances   xxx  xxx  11.48(c) 

 Impairment of property, plant and equipment   xxx  xxx  27.32(a) 

 
Reversal of Impairment of property, plant and 
equipment   (xxx)  (xxx) 

 27.32(b) 

 Operating lease rentals   xxx  xxx  20.16(b) 

 Auditors’ remuneration 32.2  xxx  xxx   

 Donations 32.3  xxx  xxx   

 Provision for legal claims  23  xxx  xxx   

    xxx  xxx   

        
  

32.1 This includes contributions to defined contribution plan of Rs. xxx (20X7: Rs. xxx) and expense 
recognized in respect of defined benefit pension fund of Rs. xxx (20X7: Rs. xxx). 

 28.40, 
28.41(g)(i) 
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      Reference  

  
  20X8  20X7   

      Rupees  Rupees    

32.2 Auditors’ remuneration 
     

 5th Schd 
V(26) 

 Audit services          

 Annual audit fee    xxx  xxx    

 Out of pocket expenses   xxx  xxx    

      xxx  xxx    

 Non-audit services         

 Certifications for regulatory purposes   xxx  xxx    

 
Tax advisory 
services    xxx  xxx 

   

      xxx  xxx    

      xxx  xxx    

32.3 Donations  5th Schd V(27) 

     
32.3.1 Donation of Rs. xxxx was given to Hospital H, for its free medical treatment of residents of 

Soan Valley.  
   

32.3.2 Included in donation is Rs. xxx (20X7: Rs. xxx) donated to Naik NGO (a related party). The 
following directors interest in the NGO is limited to the extent of their involvement as 
directors. 

   

    

 Ms. Maryam Saeed     

 Ms. Amna Hussain    

         

    20X8  20X7   

    Rupees  Rupees   

33. Other operating expenses       5.11 

         

 Workers Profit Participation Fund    xxx  xxx   

 Workers Welfare Fund   xxx  xxx  18.29 

    xxx  xxx   

         

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 



 

Illustrative Financial Statements for MSEs 

94 

 

                                                           34. Finance cost                                                       
 

Disclosure requirements in the IFRS for SMEs 
 
11.48(b) Total interest income and total interest expense (calculated using the effective interest method) for financial 

assets or financial liabilities that are not measured at fair value through profit or loss; and 
 

 

          Reference 

        Restated    

     20X8  20X7    

    Note  Rupees  Rupees    

34. Finance costs       
 11.48(b) 

         

 Unwinding of discount on interest free loan 20.3  xxx  xxx   

 Mark-up on long term borrowings   xxx  xxx    

 Mark-up on short term borrowings   xxx  xxx    

 Lease finance charges 20.4  xxx  xxx    

 Bank charges     xxx  xxx    

     xxx  xxx    
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                                                           35. Income tax expense                                                       
 

Disclosure requirements in the IFRS for SMEs 
 
29.39 An entity shall disclose separately the major components of tax expense (income). Such components of tax 

expense (income) may include: 
(a) current tax expense (income); 
(b) any adjustments recognised in the period for current tax of prior periods; 
(c) the amount of deferred tax expense (income) relating to the origination and reversal of temporary 

differences; 
(d) the amount of deferred tax expense (income) relating to changes in tax rates or the imposition of 

new taxes; 
(e) the amount of the benefit arising from a previously unrecognised tax loss, tax credit or temporary 

difference of a prior period that is used to reduce tax expense; 
(f) adjustments to deferred tax expense (income) arising from a change in the tax status of the entity or 

its shareholders; 
(g) deferred tax expense (income) arising from the write-down, or reversal of a previous write-down, of 

a deferred tax asset in accordance with paragraph 29.31; and 
(h) the amount of tax expense (income) relating to those changes in accounting policies and errors that 

are included in profit or loss in accordance with Section 10 Accounting Policies, Estimates and Errors, 
because they cannot be accounted for retrospectively. 

 
29.40(a)(d)(c)      An entity shall disclose the following separately: 

(a) the aggregate current and deferred tax relating to items that are recognised as items of other 
comprehensive income. 

(c) an explanation of any significant differences between the tax expense (income) and accounting 
profit multiplied by the applicable tax rate. For example such differences may arise from 
transactions such as revenue that are exempt from taxation or expenses that are not 
deductible in determining taxable profit (tax loss). 

(d) an explanation of changes in the applicable tax rate(s) compared with the previous reporting 
period. 
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      Restated 
 Reference

  

    20X8  20X7    

  Note  Rupees  Rupees    

35. Income tax expense      
   

       
   

 Current tax   xxx  xxx    

 Deferred tax    xxx  xxx    

    xxx  xxx    

       
   

35.1 Major components of income tax expense are a under:      
 29.39  

       
   

 Current tax expense   xxx  xxx  29.39(a) 

 Adjustments recognised in period for current tax of prior 
periods   xxx  

            
-    

 
29.39(b) 

 
Amount of deferred tax expense relating to the origination 
and reversal of temporary differences   xxx  xxx 

 29.39(c) 

 
Amount of deferred tax expense (income) relating to 
changes in tax rates or imposition of new taxes   

              
-     

             
-    

 29.39(d) 

 The amount of the benefit arising from a previously 
unrecognised tax loss, tax credit or temporary difference of 
a prior period that is used to reduce tax expense 

  
   

 29.39(e) 

 
              

-     
             

-    
   

 
Adjustments to deferred tax expense arising from a change 
in the tax status of the entity or its shareholders 

                
-     

             
-    

 29.39(f) 

 

deferred tax expense (income) arising from the write-down, 
or reversal of a previous write-down, of a deferred tax 
asset   xxx  

             
-    

 29.39(g) 

 Amount of tax expense relating to:        

 Changes in accounting policies 3.25  xxx  xxx  29.39(h) 

 Correction of errors 3.26  xxx                   xxx 
 29.39(h) 

    xxx  xxx    

         

35.2 Income tax of the estimated assessable profit for the year is calculated at the enacted corporation 
tax rate of 30 % (20X7: 33 %). 

 29.40(d) 

  
   

35.3 Income tax expense for the year, Rs. xxx in 20X8 (Rs. xxx in 20X7), differs from the amount that 
would result from applying the tax rate of 32% and 33%, respectively, to profit before tax because, 
under the applicable tax laws some employee compensation expenses, provision for doubtful 
advances, debts and receivables (aggregating to Rs. xxxx in 20X8 and Rs. xxx in 20X7) that are 
recognised in measuring profit before tax are not tax-deductible. 

 29.40(c) 

    

    

   

    

35.4 The aggregate current and deferred tax relating to items that are recognised as items of other 
comprehensive income: 

 29.40(a) 

     

    20X8  20X7   

  Note  Rupees  Rupees   

 Revaluation surplus on property, plant and equipment 19  xxx  xxx    

 Actuarial loss on employee benefit obligations, net of tax 21  xxx  xxx    

    xxx  xxx    
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                       36. Remuneration of chief executive, directors and executives                                                     
 
Disclosure requirements in the IFRS for SMEs 
 
33.7 An entity shall disclose key management personnel compensation in total. 

 
Disclosure requirements specified by 5th schedule to the Companies Act, 2017 

 

CA 2017 
4th Schd IV(B)    “Executive" means an employee, other than the chief executive and directors, whose basic salary 

exceeds twelve hundred thousand rupees in a financial year; 
 

CA 2017 
5th Schd V(29)  Complete particulars of the aggregate amount charged by the company shall be disclosed separately 

for the directors, chief executive and executives together with the number of such directors and 
executives such as:  

 (i) fees;  
   (ii) managerial remuneration;  
   (iii) commission or bonus, indicating the nature thereof;   

(iv) reimbursable expenses which are in the nature of a perquisite or benefit;  
(v) pension, gratuities, company's contribution to provident, superannuation and other staff 

funds, compensation for loss of office and in connection with retirement from office;  
(vi) other perquisites and benefits in cash or in kind stating their nature and, where practicable, 

their approximate money values; and  
(vii) amount for any other services rendered 

 

 

   Reference 

36. Remuneration of chief executive, directors and executives   5th Schd 
V(29) 

  20X8 20X7    

  

Chief 
Executive 

 

Directors 
 

Executives Chief 
Executive 

Directors Executives   

  …….…….…….…….…….Rupees…….…….…….…….…….…….   

 
Managerial 
remuneration xxx xxx xxx xxx xxx xxx 

   

 

Company’s 
contribution to the 
Provident fund xxx 

             
-    xxx xxx 

              
-    xxx 

   

 Fees 

             
-    xxx 

                
-    

                        
-    xxx 

             
-    

   

 Bonus xxx 
             

-    xxx xxx 
              

-    xxx 
   

 Housing and utilities xxx - xxx xxx - xxx    

  xxx xxx xxx xxx xxx xxx    

 

Number of persons 
(including those who 
worked part of the 
year) 

 
 
 

1 4 228 1 4 210 

   

    

 

Chief Executive, Chief financial officer, General Manager Marketing and General Manager 
Operations are provided with the Company’s maintained cars. The approximate value of this 
benefit is Rs. xxx (20X7: Rs. xxx).  

 5th Schd 
V(29) (vi) 
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                                                 37. Financial Instruments                                                   
 

Disclosure requirements in the IFRS for SMEs 
 
11.41 An entity shall disclose the carrying amounts of each of the following categories of financial assets and financial 

liabilities at the reporting date, in total, either in the statement of financial position or in the notes: 
(a) financial assets measured at fair value through profit or loss (paragraph 11.14(c)(i) and paragraphs 

12.8 and 12.9); 
(b) financial assets that are debt instruments measured at amortised cost (paragraph 11.14(a)); 
(c) financial assets that are equity instruments measured at cost less impairment (paragraph 11.14(c)(ii) 

and paragraphs 12.8 and 12.9); 
(d) financial liabilities measured at fair value through profit or loss (paragraphs 12.8 and 12.9); 
(e) financial liabilities measured at amortised cost (paragraph 11.14(a)); and 
(f) loan commitments measured at cost less impairment (paragraph 11.14(b)). 

 

     
 Reference  

37. Financial instruments      

  

Fair value through 
profit or loss 

Amortized cost Total  11.41 

  20X8 
  

20X7 20X8 20X7 20X8 
  

20X7 
   

   .............................. (Rupees) .....................................    

 Financial assets       
   

 Long term investments xxx xxx xxx xxx xxx xxx    

 Long term loans and advances              -                 -    xxx xxx xxx xxx    

 Long term deposits              -                 -    xxx xxx xxx xxx    

 Short term advances - - xxx xxx xxx xxx   

 Trade and other receivables              -                 -    xxx xxx xxx xxx    

 Cash and bank balances              -                 -    xxx xxx xxx xxx    

  xxx 
  

xxx 
 

xxx  xxx xxx xxx 
   

 Financial liabilities       
   

 Long term financing              -                 -    xxx xxx xxx xxx   

 Trade and other payables              -                 -    xxx xxx xxx xxx    

 Short-term financing              -                 -    xxx xxx xxx xxx    

 Provisions              -                 -    xxx xxx xxx xxx    

 Unpaid dividend              -                 -    xxx xxx xxx xxx    

 Unclaimed dividend              -                 -    xxx xxx xxx xxx    

  xxx 
  

xxx xxx xxx xxx xxx 
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                                              38. Number of employees                                                         
 
Disclosure requirements specified by 5th schedule to the Companies Act, 2017 

 

5th Schd V(1)(iii) General information about the company comprising the following:  
 

(iii) Number of persons employed as on the date of financial statements and average number of 

employees during the year, separately disclosing factory employees 

 

      Reference 

  20X8  20X7   

  Number  Number   

38. Number of employees    
 5th Schd 

V(1)(iii) 

       

 Total employees of the Company at the year end xxx  xxx    

 Average employees of the Company during the year xxx  xxx    

     
   

 Employees working in the Company’s factory at the year end xxx  xxx    

 Average employees working in Company’s factory during the year  xxx  xxx    

 

                                              39. Plant capacity and production                                                    
 
Disclosure requirements specified by 5th schedule to the Companies Act, 2017 

 

5th Schd V(1)(ii) General information about the company comprising the following:  
(ii) The capacity of an industrial unit, actual production and the reasons for shortfall; 

 

        Reference 

    20X8  20X7   

 
39. Plant capacity and production 

    

   

 5th Schd 
V(1)(ii) 

         
   

 Installed capacity     xxx   xxx     

         
   

 Actual production     xxx   xxx     

         
   

39.1 Difference is due to the supply demand situation in the market.    
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                                               40. Related party transactions                                              
 

Disclosure requirements in the IFRS for SMEs 
 
33.7 An entity shall disclose key management personnel compensation in total. 
 
33.9 If an entity has related party transactions, it shall disclose the nature of the related party relationship as well 

as information about the transactions, outstanding balances and commitments necessary for an understanding 
of the potential effect of the relationship on the financial statements. Those disclosure requirements are in 
addition to the requirements in paragraph 33.7 to disclose key management personnel compensation. At a 
minimum, disclosures shall include: 
(a) the amount of the transactions; 
(b) the amount of outstanding balances and: 

(i) their terms and conditions, including whether they are secured and the nature of the consideration 
to be provided in settlement; and 

(ii) details of any guarantees given or received. 
(c) provisions for uncollectable receivables related to the amount of outstanding balances; and 
(d) the expense recognised during the period in respect of bad or doubtful debts due from related parties. 
Such transactions could include purchases, sales or transfers of goods or services; leases; guarantees; and 
settlements by the entity on behalf of the related party or vice versa. 

 
33.10 An entity shall make the disclosures required by paragraph 33.9 separately for each of the following categories: 

(a) entities with control, joint control or significant influence over the entity; 
(b) entities over which the entity has control, joint control or significant influence; 
(c) key management personnel of the entity or its parent (in the aggregate); and 
(d) other related parties. 

 
33.11  An entity is exempt from the disclosure requirements of paragraph 33.9 in relation to: 

 (a) a state (a national, regional or local government) that has control, joint control or significant influence 
over the reporting entity; and 

 (b) another entity that is a related party because the same state has control, joint control or significant 
influence over both the reporting entity and the other entity. 
However, the entity must still disclose a parent-subsidiary relationship as required by paragraph 33.5. 

 
33.12  The following are examples of transactions that shall be disclosed if they are 

 with a related party: 
 (a) purchases or sales of goods (finished or unfinished); 
 (b) purchases or sales of property and other assets; 
 (c) rendering or receiving of services; 
 (d) leases; 
 (e) transfers of research and development; 
 (f) transfers under licence agreements; 
 (g) transfers under finance arrangements (including loans and equity 

contributions in cash or in kind); 
 (h) provision of guarantees or collateral; 
 (i) settlement of liabilities on behalf of the entity or by the entity on behalf 

of another party; and 
 (j) participation by a parent or subsidiary in a defined benefit plan that 

shares risks between group entities. 
 

33.13  An entity shall not state that related party transactions were made on terms equivalent to those that prevail in 
arm’s length transactions unless such terms can be substantiated. 

 
33.14 An entity may disclose items of a similar nature in the aggregate except when separate disclosure is necessary 

for an understanding of the effects of related party transactions on the financial statements of the entity. 
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Disclosure requirements specified by 5th schedule to the Companies Act, 2017 
 
CA 2017 
5th Schd V(1)(v)  General information about the company comprising the following:  

(v) Names of associated companies or related parties or undertakings, with whom the company 
had entered into transactions or had agreements and / or arrangements in place during the 
financial year, along with the basis of relationship describing common directorship and 
percentage of shareholding; 

 

  
 Reference 

40. Related party transactions   

    

 

Related parties comprise associated companies, companies where directors also hold 
directorship, retirement benefits fund and key management personnel. Significant transactions 
with related parties during the year are as under: 

 33.9, 5th Schd 
V 1(iv) 

    

 

Name of the related 
party 

Relationship and 
percentage 
shareholding 

Transactions 
during the year 
and year end 
balances 

20X8 
(Rupees) 

 

20X7 
(Rupees) 

 

  

      
  

 
Unlisted Heavenly 
Company Limited 

Holding company 

holds 100% (20X7: 
100%) share capital  

Loan provided  xxx   xxx  
 33.10, 33.9 

(a) 

  Loan received  xxx   xxx    

   Markup paid  xxx   xxx    

   Shares issued  xxx               -      

   Dividend paid  xxx               -      

   

Expenses 
incurred  xxx   xxx  

  

   

Amount due at 
the year end  xxx   xxx  

 33.9(b) 

      
  

 Ms. Amna Hussain Director Loan provided xxx xxx  33.9(a) 

   Markup earned xxx xxx   

   

Amount due at 
the year end xxx xxx 

 33.9(b) 

      
  

 
Pak Land Company 
Limited 

Associated company 

by virtue of common 
directorship 

Loan provided xxx xxx 
 

33.9(a) 

  

Expenses 
incurred on 
behalf xxx xxx 

 33.9(a) 

   Interest income xxx xxx  33.9(a) 

   Sale of goods xxx xxx  33.9(a) 

   Debts written off xxx xxx  33.9(c) 

   

Provision for 
doubtful debts xxx xxx 

 
 

33.9(d) 

   

Amount due at 
the year end xxx xxx 

 33.9(b) 
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Pak Zameen Company 
Limited   

Associated company 
by virtue of common 
directorship 

Loan provided xxx xxx 

 33.9(a) 

   Interest income xxx xxx  33.9(a) 

   
Amount due at 
the year end 

xxx xxx 
 33.9(b) 

      
  

 
Blue Land Company 
Limited 

Associated company 
by virtue of common 
directorship 

Loan received 
xxx xxx 

 33.9(a) 

   Interest expense xxx xxx  33.9(a) 

   Interest income xxx xxx  33.9(a) 

  
 

Amount due at 
the year end xxx xxx 

 33.9(b) 

      
  

 

Foreign Land Company 
Limited  

Associated company 

by holding 25% 
(20X7:25%) share 
capital 

Loan provided xxx xxx 

  
33.9(a) 

 
  

Dividend income xxx xxx 
  

33.9(a) 

   Interest income xxx xxx  33.9(a) 

   Sale of goods xxx xxx  33.9(a) 

   

Amount due at 
the year end 

xxx xxx 
  

33.9(b) 

      
  

 JCE (Private) Limited 
Jointly controlled 
entity 

Dividend income xxx xxx 
 33.9(a) 

      
  

 NGO 

Associated company 

by virtue of common 
directorship 

Donations xxx xxx 
 33.9(a) 

      
  

 

Board of Directors 
(executive and non-
executive), all members 
of Company’s 
Management Team 

Key management  
Total 
compensation 

xxx xxx 

 33.7, 33.10(c) 

        

 
Staff retirement benefit 
plan - Provident fund 

Other related party 
Contributions by 
the Company 

xxx xxx 
 33.10(d) 
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                                                       41. Corresponding figures                                                   
 

Disclosure requirements in the IFRS for SMEs 
 
3.12 When the presentation or classification of items in the financial statements is changed, an entity shall reclassify 

comparative amounts unless the reclassification is impracticable. When comparative amounts are reclassified, 
an entity shall disclose the following: 

(a) the nature of the reclassification; 
(b) the amount of each item or class of items that is reclassified; and 

(c) the reason for the reclassification. 
 

 

              
 Reference 

41. Corresponding figures         
   

    

 The preparation and presentation of these financial statements for the year ended December 
31, 20X8 is in accordance with requirements in Companies Act, 2017. The fifth schedule to the 
Companies Act, 2017 has introduced certain presentation and classification requirements for the 
elements of financial statements. Accordingly, the corresponding figures have been rearranged 
and reclassified, wherever considered necessary, to comply with the requirements of Companies 
Act, 2017. Following major reclassifications have been made during the year: 

 3.12 

  

 
 

 
 

                
   

 
Description  Reclassified from  Reclassified to  20X7 

Balance  
  

         (Rupees)     

 

 
Unpaid dividend 

 

 
Trade and other 
payables 

 

 
Unpaid Dividend 
(presented on face of 
statement of financial 
position)  

 
xxx 

   

 

 
Unclaimed dividend 

 

 
Trade and other 
payables 

 

 
Unclaimed dividend 
(presented on face of 
statement of financial 
position)  

 
xxx 
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                                                 42.  Events after reporting period                                                    
 

Disclosure requirements in the IFRS for SMEs 
 
32.10 An entity shall disclose the following for each category of non-adjusting event after the end of the reporting 

period: 
(a) the nature of the event; and 
(b) an estimate of its financial effect or a statement that such an estimate cannot be made. 

 

          Reference 

42. Events after the end of the reporting date       

   

42.1 On February 5, 20X9 the officer's block was seriously damaged by fire. Insurance claims have 
been put in hand but the cost of refurbishment is currently expected to exceed these by Rs. 
xxx. 

32.10 

   

                  

42.2 On March 10, 20X9 the directors voted to declare a dividend of Rs. xx per share. Because the 
obligation arose in 20X9, a liability is not shown in the statement of financial position at 
December 31, 20X8. 

32.10 

   

             
   

  

 

                                           43. Authorisation of financial statements                                                   
 

Disclosure requirements in the IFRS for SMEs 
 

 

32.9 An entity shall disclose the date when the financial statements were authorised for issue and who gave that 
authorisation. If the entity’s owners or others have the power to amend the financial statements after issue, 
the entity shall disclose that fact. 

 

  
Reference   

43. Authorisation for issue   
  

   

 
These financial statements were approved by the Company’s board of directors and authorised 
for issue on March 01, 20X9. 

32.9 

             
   

  

             
   

  

 
Chief Executive 

           

  

        
Director 
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Alternative Disclosures 

This section presents alternative methods of presentation and disclosures allowed under IFRS for SMEs for 
certain areas: 

1.  Analysis of expenses in the statement of comprehensive income 

                                                   1. Analysis of expenses                                                                                                      
 

Disclosure requirements in the IFRS for SMEs 
 

5.11 An entity shall present an analysis of expenses using a classification based on either the nature of expenses 
or the function of expenses within the entity, whichever provides information that is reliable and more 
relevant. 
 
Analysis by nature of expense (a) Under this method of classification, expenses are aggregated in the 
statement of comprehensive income according to their nature (for example, depreciation, purchases of 
materials, transport costs, employee benefits and advertising costs) and are not reallocated among various 
functions within the entity. 

 
Analysis by function of expense (b) Under this method of classification, expenses are aggregated according 
to their function as part of cost of sales or, for example, the costs of distribution or administrative activities. 
At a minimum, an entity discloses its cost of sales under this method separately from other expenses. 

 

 

a.  Analysis of expenses by nature 

In the illustrative, disclosures for analysis of operating expenses is presented by function. Alternatively, operating 
expenses may be classified by nature of expenses. Extracts from the financial statements with this alternative method 
of presentation would be as follows: 
 
  Statement of profit or loss (Extracts)   20X8  20X7  3.23(c) 
 Note  Rupees  Rupees  3.23(d) & 3.23(e) 
        
        
Revenue    xxx  xxx  5.5(a) 
Other income    xxx  xxx   
        

Changes in inventories of finished goods and work in 
progress   (xxx)  (xxx) 

 
5.11(a) 

Raw materials and consumables used   (xxx)  (xxx)  5.11(a) 
Salaries, wages and benefits   (xxx)  (xxx)  5.11(a) 
Research and development expenditure   (xxx)  (xxx)  5.11(a) 
Depreciation and amortization expense   (xxx)  (xxx)  5.11(a) 
Other expenses   (xxx)  (xxx)  5.11(a) 

Total expenses   (xxx)  (xxx)   

Profit before tax   xxx  xxx   
Income tax expense   (xxx)  (xxx)   

Profit for the year   xxx  xxx   
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b.  Analysis of expenses by function 

In the illustrative, disclosures for analysis of operating expenses is presented by function into cost of sales, 
administrative expenses and distribution and marketing expenses. Alternatively, in line with the minimum 
presentation requirements of paragraph 5.11(b), operating expenses may be classified by function into only two 
classifications i.e., cost sales and administrative general and marketing expenses. Extracts from the financial 
statements with this alternative method of presentation would be as follows: 
 
 
       References 
Statement of profit or loss (Extracts)   20X8  20X7  3.23(c) 

 Note  Rupees  Rupees 
 3.23(d) & 

3.23(e) 
        
        
Revenue  27  xxx  xxx  5.5(a) 
Cost of sales  28  (xxx)  (xxx)  5.11(b) 
Gross profit   xxx  xxx  5.9 
Administrative, general and marketing expenses 29  (xxx)  (xxx)  5.9 
Other income 30  xxx  xxx  5.9 

 
 

        Reference 

    20X8  20X7   

  Note  Rupees  Rupees  5.11 

29. Administrative, general and marketing expenses         

         

 

Included in the administrative, general and marketing 
expenses of Rs. xxxx (20X7: Rs. xxx) are the following 
significant items:      

  

         

 Salaries, wages and benefits  30.1  xxx  xxx  28.40 

 Research and development expenditure   xxx  xxx  18.29 

 Depreciation 
4.10 
& 5.4  xxx  xxx 

  

 Amortization   xxx  xxx   

 Impairment of trade, other receivables and advances   xxx  xxx  11.48(c) 

 Impairment of property, plant and equipment   xxx  xxx   

 
Reversal of Impairment of property, plant and 
equipment   xxx  xxx 

 20.16(b) 

 Operating lease rentals   xxx  xxx   

 Auditors’ remuneration 30.2  xxx  xxx   

 Donations 30.3  xxx  xxx   

 Provision for legal claims  23  xxx  xxx   

 Sales promotion and advertising   xxx  xxx   

 Travelling and transportation   xxx  xxx   

    xxx  xxx   
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2. Donations (Other operating expenses) 

                                                2. Donations (Other operating expenses)                                                        
 

 
Disclosure requirements specified by 5th schedule to the Companies Act, 2017 

 
CA 2017 
5th Schd V(27)  In case, donation to a single party exceeds Rs. 500,000, name of donee(s) shall be disclosed and 

where any director or his spouse has interest in the donee(s), irrespective of the amount, names 
of such directors along with their interest shall be disclosed; 

 

 
 

In the illustrative it has been assumed that, the directors are interested in the donee. In case, donation is paid 
to an organisation in which none of the directors have any interest, the relevant disclosure would be as follows: 

 
 

Notes to the financial statements (Extracts)      Reference 

           

 Donations did not include any amount paid to any person or organization in which a director 
or his/her spouse had any interest. 

 5th Schd V(27) 

   

        

 

3. Key accounting estimates and judgments (Accounting Policies) 

                                            3. Key accounting estimates and judgements                                                   
 

 

Sources of estimation uncertainty may vary from year to year. It is expected that companies will reassess whether 
disclosures made in a previous year remain relevant, to avoid accumulating clutter in accounts. The following 
example illustrates the outcome of such an exercise. 

 
 

  Notes to the financial statements (Extracts)      Reference 

          

 
During the year, management reassessed the critical estimates and critical judgements and 
resolved that the following were no longer considered critical. 

   

    

 

Provision for trade receivables 
 

  

 The level of provision for doubtful debts has decreased significantly from previous years and hence 
is no longer a critical estimate as the range of possible outcomes resulting from various 
assumptions applied by management are now not considered material. This was previously 
considered a critical estimate due to the higher than normal trade receivables balances in 20X6. 

 8.7 
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4. Investment in associate and joint venture 

                 4. Investment in associate and jointly controlled entities                                                
 

Disclosure requirements in the IFRS for SMEs 
 

14.4 An investor shall account for all of its investments in associates using one of the following: 

(a) the cost model; 

(b) the equity method; or 

(c) the fair value model. 

 
In the illustrative, disclosures for investment in associate and jointly controlled entity are based on the 
assumption that the company has adopted cost model under paragraph 14.4 as its accounting policy. Alternatively, 
a company may elect to account for its investments in associate and jointly controlled entity using fair value 
model or investment in associate or jointly controlled entity under equity method.  
 
Extracts from the financial statements with an alternative method, under which an associate is accounted for 
under equity method is presented below would be as follows: 

 
 
 

Statement of profit or loss (Extracts)   20X8  20X7  Reference 

 Note  Rupees  Rupees 
 3.23(d) & 

3.23(e) 
        
        
Share of profit of associates   xxx  xxx  5.5(c) 
Profit before tax   xxx  xxx   
Income tax expense 32  (xxx)  (xxx)  5.5(d) 
Profit for the year    xxx  xxx  5.5(f) 
        

 
Statement of comprehensive income (extracts)     Reference 
 20X8  20X7  3.23(c) 

 Rupees  Rupees 
 3.23(d) & 

3.2s3(e) 

Profit for the year xxx  xxx 
 

5.7 

Other comprehensive income:    
 5.7, 5.5(g)-

(i) 
Items that will not be subsequently reclassified in profit or loss:     5.5(g) 

Revaluation of property, plant and equipment xxx  xxx  5.4(b)(iv) 
Actuarial loss or gains on employee benefit obligations, net of tax xxx  xxx  5.4(b)(ii) 

 xxx  xxx   

Share of associate's other comprehensive income xxx  xxx 
 

5.5(h) 
      

Total comprehensive income for the year xxx  xxx  5.5(i) 

   
 

Notes to the financial statements (Extracts)   
Summary of significant accounting policies   

  
    
Investment in associates   

    
Investments in associates are accounted for using equity method of accounting. Under the equity 
method of accounting, the investments are initially recognised at cost and adjusted thereafter to 

 14.4(b) 
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recognise the group’s share of the post-acquisition profits or losses of the investee in profit or loss, 
and the group’s share of movements in other comprehensive income of the investee in other 
comprehensive income. Dividends received or receivable from associates are recognised as a reduction 
in the carrying amount of the investment.  
 
When the group’s share of losses in an associate accounted for under equity method equals or exceeds 
its interest in the associate, including any other unsecured long-term receivables, the group does not 
recognise further losses, unless it has incurred obligations or made payments on behalf of the other 
entity. 

 

    20X8  20X7   
  Note  (Rupees)  (Rupees)   

         
8. Investment in associates       14.12 

         
 Carrying amount at January 1   xxx  xxx   
 Investment made during the year   xxx  xxx   
 Share of profit/(loss) of associates   xxx  xxx  14.14 
 Share of other comprehensive income/(loss)   xxx  xxx   
 Dividend income   xxx  xxx   

 Carrying amount at December 31   xxx  xxx  14.12(b) 

         
 The Company owns 25% shares of Foreign Land Company which is incorporated in Foreign Land 

and listed on Bullish Stock Exchange. Its registered office is situated at 123, ABC Road, Foreign 
Land. The Chief Executive Officer of the Company is Mr. PQE.  

 5th Schd 
V(2)  

         

 
The short term running finance facility of Rs. xxx (20X7: Rs. xxx) obtained from Bank B is secured 
against the shares of Foreign Land Company Limited.  

 
11.46 

    

 
The fair value of the investment in Foreign Land Company based on published price quotation is 
Rs. xxx. 

 
14.12(c) 

    
 The investments in associated companies have been made in accordance with the requirements 

of the Companies Act, 2017. 
 5th Schd 

V(11) 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 



 

Illustrative Financial Statements for MSEs 

110 

 

Specialized Activities 

This section covers the presentation and disclosure requirements of Section 34 of the IFRS for SMEs, “Specialised 
Activities”. The presentation and disclosures related to these areas are provided separately in this section as these 
are not considered to be relevant to the operations of MSE Pakistan Limited. Further, this section excludes the 
presentation and disclosure requirements pertaining to “Service Concession Agreements” as the Small and Medium 
Sized Entities are not generally expected to be involved in such arrangements. 
 

A. Agriculture 

                                                           Agriculture                                                            
 
Disclosure requirements in the IFRS for SMEs 
 
Fair value model 
 
34.7  An entity shall disclose the following with respect to its biological assets measured at fair value: 

(a) a description of each class of its biological assets. 
(b) the methods and significant assumptions applied in determining the fair value of each category of 

agricultural produce at the point of harvest and each category of biological assets. 
(c) a reconciliation of changes in the carrying amount of biological assets between the beginning and 

the end of the current period. The reconciliation shall include: 
(i) the gain or loss arising from changes in fair value less costs to sell; 
(ii) increases resulting from purchases; 
(iii) decreases resulting from harvest; 
(iv) increases resulting from business combinations; 
(v) net exchange differences arising on the translation of financial statements into a 

different presentation currency and on the translation of a foreign operation into 
the presentation currency of the reporting entity; and 

(vi) other changes. 
               This reconciliation need not be presented for prior periods. 
 

Cost model 
 
34.10 An entity shall disclose the following with respect to its biological assets measured using the cost model: 

(a) a description of each class of its biological assets; 
(b) an explanation of why fair value cannot be measured reliably without undue cost or effort; 
(c) the depreciation method used; 
(d) the useful lives or the depreciation rates used; and 
(e) the gross carrying amount and the accumulated depreciation (aggregated with accumulated 

impairment losses) at the beginning and end of the period. 
 
 

 

 Statement of financial position (Extracts)   20X8  20X7  Reference 

    Note  Rupees  Rupees    

 Non-current assets        

 Biological assets-cost model   xxx  xxx  4.2(i) 

 Biological assets-fair value model   xxx  xxx  4.2(j) 

 Current assets        

 Biological assets-cost model   xxx  xxx  4.2(i) 

 Biological assets-fair value model   xxx  xxx  4.2(j) 
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 Notes to the financial statements (Extracts)      Reference 

           

 Significant accounting policies:      8.4 & 8.5 

 

 
For fair value model: 
 
The Company uses fair value model for its biological assets for those biological assets for which 
fair value is readily determinable without undue cost or effort. The Company measures a 
biological asset on initial recognition and at each reporting date at its fair value less cost to 
sell. Changes in fair value less cost to sell is recognized in profit or loss.  
 
For cost model: 
 
Biological assets are carried at cost less accumulated depreciation and any accumulated 
impairment losses, as the fair value of these biological assets cannot be reliably determined 
without undue cost or effort due to the inexistence of an active market, the lack of reliable 
evidence about comparable market transactions and the limited availability of historical data 
about the biological assets. Cost represents the historic cost of acquisition. 

  

        

 Biological assets – at cost model       

 

 
Biological assets comprise apple and mango orchards. The fair value of these biological assets 
cannot be reliably determined without undue cost or effort due to the inexistence of an active 
market, the lack of reliable evidence about comparable market transactions and the limited 
availability of historical data about the biological assets. 
 
Depreciation of these biological assets is calculated using straight line method over its 
estimated useful life of: 

- Apple orchard: 100 years 
- Mango orchard: 80 years 

The residual values, useful lives and depreciation method of the group’s biological assets are 
reviewed and adjusted if appropriate, if there is any indication of a change since last reporting 
date. 

  
34.7(a), 

34.10(a)(b) 
 
 
 

34.10(c)(d) 

    20X8  20X7   

  Note  Rupees  Rupees   

 Cost   xxx  xxx   

 Accumulated depreciation   (xxx)  (xxx)   

 Accumulated impairment loss   (xxx)  (xxx)   

 Carrying amount   xxx  xxx   

         

 Biological assets – at fair value model       

 

 
Biological assets comprise rubber trees planted over 200 acres of land and livestock comprising 
1000 sheep. The fair values of these biological assets are determined as follows: 
 
Rubber Trees: 
The valuation model considers the present value of the net cash flows expected to be 
generated by the plantation. The cash flow projections include specific estimates for [x] years. 
The expected net cash flows are discounted using a risk adjusted discount rate of x %. 
 
Livestock: 
The fair values are based on the market price of livestock of similar age, weight and market  
values. 

  
34.7(a)(b) 
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 Reconciliation of carrying amount   20X8  20X7  34.7(c) 

  Note  Rupees  Rupees   

 Carrying amount as at January 1   xxx  xxx  34.7(c) 

 
Gain or loss arising from changes in fair value less costs 
to sell   xxx  (xxx) 

 34.7(c)(i) 

 Decreases resulting from harvest   (xxx)  (xxx)  34.7(c)(iii) 

 Exchange differences – net   xxx  xxx  34.7(c)(v) 

 Increases resulting from business combinations   xxx  xxx  34.7(c)(iv) 

 Carrying amount as at December 31   xxx  xxx   
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B. Exploration for and evaluation of mineral resources 

 
                               Exploration for and evaluation of mineral resources                                                            

 
Disclosure requirements in the IFRS for SMEs 
 

34.11  An entity using this Standard that is engaged in the exploration for, or evaluation of, mineral resources  shall 
determine an accounting policy that specifies which expenditures are recognised as exploration and evaluation 
assets in accordance with paragraph 10.4 and apply the policy consistently. An entity is exempt from applying 
paragraph 10.5 to its accounting policies for the recognition and measurement of exploration and evaluation 
assets. 

 
34.11B Exploration and evaluation assets shall be measured on initial recognition at cost. After initial recognition, 

an entity shall apply Section 17 Property, Plant and Equipment and Section 18 Intangible Assets other than 
Goodwill to the exploration and evaluation assets according to the nature of the assets acquired subject to 
paragraphs 34.11D–34.11F. If an entity has an obligation to dismantle or remove an item, or to restore the 
site, such obligations and costs are accounted for in accordance with Section 17 and Section 21 Provisions 
and Contingencies 

 
17.31 An entity shall disclose the following for each class of property, plant and equipment determined in 

accordance with paragraph 4.11(a) and separately for investment property carried at cost less accumulated 
depreciation and impairment:  

(a) the measurement bases used for determining the gross carrying amount;                                  
(b) the depreciation methods used; 
(c) the useful lives or the depreciation rates used;  
(d) the gross carrying amount and the accumulated depreciation (aggregated with accumulated 

impairment losses) at the beginning and end of the reporting period; and 
(e) a reconciliation of the carrying amount at the beginning and end of the reporting period showing 

separately: 
   (i) additions;  

(ii) disposals; 
(iii) acquisitions through business combinations; 
(iv) increases or decreases resulting from revaluations under paragraphs 17.15B–17.15D and 

from impairment losses recognised or reversed in other comprehensive income in 
accordance with Section 27; 

(v) transfers to and from investment property carried at fair value through profit or loss (see 
paragraph 16.8); 

(vi) impairment losses recognised or reversed in profit or loss in accordance with Section 27; 
(vii) depreciation; and  
(viii) other changes.  

This reconciliation need not be presented for prior periods 
 

17.32 An entity shall also disclose the following: 
(a) the existence and carrying amounts of property, plant and equipment to which the entity has 

restricted title or that is pledged as security for liabilities; 
(b) the amount of contractual commitments for the acquisition of property, plant and equipment; and 
(c) if an entity has investment property whose fair value cannot be measured reliably without undue 

cost or effort it shall disclose that fact and the reasons why fair value measurement would 
involve undue cost or effort for those items of investment property. 

  
17.33 If items of property, plant and equipment are stated at revalued amounts, an entity shall disclose the 

following: 
(a) the effective date of the revaluation; 
(b) whether an independent valuer was involved; 
(c) the methods and significant assumptions applied in estimating the items’ fair values; 
(d) for each revalued class of property, plant and equipment, the carrying amount that would have 
been recognised had the assets been carried under the cost model; and 
(e) the revaluation surplus, indicating the change for the period and any restrictions on the 
distribution of the balance to shareholders. 
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34.11C Exploration and evaluation assets shall be assessed for impairment when facts and circumstances suggest 

that the carrying amount of an exploration and evaluation asset may exceed its recoverable amount. An 
entity shall measure, present and disclose any resulting impairment loss in accordance with Section 27 
Impairment of Assets, except as provided by paragraph 34.11F. 

 
27.32(b) An entity shall disclose the following for each class of assets indicated in paragraph 27.33: (b) the amount 

of reversals of impairment losses recognised in profit or loss during the period and the line item(s) in the 
statement of comprehensive income (and in the income statement, if presented) in which those 
impairment losses are reversed. 

 

 
 

Notes to the financial statements (Extracts)      Reference 

           

Significant accounting policies       

       

Exploration and evaluation assets 
 
Oil and natural gas exploration and evaluation expenditures are accounted for using the ‘successful 
efforts’ method of accounting.  
 
Costs are accumulated on a field-by-field basis. Geological and geophysical costs are expensed as 
incurred. Costs directly associated with an exploration well, and exploration and property leasehold 
acquisition costs, are capitalised until the determination of reserves is evaluated. If it is determined 
that commercial discovery has not been achieved, these costs are charged to expense. Capitalisation 
is made within property, plant and equipment or intangible assets according to the nature of the 
expenditure. Once commercial reserves are found, exploration and evaluation assets are tested for 
impairment and transferred to development tangible and intangible assets. No depreciation and/or 
amortisation is charged during the exploration and evaluation phase. 
 
Exploration and evaluation assets are tested for impairment when reclassified to development tangible 
or intangible assets, or whenever facts and circumstances indicate impairment. An impairment loss is 
recognised for the amount by which the exploration and evaluation assets’ carrying amount exceeds 
their recoverable amount. The recoverable amount is the higher of the exploration and evaluation 
assets’ fair value less costs to sell and their value in use. 
 
Development and production assets 
 
Development and production assets are accumulated on a field by field basis and represent the cost 
of developing the discovered commercial reserves and bringing them into production, together with 
the capitalized E&E expenditures incurred in finding commercial reserves transferred from intangible 
E&E assets as outlined in accounting policy on E & E assets (explained above). The cost of development 
and production assets also includes the cost of acquisition of such assets, directly attributable 
overheads, and the cost of recognizing provisions for future site restoration and decommissioning.  
 
Expenditure carried within each field is amortized from the commencement of production on a unit 
of production basis, which is the ratio of oil and gas production in the year to the estimated quantities 
of proved developed reserves at the end of the year plus the production during the year, on a field by 
field basis. Changes in the estimates of commercial reserves or future field development costs are 
dealt with prospectively. Amortization is charged to profit and loss account.  
 
Decommissioning cost  
 
The activities of the Company normally give rise to obligations for site restoration. Restoration 
activities may include facility decommissioning and dismantling, removal or treatment of waste 
materials, land rehabilitation, and site restoration. 
 

 34.11 



 

Illustrative Financial Statements for MSEs 

115 

 

The company recognizes a provision for facility decommissioning and dismantling, removal or 
treatment of waste materials, land rehabilitation, and site restoration. when a reliable estimate of 
that liability can be made. The Company makes provision in full for the decommissioning cost on the 
declaration of commercial discovery of the reserves, to fulfill the obligation of site restoration and 
rehabilitation. Where an obligation exists for a new facility, such as oil and natural gas production or 
transportation facilities, this will be on construction or installation. An obligation for decommissioning 
may also crystallize during the period of operation of a facility through a change in legislation or 
through a decision to terminate operations. The amount recognized is the estimated cost of 
decommissioning, discounted to its net present value and the expected outflow of economic resources 
to settle this obligation is up to next twenty-five years. Decommissioning cost, as appropriate, relating 
to producing/shut-in fields and production facilities is capitalized to the cost of development and 
production assets and property, plant and equipment as the case may be. The recognized amount of 
decommissioning cost is subsequently amortized/ depreciated as part of the capital cost of the 
development and production assets and property, plant and equipment.  
 
While the provision is based on the best estimate of future costs and the economic life of the facilities 
and property, plant and equipment there is uncertainty regarding both the amount and timing of 
incurring these costs. Any change in the present value of the estimated expenditure is dealt with 
prospectively and reflected as an adjustment to the provision and a corresponding adjustment to 
property, plant and equipment and development and production assets. The unwinding of the discount 
on the decommissioning provision is recognized as finance cost in the profit and loss account.  

 
Impairment of oil and gas assets  
 
E&E assets are assessed for impairment when facts and circumstances indicate that carrying amount 
may exceed the recoverable amount of E&E assets. Such indicators include, the point at which a 
determination is made that as to whether or not commercial reserves exist, the period for which the 
Company has right to explore has expired or will expire in the near future and is not expected to be 
renewed, substantive expenditure on further exploration and evaluation activities is not planned or 
budgeted and any other event that may give rise to indication that E&E assets are impaired.  
 
Impairment test of development and production assets is also performed whenever events and 
circumstances arising during the development and production phase indicate that carrying amount of 
the development and production assets may exceed its recoverable amount. Such circumstances 
depend on the interaction of a number of variables, such as the recoverable quantities of 
hydrocarbons, the production profile of the hydrocarbons, the cost of the development of the 
infrastructure necessary to recover the hydrocarbons, the production costs, the contractual duration 
of the production field and the net selling price of the hydrocarbons produced.  
 
The carrying value is compared against expected recoverable amount of the oil and gas assets, 
generally by reference to the future net cash flows expected to be derived from such assets. The cash 
generating unit applied for impairment test purpose is generally field by field basis, except that a 
number of fields may be grouped as a single cash generating unit where the cash flows of each field 
are inter dependent.  

 
Where conditions giving rise to impairment subsequently reverse, the effect of the impairment charge 
is also reversed as a credit to the profit and loss account, net of any depreciation that would have 
been charged since the impairment. 

 

  

 

 

 
 

  



 

Illustrative Financial Statements for MSEs 

116 

 

Notes to the financial statements (Extracts)    Reference 

 
Statement of Financial Position    

  

 
Development and production assets     

 

   20X8   

 
 Rupees  

 

Cost  xxx   

Accumulated depreciation and impairment -   

Carrying amount at January 1, 20X8 xxx  17.31(d) 
 
Additions xxx  17.31(e)(i) 
Transfers from exploration and evaluation assets xxx   
Transfer in / out during the year (from wells in progress) 
Amortization charge for the year -   
Impairment 

xxx  
17.31(e)(iv), 

27.32 
Reversal of impairment 

               -  
17.31(e)(iv), 

27.32 
Revision due to change in estimate xxx   

Carrying amount at December 31, 20X8 xxx  17.31(d) 

 
Carrying amount at December 31, 20X8 represents:    
Cost  xxx  17.31(d) 
Accumulated depreciation and impairment xxx  17.31(d) 

         xxx   

    
  

Included in the carrying amount as at December 31, 20X8 are wells in progress amounting to Rs. 
xxxx (2007: Rs. xxx).  

 

     

Exploration and evaluation assets      

   20X8   

 
 Rupees  

 

Carrying amount at January 1, 20X8 xxx  17.31(d) 
Additions during the year xxx  17.31(e)(i) 
Cost of dry and abandoned wells during the year - charged to profit or loss (xxx)  17.31(e)(viii) 
Cost of wells transferred to development and production assets during the year (xxx)  17.31(e)(viii) 
Stores held for exploration and evaluation assets xxx  17.31(e)(viii) 

Carrying amount at December 31, 20X8 xxx   

    
Provision for decommissioning    
    

Carrying amount at January 1, 20X8 xxx  21.14(a)(i) 
Provision during the year xxx  21.14(a)(ii) 
Revision due to change in estimates (xxx)  21.14(a)(iv) 
Unwinding of discount on provision for decommissioning cost xxx  21.14(a)(ii) 

Carrying amount at December 31, 20X8 xxx   

    
Significant assumptions used were: xx   
Discount rate per annum xx   
Inflation rate per annum xx   
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 Notes to the financial statements (Extracts)   20X8  20X7  Reference 

    Note  Rupees  Rupees    

 Statement of Profit or Loss        

         

 Exploration and evaluation expenditure        

         

 Cost of dry and abandoned wells   xxx  xxx   

 Prospecting expenditure   xxx  xxx   

    xxx  xxx   

 Finance costs        

         

 
Unwinding of discount on provision for decommissioning 
cost   xxx  xxx 

  

         

 Statement of Cash Flows        

         

 
Included in adjustments in cash flows from operating 
activities:      

  

 Amortization of development and production assets   xxx  xxx  7.8(b) 

 
Un-winding of discount on provision for 
decommissioning cost   xxx  xxx 

 7.8(b) 

    xxx  xxx   

         

 Cash flows from investing activities        

         

 Capital expenditure on oil and gas assets   xxx  xxx  7.5(a) 

         

 


